The Role of Policy and Education Reforms in Economic Development: Microeconometric Analyses for Latin America

INAUGURALDISSERTATION

zur Erlangung der Würde eines Doktors der Wirtschaftswissenschaft (doctor rerum oeconomicarum) an der Schumpeter School of Business and Economics der Bergischen Universität Wuppertal

Dissertation

vorgelegt von Mireille Kozhaya, M.Sc. aus Beirut Wuppertal, im November 2022

Acknowledgments

This dissertation would not have been possible without the support and motivation of my advisors, colleagues, family, and friends.

First, I would like to thank my supervisor, Kerstin Schneider, for her encouragement, academic advice, and comments on each chapter in this dissertation. I also thank my second supervisor Werner Bönte for providing helpful comments. I would like to express my deepest thanks for my colleague and friend, Fernanda Martínez Flores, for teaching me how to work independently, always being there for me, and for co-authoring two chapters of this dissertation. Special thanks for Franz Westermaier for his insights and valuable feedback on each chapter.

I would like to thank further Christian Bredemeier for his valuable guidance and comments. Many thanks to Hans Frambach, working with you is my pleasure. During my work at the University of Wuppertal, I have gained a lot of experience by giving lectures, attending doctoral seminars, internal paper reading sessions, and lively discussions with different colleagues at the chair. I am grateful to have shared my office with Anna Makles. Thank you Anna for the nice environment at work and for having a sympathetic ear.

In addition, I would also like to thank the modest group of friends here in Germany. Thank you for making me feel home. A big thanks for Elfi and Horst Jentsch for being my family in Germany and for being the nicest grandparents to my children and jumping in to support me with my work whenever needed.

My biggest thanks goes to my parents, Elias and Viviane, without you none of this would have been possible. Thank you for believing in me and supporting me to finish the dissertation. Mom thank you for all the cooking, cleaning, and taking care of the children while I was writing my dissertation. Dad thank you for making sure that I go to school, because of you I am proud of the woman I am today. Many thanks also for the support and encouragement of my brother David and my sisters Carla and Mandy. Finally, I could not have completed this dissertation without the support and patience of my husband Elie and my children John Paul, Matthias, and Elena who provided a happy distraction to rest my mind away from my research.

Contents

Acknowledgments			ii	
Li	List of Tables			
List of Figures				
1	Intr	oduction	1	
2	Chil	d Labor Bans, Employment, and School Attendance	11	
	2.1	Introduction	12	
	2.2	Background	19	
		2.2.1 Child Labor Regulation Pre-2015 and Statistics	19	
		2.2.2 Constitutional Amendment and Labor Law Reform	21	
	2.3	Identification Strategy	23	
	2.4	Data and Descriptive Statistics	28	
		2.4.1 Descriptive Analysis	31	
	2.5	Results	32	
		2.5.1 Baseline Results	32	
		2.5.2 Constitutional Amendment vs. Labor Law Reform	37	
		2.5.3 Long-Run Results	39	
		2.5.4 Heterogeneous Effects	41	
		2.5.5 Robustness Checks	48	
	2.6	Conclusion	50	
	App	pendix Chapter 2	53	
3	Sch	ool Attendance and Child Labor	66	
	3.1	Introduction	67	
	3.2	Background	72	
		3.2.1 Education and Child Labor in Mexico	72	
		3.2.2 The Full-Time School Program	73	
	3.3	Data and Descriptive Statistics	76	
		3.3.1 Data	76	
		3.3.2 The Roll-out of the FTS	81	
	3.4	Identification Strategy	86	
	3.5	Results	90	

		3.5.1	Baseline Results	90
			3.5.1.1 Schooling and Child Labor	90
			3.5.1.2 Market and Domestic Work	93
			3.5.1.3 Impacts by Year: Individual and Municipality Level	96
		3.5.2	Heterogeneous Effects	98
		3.5.3	Robustness Tests	103
		3.5.4	Mechanisms	109
	3.6	Conclu	nsion	114
	App	endix C	Chapter 3 .	117
4	The	Double	e Burden	128
	4.1	Introd	uction	129
	4.2	Backg	round	136
		4.2.1	Composition of the Labor Market and Statistics	136
		4.2.2	School Closure in Mexico	138
	4.3	Data a	and Descriptive Statistics	139
		4.3.1	Data	139
		4.3.2	Descriptive Statistics	140
	4.4	Identif	ication Strategy	144
	4.5	Result	S	148
		4.5.1	Baseline Results	148
		4.5.2	Heterogeneous Results	154
			4.5.2.1 Employment Characteristics	155
			4.5.2.2 Household Characteristics	156
		4.5.3	Mechanisms for Single Mothers and Informal Child Care	160
		4.5.4	Robustness Check	162
	4.6	Conclu	ision	166
	App	endix C	Chapter 4 .	170
5	Con	clusion		181
Bi	Bibliography			

iii

List of Tables

2.1	Pre-Ban Descriptive Statistics	30
2.2	Effect of Labor Law Reform in 2015 on School Enrollment and Employment	33
2.3	Effect of Ban in 2015 on School Enrollment and Employment: Individual fixed	
	effects Approach	35
2.4	Effect of the Child Labor Ban: Placebo, Constitution Amendment, and Labor	
	Law Reform	37
2.5	Effect of Ban in 2015 by Gender	42
2.6	Effect of Ban in 2015: Formal, Paid Employment, and Sector	43
2.7	Effect of Ban in 2015 on Child Labor: Conditional on being Employed	44
2.8	Effect of the Labor Law Reform in 2015 on School Enrollment and Labor	
	Outcomes: Continuous Treatment	47
2.9	Effect of Ban in 2015 for Older Siblings	48
2.10	Effect of the Child Labor Ban: Placebo, Constitution Amendment, and Labor	
	Law Reform - Two Cohort Definition	49
A1	Summary of Treatment and Control Groups	55
A2	Post-Ban Descriptive Statistics	56
A3	Effect of Child Labor Ban on Total Hours Worked and on Conditional Hours	
	Worked	57
A4	Effect of Child Labor Ban on Total Hours Worked and on Conditional Hours	
	Worked for the Year 2015	58
A5	Effect of Ban in 2015 on Child Labor: Alternative Std. Error Clustering	58
A6	Effect of the Labor Law Reform in 2015 on School Enrollment and Labor	
	Outcomes: Excluding State-Trends	59
A7	Descriptive Statistics Pre-Ban: Working Children Banned – Compliers and	
	Non-Compliers	60
A8	Effect of the Child Labor Ban: Placebo, Constitution Amendment, and Labor	
	Law Reform - Two Cohorts (Born between July and December)	61
A9	Pre-Ban Descriptive Statistics by Gender: Conditional on Working	62
A10	Pre-Ban Descriptive Statistics: Working vs. Non-Working Children	63
A11	Post-Ban Descriptive Statistics: Working vs. Non-Working Children	64
A12	Post-Ban Descriptive Statistics for 2018 and 2019	65
3.1	Descriptive Statistics	80
3.2	Effect of FTS Program on School Enrollment	92
3.3	Effect of FTS Program on Child Labor	94

3.4	Effect of FTS Program on Market and Domestic Work	95
3.5	Effect of FTS Program by Gender	99
3.6	Heterogeneous Effects of the FTS Program on Child Labor	101
3.7	Effect of the Share of FTS on Child Labor: Alternative Specifications	104
3.8	Effect of FTS Program on Household Members: Child Aged 7-14 Lives in the	
	Household	112
3.A1	Pre-National FTS Roll-Out Descriptive Statistics	121
3.A2	Marginalization Indicators by FTS Intensity of Implementation	122
3.A3	Child Labor Rate and Implementation of the FTS Program	122
3.A4	Effect of FTS Program using Non-Linear Models	123
3.A5	First-Stage Results	123
3.A6	Effect of the Share of FTS on Child Labor: Robustness	124
3.A7	Effect of FTS Program Controlling for the Share of Eight-Hour Schools	125
3.A8	Effects of FTS Program on Mothers' LFP: Grandparent Living in HH	126
3.A9	Effect of FTS Program on Household Members: No Child Aged 7-14 Lives in	
	the Household	127
4.1	Descriptive Statistics: Pre-School Closure of Women with Children	143
4.2	Effect of School Closure on Labor Force Participation, Employment, Hours	
	Worked, and Conditional Hours Worked	149
4.3	Effect of School Closure on Labor Outcomes: The Individual Fixed Effects	
	Approach	151
4.4	Effect of School Closure on Domestic Work, Hours Caring for HH Members,	
	or on HH Chores	152
4.5	Effect of School Closure on Formal, Paid Employment, and Sector	156
4.6	Heterogeneous: Effect of School Closure on Labor Outcomes	161
4.7	Robustness: Placebo for the Effect of School Closure on Labor Outcomes	163
4.8	Robustness: Alternative Control Groups	164
4.9	Robustness: Group Trends and Different Age Groups	165
4.A1	Summary of Treatment and Control Groups	174
4.A2	Descriptive Statistics: Post-School Closure Women with Children	175
4.A3	Descriptive Statistics: Pre-School Closure for Women with Children vs. Women	
	with no Children	176
4.A4	Effect of School Closure on the Labor Force Participation of Women with	
	Children	177
4.A5	Effect of School Closure on Domestic Work Conditional on Working or not	
	Working	178
4.A6	Effect of School Closure According to Sector: Individual F.E.	178
4.A7	Robustness: Placebo for the Effect of School Closure on Labor Outcomes	179
4.A8	Robustness: Different Age Range and Survey Years	180

List of Figures

Ι	Proportion of Children in Child Labor	3
2.1	Parallel Trends by Treatment and Control Group	31
2.2	Impact of Ban by Year - Long Run	40
2.3	Impact of Ban by Year - Long Run: Placebo Ban in 2013	41
2.4	Heterogeneous Impacts of the Child Labor Ban	45
2.A1	Impact of Ban by Year: Two-Cohort Definition	53
2.A2	Compliers vs Non-Compliers: HH Income and Secondary Completion	54
3.1	Schooling and Market Work by Age Group	73
3.2	Program Rollout: Share of FTS by Municipality and School Year	82
3.3	Schooling and Market Work by Tercile	84
3.4	Effect of the Share of FTS by Year: Individual Level Estimates	97
3.5	Effect of the Share of FTS by Year: Municipality Level Estimates	98
3.6	Event Study: Impact of FTS Program on Schooling and Child Labor	105
3.7	Event Study by Tercile: The Impact of FTS Program on Schooling and Child	
	Labor	106
3.A1	Marginalization Degree by Municipality	117
3.A2	Marginal Effects: State Level Budget and Share of Eligible Schools on Predicted	
	Share of FTS	118
3.A3	Event Study: Impact of FTS Program on Schooling and Child Labor	119
3.A4	Effect of FTS Program on LFP of Mothers by Income Quintile and Education	
	Level	120
4.1	Labor Force Participation and Hours Worked of Women According to Survey	
	Year	141
4.2	Event Study: Impact of School Closure on Labor Outcomes of Women with	
	Children by Quarter Survey Year	154
4.3	Labor Force Participation of Women with Children by Income Quantile,	
	Poverty Level, Education Level, and Locality Size	157
4.4	Labor Force Participation and Hours Worked of Women with Children by Age	
	Differences of those Women	159
4.A1	Labor Force Participation of Men by Survey Year	170
4.A2	Event Study: Impact of School Closure by Survey Year	171

4.A3	Weekly Hours Worked of Women with Children by Income Quantile, Poverty	
	Level, Education Level, and Locality Size	172
4.A4	Labor Force Participation of Women According to Education Level $\ . \ . \ .$	173

1 Introduction

In developing countries, poverty is considered as the main trigger of child labor especially in low income countries because it drives families to push their children to work when they face financial challenges or uncertainties (Edmonds and Pavcnik, 2005). The main poverty reduction strategies have mostly focused on improving human capital accumulation and increasing the labor force participation of vulnerable groups, in particular, by focusing on women and the youth. From 2000 to 2017, the number of people living in extreme poverty, that is, those who live on \$1.9 or less a day, has fallen from 1.7 billion to 689 million (The World Bank, 2019). Simultaneously, child labor rates have declined by 94 million from 2000 to 2016 (ILO, 2017). Despite the improvement in child labor rates, this remains a problem. The ILO global estimates in 2020 show that 160 million children aged 5 to 17 years, out of which 63 million are girls and 97 million are boys, are still in child labor. As for the labor force participation of women, despite the commitments made to improve women's chances in the labor market, their labor force participation has been declining from 51% in 2000 to to 48% in 2017 (The World Bank, 2022a).

Unfortunately, the goal to end poverty has been interrupted by the COVID-19 pandemic (Coronavirus disease). This might push around 8.9 million children into child labor by the year 2022 (ILO, 2020a) because of the measures taken to deal with this disease, such as school closures. Moreover, due to lack of childcare support systems during the pandemic and the fact that women work mostly in the informal and services sector, the sectors mostly

affected by the COVID-19 pandemic (ILO, 2022a), the labor force participation of those women decreased further to 46% in 2020 (The World Bank, 2022a).

Many international organizations, like the United Nations (UN), United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), and the International Labor Organization (ILO), have been trying to find effective policy measures to combat poverty; for example, through the implementation of Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) to help guide the work of those institutions. Therefore, policies such as reducing poverty by educating children, raising public awareness, providing support services for working children, and inducing proper legislation and regulation for work have been implemented to eradicate child labor and to increase the labor force participation of women (ECLAC and International Labor Organization ILO, 2019).

Figure I shows the percentage of individuals in child labor in Latin America and the Caribbean, Asia and the Pacific, and Sub-Saharan Africa. Child labor is defined as work that deprives children from their childhood and is harmful for their mental and physical development (ILO, 2022).

As Figure I shows, child labor is decreasing through the years. By focusing on Sub-Saharan Africa, the figure shows that this region witnessed an increase in child labor rate since 2012. Yet, focusing on both Asia and the Pacific and on Latin America and the Caribbean, Figure I indicates that from 2008 to 2020, child labor rates have been decreasing. More precisely, in Sub-Saharan Africa, child labor rate in 2008 is almost the same as in 2020, 25.3% and 23.9%. In Latin America, child labor rate has decreased from almost 10% in 2008 to 6% in 2020, and in Asia and the pacific the decrease is from 13.3% in 2008 to almost 5.6% in 2020. This raises the question of which policies and regulations implemented to combat child labor have been the most effective. Policies to regulate or forbid child labor usually tackle the problem directly by establishing concrete bans such as introducing the minimum



Figure I: PROPORTION OF CHILDREN IN CHILD LABOR Source: Author's analysis using data from ILO 2020 global estimates (ILO, 2020a). Notes: - The figure illustrates the percentage of children in child labor by developing region according to the ILO 2020 global estimates. Data for other regions prior to the year 2016 are not available to be able to compare the regions.

working age (ILO, 2017), or indirectly by fostering school attendance and enrollment such as increasing the instruction time at school (UNESCO, 2015).

Therefore in this dissertation I focus on three important aspects on the role of policy and education reforms that led to the reduction in child labor rates through out the years and improved the labor force participation of women, for Latin America, taking the country Mexico in particular. First, I focus on evaluating the impact of a policy that targeted at increasing school enrollment and decreasing child labor rates both directly and indirectly. Second, I evaluate the importance of schooling coverage not only to decrease child labor, but also to increase the labor force participation of women with young children. Third, I examine the impacts in the context of the economics crises of the COVID-19 pandemic and the extent to which school closures affected the labor force participation of women with young children. Despite the improvements done in Mexico in school enrollment and child labor rates, 11% (3.2 million) of children aged 5 to 17 years old still engage in child labor. 6.4% of those children were involved in market work that is under the minimum age regulation, 4% performed domestic work in unsuitable conditions, and 0.7% combined both market and domestic work (INEE, 2018a). And despite the increase in the labor force participation of women in Mexico over the past 15 years, in 2019 45% of women compared to 78.5% of men are in the labor force (The World Bank, 2022b). Therefore, in spite of the improvements and the policy measures implemented a lot of work is still to be done to achieve the SDG goals.

This dissertation contributes to previous studies focusing on the impacts of direct and indirect child labor regulation. Direct regulation most commonly refers to employment bans that set a minimum working age for the admission of children to work at 15 (ILO, 2018). Studies have found that child labor bans are used to reduce poverty and alleviate child labor (Piza and Souza, 2017; Del Rey *et al.*, 2018). Therefore, most of the countries have now implemented labor laws that prohibit children under the age of 15 to work and regulate the work of those children until they reach 18 (Edmonds and Shrestha, 2012; ILO, 2018). If properly enforced those bans can change the age distribution and type of work children are doing (Edmonds, 2014). However, it is still not clear whether such bans will actually lead to the reduction of child labor. If poor families rely on child labor to obtain income and avoid hunger, introducing a child labor ban would not be effective (Basu, 1999). This would cause poor families to go below their subsistence level.

The empirical literature for developing countries on child labor shows that by implementing a child labor ban only in certain sectors, simply shifts children to work in other sectors or shifts work to slightly older children. This implies that well-intended regulations, if not implemented successfully, could easily backfire (Bharadwaj *et al.*, 2020). On the other hand, recent studies find that child labor bans decrease child labor, the decrease is mainly driven by boys (Piza and Souza, 2017). Others argue, that child labor bans have a small impact

on child labor because the law was not enforced properly (Moehling, 1999). Therefore, a child labor ban becomes efficient when law enforcement is taken into account, through for example inspections (Bargain and Boutin, 2021).

For child labor bans to work, not only enforcement of the law is important but schooling should be made also compulsory because monitoring children at school is easier than monitoring the absence of children from work (Basu and Van, 1998). Of course, schooling and work are not mutually exclusive, that is, children can still go to school and work, but this will prevent the full-time employment of those children.

Next, policies indirectly targeting child labor, aim at decreasing poverty constraints, increasing schooling enrollment, or both. Previous studies have shown that programs such as elimination of school fees, making textbooks and uniforms for free, and introducing conditional cash transfers or in-kind transfers have proven to contribute to the decrease in child labor (Skoufias et al., 2001; Maluccio, 2009; Peruffo and Ferreira, 2017; ILO, 2019b). Other policies aimed at increasing school enrollment have been implemented to fight against child labor and achieve the global goal of universal primary education (U.S. Department of Labor, 2019). Universal education is not only important to decrease child labor but is an important determinant for economic well-being (Hanushek and Woessmann, 2010). Studies analyzing the impact of education subsidies to increase school enrollment have shown large increases in school attendance but much lower decreases in child labor rates (Skoufias et al., 2001; Ferro et al., 2010; Arias et al., 2010). Since several Latin American countries have achieved the goal of universal primary education, current education policies are shifting from increasing schooling access to improving schooling quality by increasing the time spent at school in order to fight child labor (UNESCO, 2015; ILO, 2019a). Studies have shown that by increasing the instruction time not only child labor decreases but also this has a

positive impact on students achievements (Figlio *et al.*, 2018; Cabrera-Hernández, 2020; Thompson, 2021) and drop out rates and grade repetitions (García *et al.*, 2013). Yet, there are no studies done so far that check the impact of extending school time on child labor, which will be part of contribution of this dissertation.

In addition, education is not only important to decrease child labor but serves as a mean of support in child care for working women and thus also to decrease poverty. Therefore, studies have shown that increasing school access would increase maternal employment (Bick, 2016; Bauernschuster and Schlotter, 2015; Nollenberger and Rodríguez-Planas, 2015). Therefore, the absence of education for children such as school closures causes parents to suffer from the lack of child care and increases the need for home supervision, leading to the decrease in the labor force participation of those parents, especially mothers (Bick, 2016; Brilli *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, this pushes the families back to poverty and child labor (UNICEF, 2021b).

In this context, this dissertation covers three empirical analyses focusing on child labor bans, education, and mother's labor force participation in Latin America, specifically in Mexico. The first part of the dissertation contributes to the literature on child labor by examining the impact of policies aimed at decreasing child labor both directly and indirectly. The dissertation provides evidence on the efficacy of these policies and evaluates how they contribute to increasing school enrollment. Precisely, **Chapter 2** examines the impact of a complex child labor ban, coupled with minimum schooling requirements and concrete regulations for the work of individuals under the age of 18, on school enrollment and child labor. **Chapter 3** examines the importance of increasing quality education time at school on school enrollment and child labor. The second part of this dissertation contributes to the literature on labor force participation of mothers in developing countries. Therefore, **Chapter 4** examines the effect of school closures, in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, on labor force participation of women. A summary of the research questions, main findings, contribution to the literature, and policy implication are summarized as follows: Chapter 2 (joint work with Fernanda Martínez. Data preparation, analysis, and text were equally distributed between co-authors.) is motivated by the high number of working children aged 5 to 17 years old that engage in activities that are harmful to their development or that do not comply with the international standards of the minimum working age regulations (UNICEF, 2019). Policies such as child labor bans have been implemented as a mean to eradicate child labor through amending the minimum working age of children. Therefore, the ILO Convention No. 138 recommends the age of 15 for entry into the market (ILO, 2017). In this chapter, we investigate the impact of a child labor ban which was introduced in Mexico in 2015, on school enrollment and a number of child labor indicators.

While most of the studies in the literature find mixed evidence on the effect of bans on child labor, we contribute to the literature by focusing on a unique and more complex child labor ban that increases the minimum working age from 14 to 15 in all sectors and limits outside options for the affected children. To do so, we take advantage of the Constitutional Amendment in Mexico in 2014 that only announced the shift in the minimum working age and compare it to the more complex ban that was introduced by the reform to the Labor Law in 2015 where penalties, inspections, and regulations were introduced to prohibit the work of children under 15.

Our findings show that a simple increase in the minimum working age as the change in the Constitutional Amendment in 2014 does not affect child labor, it only has a small positive impact on school enrollment. However, when the ban in 2015 is coupled with concrete regulations of underage employment and penalties for employers, school enrollment for children aged 14 increases by 2.2 percentage points and their probability to work decreases by 1.2 percentage points. This resembles a 16% reduction in child labor relative to the pre-ban mean. A back of the envelope calculation shows that due to the ban in 2015, 25 thousand teens who were in child labor stopped working, and 50 thousand who would have likely dropped out of school to enter the labor force, did not drop out of school. We also

show that due to the ban the effect of the increase in school enrollment and decrease in child labor persists over time, even after reaching legal adulthood.

For policy makers, our study highlights two main important implications. First, that a mere shift in the minimum employment age will not be effective. The ban is only effective when coupled with a set of rules to employ adolescents such as minimum schooling requirements, and concrete penalties for employers to stop hiring children. Second, that child labor bans not only decrease child labor but also increase school enrollment.

Chapter 3 (joint work with Fernanda Martínez. Data preparation, analysis, and text were equally distributed between co-authors.) is also motivated by the high number of child labor because children are not only working in hazardous work but this work has long lasting negative effects, especially for children coming from low-income households, on children's development (Beegle *et al.*, 2009) and on their education and health (Emerson and Souza, 2011a). In this chapter, we examine how increasing school instruction time affects school enrollment and child labor.

Most of the studies in the literature have focused so far on interventions based on transfers of resources to reduce child labor such as unconditional, conditional, and in cash or in kind transfer programs (Skoufias *et al.*, 2001; Dammert, 2010; Covarrubias *et al.*, 2012). We contribute to the literature by being the first study to examine the impact of Full-Time Schooling (FTS) program on child labor and school attendance. To identify the effect, we take advantage of the exogenous roll-out of the FTS-program that increases schooling hours from 20 to either 30 or 40 hours in Mexico from 2009 to 2018.

Our findings show that increasing the instruction time does not affect school attendance which alleviates the concern that parents who rely on child labor will take their children out of school because of longer time spent in schooling. When focusing on child labor, the findings show that the increase in the share of FTS at the municipality level leads to a 12% reduction in child labor, the decrease is driven by children living in extreme poverty. A back of the envelope calculation shows that almost 158 thousand children aged 7-14 stopped working because of the FTS-program. When focusing on the labor force participation of other household members, we find that increasing the instruction time increases the labor force participation of mothers of children aged 7 to 14 years that were affected by the program.

The main policy implication of this chapter is that a shift from a part-time to a full-time school day has the potential to decrease child labor without increasing the risk of children dropping out of school. In addition, a more compatible school day, with the traditional working day also pushes mothers to increase their labor force participation.

Chapter 4 (single-authored.) is motivated by the labor force participation rates of women with children. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, schools were closed for about 158 days in Latin America and therefore women's labor force participation was affected negatively (ILO, 2022a). In the second quarter of 2020, almost 23.6 million women lost their jobs and only 19.3% of the jobs were recovered in 2021. This translates to 4 million women who were not able to join the labor market or return to their work (ILO, 2022a). In this chapter, I estimate the effect of school closures on labor outcomes of women with school-aged children 6 to 14.

The studies in the literature have analyzed so far the impact of child care subsidies on maternal employment and the effect of COVID-19 on labor force participation of women and men (Couch *et al.*, 2021; Yamamura and Tsustsui, 2021; Bundervoet *et al.*, 2022). I contribute to the literature by being the first to focus on the direct impact of school closure on the labor force participation of women with school-aged children. To identify the effect, I take advantage of the exogenous shock, that is school closure in the second quarter of 2020, to assign women with school-aged children 6 to 14 in the treatment group. Those women were directly affected by school closure. I define the control group as women with nursery-aged children 0 to 5 years old that were not directly affected by school closure.

My findings show that school closure decreases labor force participation of women with school-aged children by 1.7 percentage points and increases their domestic work. The increase in domestic work lowers simultaneously the hours spent on work in the market. A back of the envelope calculation shows that almost 750 thousand women with school-aged children stopped working because of the school closure. The results are mainly driven by work done in the informal sector, paid employment, and the services sector. The decrease is observed for all women irrespective of their age and income level. I find no additional decrease in the labor force participation for women that are single or that have access to informal child care.

The main policy conclusion from this chapter is that childcare access such as schooling is important to help women with children to stay in or join the labor force. Second, in developing countries we need systems that are able to cope with sanitary emergencies that allow children to go back to school faster in a safe and orderly manner. Finally, policy makers need to acknowledge the need for more flexible employment arrangements such as flexible working hours and the possibility to work from home, which is rather the exception and not the rule in developing countries.

2 Child Labor Bans, Employment, and School Attendance: Evidence from Changes in the Minimum Working Age*

Abstract: This paper investigates the effect of a unique child labor ban regulation on employment and school enrollment. The ban implemented in Mexico in 2015, increased the minimum working age from 14 to 15, introduced restrictions to employ underage individuals, and imposed stricter penalties for the violation of the law. Our identification strategy relies on a DiD approach that exploits the date of birth as a natural cutoff to assign individuals into treatment and control groups. The ban led to a decrease in the probability to work by 1.2 percentage points, resembling a 16% decrease in the probability to work relative to the pre-ban mean, and an increase in the probability of being enrolled in school by 2.2 percentage points for the treatment group. These results are driven by a reduction in employment in paid work, and in the manufacturing and services sectors. The effects are persistent several years after the ban.

^{*}Co-authored with Fernanda Martínez Flores. It contains minor revisions of: Kozhaya M., Martinez Flores, F. (2022): Child Labor Bans, Employment, and School Attendance: Evidence from Changes in the Minimum Working Age. IZA DP No.15144. We thank Thomas K. Bauer, Ronald Bachmann, Christian Bredemeier, Julia Bredtmann, Caio Piza, Kerstin Schneider, Franz Westermaier, and David Zuchowski for their comments. Rachel Kuhn provided excellent research assistance. We also thank the participants of the internal research seminars at the University of Wuppertal, and the participants of the Annual Conference of the European Society for Population for their constructive comments. All remaining errors are our own.

2.1 Introduction

From 2012 to 2016, important reductions in child labor have been made worldwide, resulting in 134 million fewer children engaged in employment. Yet, in developing countries one out of every four children aged 5 to 17 is engaged in activities that are hazardous and risky, affect their development, or do not comply with the international minimum working age standards (UNICEF, 2019).² One of the main international initiatives to eradicate child labor are employment bans, through the implementation of a minimum working age and the prohibition to hire underage individuals in certain sectors (ILO, 2017). For instance, the ILO Convention No. 138 introduced in 1973 recommends a minimum age of 15 years to enter the labor force (ILO, 2018) and has been ratified by 131 developing countries.³

Despite the high number of countries that have ratified this convention, little is known about the effectiveness of these bans. Although these laws should lead to a decrease in child labor rates, weak enforcement of the law, the lack of punishment if employers do not abide by the law, or even imperfect monitoring, could limit their effectiveness. The few studies analyzing the impact of bans find contradicting results (see e.g., Piza and Souza, 2017; Bharadwaj *et al.*, 2020; Bargain and Boutin, 2021). This paper evaluates the impact of a complex child labor ban, which was introduced in Mexico, on school enrollment and a number of child labor indicators. The main results in this paper present new evidence on child labor bans and offer possible explanations for previous diverging findings.

Mexico presents a unique setting to analyze the impact of child labor bans. In 2014, Mexico introduced a Constitutional Amendment that increased the minimum working age from 14 to 15, without stating further regulation. A year later, in 2015, Mexico introduced

 $^{^{2}}$ In developing countries more than 152 million children continue to be engaged in child labor (ILO, 2017). The number of children working increased to 160 million in 2021 for the first time in two decades due to the COVID-19 pandemic. This definition of child labor excludes light work that does not interfere with schooling activities.

³79 out of 131 developing countries have banned children younger than 15 years from the labor market. 52 out of the 131 developing countries have set the minimum working age at 14 years.

an ambitious reform to the National Labor Law "Ley Nacional de Trabajo". To date, this reform is one of the most extensive initiatives in Latin America to eradicate child labor. The reform not only shifted the working age from 14 to 15 years, but also coupled this shift with i) restrictions to hire underage individuals i.e., under 18 years of age, who had not completed basic education (primary and lower secondary), ii) regulations to hire individuals above 15 but younger than 18 with respect to the type of activities, sector, hours worked, and working schedule, and iii) much stricter penalties for employers that violate the regulations. This study evaluates the simple shift in 2014 in the minimum working age and the shift in 2015 coupled with additional employment restrictions and penalties.

Several studies show that the main reason for parents to rely on child labor is poverty, which leads parents to give priority to current consumption and thus trade-off between child labor and schooling, i.e., future earnings. The theoretical literature suggests that child labor bans have an ambiguous impact on household welfare. On the one hand, child labor bans could potentially improve welfare by encouraging the accumulation of human capital. On the other hand, in highly unequal economies child labor bans may affect the distribution of income if children of poor families accumulate human capital (Baland and Robinson, 2000). In some cases, these bans could backfire and contribute to the persistence of child labor. If unskilled wages increase as a response to the ban, unskilled workers will have less incentives to educate their children perpetuating the cycle (Doepke and Zilibotti, 2009). In very poor regions such bans may not be effective because children need to work in order to avoid hunger or if the household depends on the child's income (Basu, 1999).⁴ Indeed, several studies show that the main reason for parents to rely on child labor is poverty, which leads parents to give priority to current consumption and trade-off between child labor and schooling, i.e., future earnings (Basu and Van, 1998; Baland and Robinson, 2000; Ranjan,

⁴For an extensive literature on how a child labor ban can be harmful if poor households depend on children's income, see e.g., Baland and Robinson (2000); Horowitz and Wang (2004); Basu and Zarghamee (2009); Doepke and Zilibotti (2009).

2001; Cigno *et al.*, 2002; Jafarey and Lahiri, 2002; Horowitz and Wang, 2004; Edmonds, 2007).

The empirical evidence on child labor bans in developing countries also shows this contradicting pattern.⁵ Piza and Souza (2017) evaluate the impact of a shift in the minimum working age from 14 to 16 in Brazil. The study finds that in the short-run, 14 year old boys decrease their labor force participation, mainly in the informal sector, while girls do not respond to the ban. In the long-run, the authors find no impact on earnings and work, but they find that the affected cohort is less likely to have a formal occupation. In contrast, for the same ban, Bargain and Boutin (2021) find in the short-run no overall significant impacts,⁶ but suggestive evidence that child labor decreases in areas where labor inspections were high. This finding is reinforced by Edmonds and Shrestha (2012), who find no influence of the minimum working age on child time allocation using micro-data from 59 low-income countries. Finally, Bharadwaj *et al.* (2020) analyze a landmark legislation against child labor in India. In contrast to the previous findings, the study shows that the ban led to an increase in child labor from banned sectors to other sectors, and shifted work from younger to older siblings.⁷

⁵Other studies have analyzed the impact of the minimum working age on child labor for developed countries using historical data. Moehling (1999) finds that the minimum working age laws in the U.S. had a very small effect on the occupational choice of children and only explained partially the decline in the child labor rate between 1880 and 1930. Manacorda (2006) exploits the variation in child labor laws across U.S. 16 states in 1920 and finds the minimum working age decreased the labor force participation of younger siblings and increased labor force participation of older siblings. Finally, Del Rey *et al.* (2018) analyze the effect of minimum working age laws in Spain focusing on the long-run impact. The laws lead to an increase in educational attainment and improved labor market outcomes.

 $^{^{6}}$ Diverging findings could be explained by differences in the methodology used and in the time span included in the analyses.

⁷Other studies, for example, have evaluated the impact of compulsory schooling laws on schooling, or the impact of child labor laws on schooling (see e.g. Landes and Solmon, 1972; Edwards, 1978; Angrist and Krueger, 1991; Margo and Finegan, 1996; Moehling, 1999; Acemoglu and Angrist, 2000; Lleras-Muney, 2002; Oreopoulos, 2007; Gathmann *et al.*, 2015).

We contribute to this literature in three different ways. First, our database allows us to identify a rich set of child labor indicators that goes beyond what previous studies have analyzed, i.e., we focus not only on the probability to work, (in-)formal work, (un-)paid work, and school enrollment, but also on weekly hours worked, part-time and full-time work, sector of employment, wages, access to a contract, and employment benefits. This larger range of indicators allows us to draw conclusions about the type of work and sectors that were most impacted by the child labor ban.

Second, this study reconciles previous opposing results on the impact of child labor bans. To do so, we examine the Constitutional Amendment which shifted the working age from 14 to 15 in 2014, but established no concrete penalties or further regulation to the employment of minors. We then compare the results to the more complex package introduced by the reform to the Labor Law in 2015. Specifically, we highlight the role of penalties, regulation of underage work, and requirements to complete basic education to access the labor market for the effectiveness of child labor bans.⁸

Third, we exploit survey data collected on a quarterly basis for several years pre- and post-ban. The database allows us to identify the individuals exact birth date, which we exploit as natural cutoffs to assign individuals into treatment and comparison groups. We identify short-run impacts and long-run impacts by following individuals born in the same cohort using cross-sectional variation. In addition, the data offers a limited panel dimension as individuals are followed for five quarters before dropping from the survey.

We further exploit this limited panel dimension not only to control for unobserved heterogeneity at the individual level when estimating short-run impacts, but also to investigate the impact of the ban for children with different initial work status. In addition, we exploit this panel dimension to provide descriptive evidence on individuals who either respond or

⁸The regulation does not establish penalties for minors working in activities for own-consumption if they are safe and do not interfere with schooling.

do not respond to the ban conditional on working pre-ban. This is an important addition to the literature, as no previous study on child labor bans has accounted for time invariant unobserved characteristics nor have the studies provided results that go beyond an intention-to-treat approach.

Our empirical strategy, exploits the shift in the minimum working age as a natural experiment. We use data from the Mexican Labor Force Survey (ENOE), for the years 2013 till 2017 for the short-run and for the years 2012 to 2019 for the long-run, which is collected on a quarterly basis, and contains rich information on schooling and employment. We implement a DiD design that exploits the date of birth to assign individuals into treatment and control groups.⁹ To identify the effect, we focus on the cohort that was directly affected by the ban, and run further analysis with additional cohorts to test the sensitivity of our results.

Our within-birth-cohort approach assigns individuals born in the second half of 2000 to the treatment group. These individuals are 14 years old when the law is enacted, and therefore banned from the labor force. Individuals born in the first half of 2000 are assigned to the control group, as they are 15 years old when the law is enacted. We estimate both short-run and long-run impact of the ban using cross-sectional variation. For the short-run, we observe the affected cohort two years pre- and post-ban. We further narrow the time frame when exploiting the limited panel dimension by restricting the sample to individuals observed at least one quarter before and one quarter after the ban was introduced. This approach solves the concern that children in the affected cohort qualify to work once they turn 15. For the long-run, we extend our time period to observe treatment and control

⁹While some studies such as Piza and Souza (2017) and Bargain and Boutin (2021) exploit the discontinuity of the date of birth, we refrain from using an RDD approach. The shift in the minimum working age implies that important variation comes from observations that are further away from the cutoff. For instance, individuals born closer to the cutoff would only need to wait for some weeks to qualify to work, which could only slightly delay their entrance to the labor market. In contrast, individuals who are born further away from the cutoff would have to wait longer in order to qualify for work.

groups shortly after reaching legal adulthood (at age 18). We deviate from Piza and Souza (2016), by estimating a dynamic DiD model. This allows us to rule out the existence of pre-trends, to evaluate when the impact of the reform kicks-in, and to analyze if the effects are persistent once the individuals in the treatment group are eligible to work.

The empirical approach presents two main challenges. First, individuals who are born in the same year, but at different times of the year, may not represent an ideal control group if the timing of birth is correlated with unobserved factors that determine both schooling and employment decisions e.g., through the age at school start (Fredriksson and Öckert, 2014). To address this concern we estimate across-cohort comparisons to compare individuals born in the same month of the year.

Second, our empirical strategy follows individuals born in the same cohort several quarters (years) after the ban is implemented. The definition of treatment and control groups implies that our estimates reflect the impact of being banned from the labor force for a few days up to a maximum of six months for the treatment relative to the control group. Some children banned only for e.g., one month, may not be affected as strongly as children who have to wait 6 months to qualify to work. Therefore, we exploit this and present additional sensitivity analysis where we use a continuous definition of the treatment i.e., the number of months a child is banned from the labor force in contrast to children who are not banned.

Our findings show that a simple increase in the minimum working age leads to significant decreases in child labor, only when this shift is coupled with additional regulation and concrete penalties. The Constitutional Amendment in 2014 had no significant impact on child labor, but a small positive impact on schooling. In contrast, the reform to the Labor Law in 2015 which coupled the ban with concrete regulation of underage work and penalties for potential employers, increased school enrollment by 2.2 percentage points and decreased the probability to work for the 14 year old children by 1.2 percentage points relative to the 15 year old children. This represents a decrease in child labor rate by 16%.

The media coverage of these reforms could partially explain these results. For the Constitutional Amendment in 2014, the media made a strong emphasis on schooling: "...kids and teenagers should remain in school, to improve their quality of life, (...) and increase their likelihood of having a better job and higher wages..." (Senado de la República, 2014). In contrast, the media coverage of the Labor Law reform in 2015, highlighted the restrictions and penalties imposed for potential violations to the law. "...failure to comply with obligations regarding minors is punishable by imprisonment for one to four years and a fine of 250 (17,525.00 MXN) to 5000 (350,500.00 MXN) times the general daily minimum wage." (Martínez, 2015).

Our findings are in line with the findings by Piza and Souza (2016) for Brazil. Yet, this is only true when the corresponding regulation is further coupled with stricter penalties and there is general awareness of this penalties, which is in line with, Bargain and Boutin (2021). Finally, in contrast with the framework analyzed for India (Bharadwaj *et al.*, 2020), the regulation in Mexico did not simply shift the demand from 14 years old to slightly older individuals or to other sectors. The regulation made it much costlier for potential employers to hire minors, which limited the substitution between 14 years old and individuals aged 15-17 due to: the number of sectors that restricted employment for all minors, the regulation concerning working hours and benefits, and the prohibition to hire minors who have not completed their basic education.

We further show that the reduction in child labor after the Labor Law Reform in 2015 is mainly driven by children who decreased their participation in paid activities: mainly in the manufacturing and services sectors. Consistently, we find that most of the reduction in child labor rates is concentrated for children living in urban regions and household with low income levels.¹⁰ We also show that the effect of the ban is not simply shifted to older siblings. Finally, we show that the effect persists after the affected cohort has reached legal adulthood, i.e., at age 18 individuals banned from the labor force are less likely to be employed full-time or to be employed and out of school.

This paper is structured as follows: the following section presents the background and provides additional information on the reform. Sections 2.3 and 2.4 present our empirical strategy and data, Section 2.5 results, and Section 2.6 concludes.

2.2 Background

2.2.1 Child Labor Regulation Pre-2015 and Statistics

In 1917, the Article 123 of the Mexican Constitution set the minimum age for admission to work at 12 years of age. Subsequently, with the constitutional reform in 1962, the minimum working age was set at 14 years, establishing the length of the workday at six hours for individuals aged 14 to 16, prohibiting night shifts and overtime. This regulation remained unchanged for several years. Only after 1989, when the "Convención de los Derechos de Los Niños" was signed, several public policies aimed at recognizing children as subjects of rights and legal protection according to their development and age. A decade later, in 2000, Mexico ratified the ILO Convention 182 concerning the elimination of the worse forms of child labor (ILO, 2020b).

Since that date, the Mexican Ministry of Labor and Social Welfare has increased its efforts to prevent and eradicate the all forms of child labor. During 2007 to 2012, the Ministry of Labor and Social Welfare implemented an inter-institutional strategy to increase the commitment of different sectors to reduce child labor among minors under age 14, increase

 $^{^{10}23\%}$ of children coming from high income level were working before the ban vs. 77% of the children that come from low and extreme poor income levels (Table A10).

the protection of adolescent workers (above the legal working age), and increase compliance with the national and international legal framework for minors. The main objectives in this strategy include: generating periodic statistical information on child labor indicators, prevent and eradicate child labor in the agricultural sector, promote labor rights and strengthen the legal framework.¹¹

It is worth noting that before the Constitutional Amendment in 2014, several initiatives to eradicate child labor operated indirectly through initiatives aimed at increasing school enrollment. Public policy targeting child labor indirectly includes, for example, PROGRESA which was launched in 1997. This program provides families with additional income conditional on children being enrolled in school, regular school attendance, and regular health check ups. PROGRESA led to a substantial increase in school enrollment rates and to a modest reduction in child labor (Skoufias et al., 2001). Other programs have also been introduced to keep children enrolled in school, such as school feeding programs, e.g., school breakfast programs, and initiatives targeted at improving education quality, e.g., the extension of the school day through full-time schools.

In recent years, initiatives that directly target child labor have gained importance given that Mexico, similar to other countries in Latin America, has achieved the goal of universal primary coverage and has shown important increases in secondary enrollment rates. From 1990 to 2015, school enrollment increased from 89% to 98% for children aged 6 to 11, from 79% to 93% for children aged 12 to 14, and from 47% to 73% for individuals aged 15 to 17 (INEE, 2018a). As of 2012, upper secondary education became also compulsory (OECD, 2018). However, the compulsory schooling regulation is not based on age but on the school level.¹² Therefore, the opportunities of decreasing child labor through increasing school enrollment are limited.

 $^{^{11}}$ See (STPS, 2014) for additional information about the historical developments of the child labor regulation in Mexico. ¹²It is important to note that the school calendar year in Mexico begins late August to early July.

From 2007 to 2017, Mexico witnessed a decrease in dangerous employment from 6.9% to 3.6% for children aged 5 to 14 years old and from 26.6% to 18.2% for children aged 15 to 17 years old (INEGI, 2018a). From 2015 to 2019, the child labor rate decreased from 9.8% to 7.1%. Although the reduction is considerable, 2 million children continue to be engaged in work.¹³ For children aged 5 to 15, who are banned from the labor force, the child labor rate decreased from 6.9% to 4.1% from 2007 to 2019.

2.2.2 Constitutional Amendment and Labor Law Reform

The legal framework in 2012 – before the changes analyzed in this paper –, thus, banned all children under the age of 14 from the labor market (excluding work for family members). For individuals below the age of 16, the regulation prohibited night-work, dangerous work (without listing specific prohibited activities), established a maximum of 6 daily working hours, prohibited overtime, work during festive days and weekends, and established a minimum of 16 days of holidays. Penalties for employers who violate this framework were established at 3 to 155 times the minimum wage.

Before 2015, Mexico was one of the last countries in Latin America that had not ratified the ILO Convention No. 138. The convention establishes a "Minimum Age for Admission to Employment" requiring countries to set the minimum age at 15 for entry into the labor force which is in accordance with the age at which a child leaves compulsory schooling, and to create national policies to eradicate child labor.¹⁴ In order to ratify the convention, two main steps were implemented: First, Mexico amended the Article 123 of its Federal Constitution on **June 17, 2014** shifting the minimum working age from 14 to 15. In this phase, no

¹³The number increases to 3.3 million children if heavy domestic work is considered.

¹⁴By the end of 2018, in Latin America and the Caribbean, 32 out of 33 countries have ratified the ILO Convention C138; 14 of them have set the minimum working age at 14 and the rest at 15 and 16 years (ILO, 2018). For an extensive overview about the ratification of the ILO Convention C138 see ILO (2018).

additional regulation was introduced except for the change in the minimum working age (DOF, 2014).

Second, on **June 12, 2015**, Mexico reformed its Federal Labor Law ("Ley Federal del Trabajo") accordingly (DOF, 2015). The reform to the Labor Law not only shifted the minimum working age from 14 to 15, but also implemented a set of rules for employers hiring individuals aged 15 to 17, and set minimum education requirements for minors to join the labor force. In contrast to the previous legal framework, the main changes can be summarized as follows:

- The Labor Law prohibits all children younger than 15 to work.
- Individuals who are under age 18 and did not complete compulsory schooling are prohibited from working, unless approved by the corresponding labor authority.
- All activities which are dangerous, risky, or morally hazardous of individuals under age 18 – for family members – are also prohibited. Activities with the purpose of own-consumption are excluded.
- Individuals under age 18 shall receive an annual paid vacation period of at least eighteen working days.
- It is forbidden to rely on the work of individuals under the age 18 for night-workt, extra-hours, work on Sundays or on official holidays.
- All types of work that are hazardous, risky, or morally damaging are prohibited for individuals who are under age 18. This includes activities with exposure to: noise, dangerous substances, heights, narrow spaces, heavy equipment, extreme conditions, vehicular transit; as well as industries such as: agriculture, mining, construction, care, petroleum and nuclear energy.¹⁵
- All jobs for individuals under the age of 18 shall not interfere with education, leisure and recreation, and should not imply any risks for health and morality.

Most importantly, the reform to the Labor Law in 2015 establishes concrete penalties for employers hiring individuals under 15. If the labor authorities identify violations to

 $^{^{15}}$ Please refer to the "Ley Federal del Trabajo", Article 176, for a full list of activities that are prohibited for underage individuals.

this regulation, the work of the underage individual shall be immediately terminated and the employers shall be punished with a prison term of 1 to 4 years and/or a fine of 250 to 5000 times the minimum wage (DOF, 2015). The same penalty can be applied for parents (mothers, fathers, or guardians) that allow the employment of children in work that affects their physical, mental, or emotional development, i.e., hazardous work.

Therefore, after the reform to the Labor Law, the Secretary of Labor and Social Security (STPS) increased child labor inspections mainly in industries. For the period between June 1, 2015 and June 20, 2017, the General Directorate of the Federal Labor Inspectorate (DGIFT) conducted 245,019 inspections that covered 9,982,393 workers (ILO, 2019a).¹⁶ In 7,748 of the cases children under the age of 15 were engaged in child labor and were immediately detached from the working environment.

The limited efficiency of inspections in Mexico's setting should also be acknowledged, even after the increase in efforts after 2015. The STPS is more likely to carry out an inspection after a formal complaint i.e., inspections are not a routine procedure that occur on a regular basis. In addition, the STPS does not have an internal system to track child labor violations, and state-level efforts to increase child labor inspections are not well-documented for all states (see e.g., U.S. Department of Labor, 2020).¹⁷

2.3 Identification Strategy

To analyze the effect of the reform to the Labor Law introduced in June 2015, we estimate a DiD model exploiting the date of birth as a natural cut-off to define treatment and control groups. In this setup, we observe individuals who were born in the same cohort and assign

¹⁶Inspections are of two types. First, ordinary inspections that are made on a yearly basis to confirm that the companies comply with the specific labor responsibilities. Second, extraordinary inspections that can be made at any time to make sure that the employees abide to the law (ACC, 2015).

¹⁷Unfortunately, we were not able to obtain high-quality data on inspections. We provide the results focusing on areas where inspections are more likely to occur e.g., areas with different urbanization levels.

them to treatment and control groups according to their month of birth. To do so, we focus on the cohort of children who were born in the year 2000.

Treatment group: children born between June 13th and December 31st. These children were 14 at the time the reform was implemented.

Control group: children born between January 1st and June 12th. These children were 15 by the time the reform was introduced and thus, were excluded from the ban.

To analyze the short-run effect of the ban, we focus on the period 2013 to 2017, i.e., two years before the ban and two years after the ban was introduced, exploiting cross-sectional variation. This date restriction implies that all individuals in our sample are under the age of 18 and thus, not legal adults. We focus on this time span, to have a consistent pre- and post treatment time frame and control for potential seasonality effects. As a robustness test, we also estimate the immediate effect of the reform by focusing on the months before and after the reform for the year 2015 when the reform was announced.

To analyze the long-run effect of the ban, we further extend our analysis from the year 2012 to 2019, i.e., when all individuals in the treatment and control groups have reached legal adulthood. We estimate the following model for the within-cohort approach:

$$Y_{imt} = \alpha_0 + \beta (Treated_i \times Post - ban_t) + \theta' \mathbf{X}_i + \mu' \mathbf{P}_i + \delta_m + \gamma_s + \alpha_t + \mathbf{t}\lambda_s + \epsilon_{imt} \quad (2.1)$$

where Y_{imt} , denotes either child labor or school enrollment for child *i*, born in month m, at survey time *t*. For the child labor indicators, we explore (1) the total number of hours worked per week, (2) a binary variable indicating whether the child works (extensive margin), and (3) the number of hours worked conditional on working (intensive margin). We further distinguish between formal and informal work, paid and unpaid work, and type

of employment sector. Moreover, conditional on being employed we analyze the effect on full-time employment, wages, contracts, and benefits received.

 $Treated_i$ is a dummy variable that takes the value one for children in the treatment group and zero for the control group. $Post-ban_t$ is a dummy variable that takes the value one after June 2015, when the ban was introduced. β is the coefficient of interest which captures the differential change in schooling and child labor after the law enactment for individuals below the legal working age vs. those just above the legal working age.

 X_i is a vector of child characteristics that are likely to affect schooling and child labor household size, gender, and birth order to control for a higher probability of working for older siblings. P_i is a categorical variable controlling for parental education level. Parental education controls capture the preference to send children to school and/or work and are a proxy of household income. Furthermore, because work inspections are more likely to take place in urban areas, we include dummies to control for locality size. Localities are smaller geographical units than municipalities and capture the level of urbanization (high, middle, low, or rural) in the locality the child resides.

We include birth-month fixed effects δ_m to take into account confounding seasonal factors of being born at different times of the year as well as age differences in our within-cohort approach. We also include state fixed effects γ_s to take into account state-specific shocks and to capture the regional clustering of industries or sectors that are more prone to hire individuals under 18. α_t represents quarter-by-year fixed effects as the database used in this analysis is collected on a quarterly bases. The time fixed effects would capture, for instance, employment or economic shocks that could influence both schooling and child labor. $\mathbf{t}\lambda_s$ takes into account a state-specific linear time trend which captures diverging pre-existing trends in outcomes at the state level or in the intensity of inspections. Finally, ϵ_{imt} is the error term. Standard errors are clustered at the birth-month by survey-year level. We also show that the results are robust to other clustering levels that follow a more liberal approach such as the birthday-survey-year level or a more conservative approach such as state-by-month-of-birth or birth-month level.

Using the same approach, we conduct the analysis using as the main policy change the Constitutional Amendment in 2014. In this case, the affected cohort is born one year earlier i.e., 1999. This empirical exercise allows us to show the difference between a policy that shifted the minimum working age without establishing concrete penalties for potential employers vs. the shift in 2015 when penalties and rules for hiring minors were established.

The main identifying assumptions of our DiD design is that in the absence of the child labor ban, both groups would have followed the same trajectory. Thus, the main threat to our identification strategy is that the change in the law could shift the labor demand for 15 year old individuals to replace the labor of 14 year old individuals. To show that this is not the case, we provide graphical evidence on the parallel trends and estimates on employment rates (see Figure 2.1 and Table 2.9).

A second threat to the identification of our within-cohort approach is that the estimates could be driven by age differences and not by the change in the law because 14 and 15 year old individuals are not fully comparable. We address this concern in two different ways. First, we exploit the panel data structure of our sample to include individual fixed effects in the specification and compare those individuals who are just above and below 15, at the time of the survey, before and after the ban as follows:

$$Y_{it} = \alpha_1 + \beta_1 (Treated_i \times Post - ban_t) + \eta' \mathbf{Z}_{it} + \rho_i + \alpha_t + \mathbf{t}\kappa_s + \upsilon_{it}$$
(2.2)

where Y_{it} , denotes either child labor or school enrollment for child *i*, at survey time *t*. *Treated_i* is a dummy variable that takes the value one for individuals born between June 13th and December 31st, 2000. *Post-ban_t* is a dummy variable that takes the value one
after June 2015, when the ban was introduced. Z_{imt} is a vector of children time varying characteristics such as age and aged squared. ρ_i captures individual fixed effects, α_t , quarterby-year fixed effects, $\mathbf{t}\kappa_s$ captures state linear time trends and v_{it} the error term. This specification allows us to estimate the within individual impact of the ban and account for unobserved time invariant characteristics at the individual level. We refrain from using this as the baseline because i) individuals are only followed for five quarters and there is attrition in the sample, which decreases considerably the number of observations; and ii) to facilitate the comparison between the short-run and long-run results.

Second, following Eq. 2.1 we implement an across-cohort comparison and use the cohort born in 1999 as a control group to estimate the effect of the ban. For this, we construct two definitions for the treatment and control groups: i) the treatment group are individuals born in 2000 and the control group individuals born in 1999; ii) the treatment are individuals born in the second half of 2000 compared to the control who are defined as individuals born in the second half of 1999. In addition, we provide a number of placebo tests focusing on non-affected cohorts to show that our estimates are not driven by age differences. Table A1 in the Appendix summarizes the relevant dates and definitions for the treatment and control groups for the within-cohort and across-cohort comparisons.

Finally, our baseline specification does not take into account the income at the household level. We refrain from including income as a control variable in the main specification due to potential endogeneity concerns and the high number of missing values in the income variable. However, we exploit this information to test heterogeneous effects for different poverty definitions which are less likely to be endogenous e.g., living below or above the poverty line, income quantiles, locality size, and marginalization index.

2.4 Data and Descriptive Statistics

We use data from the Mexican National Survey on Occupation and Employment (ENOE). The ENOE is the largest continuous (rotating) household survey in Mexico collected every year on a quarterly basis. The ENOE is the main source of information on the labor market, employment, informality, and unemployment. The databases include information on 126 thousand households per quarter and are representative at the state level. The data provides information on all household members aged 12 years and older. The guidelines of the survey establish that there is one main informant who provides the information: the individual is usually the household head or the spouse. However, if household members older than 12 are present at the time of the interview, they each provide their own information.

The ENOE provides rich information on schooling and employment¹⁸, as well as demographic characteristics of the child, the parents, and the place of residence. We further complement this database using the marginalization level data obtained from the *Consejo Nacional de Población* (CONAPO) for the year 2010 at the municipality level. The marginalization index is a multidimensional poverty measure which takes into account education, dwelling characteristics, population geographical distribution, and income level (CONAPO, 2019).

For the main analysis, we focus on the cohort of children who were directly affected by the reform, i.e., the cohort of individuals born in 2000, who are 14-15 years old in 2015. We focus on the survey years 2013 to 2017 i.e., two years before and after the ban, to investigate the short-run impact of the ban. We then extend the time frame from 2012 to 2019 to investigate if the effects are persistent after the individual has reached legal adulthood.

¹⁸That is employment status, whether active in the labor market, earnings, and number of hours worked. Here it is worth mentioning that school enrollment variable that is reported does not take into account school attendance and school attainment. As of 2018 the survey does not report employment information for individuals younger than 14, because of the change in the minimum working age. This does not affect our estimates because we focus on the sample of 14 years and older starting the year 2013 of the ENOE data.

Additionally, we use data for the cohorts born in 1997, 1998, and 1999 for the across-cohort comparison and placebo tests.

Table 2.1 provides descriptive statistics for the treatment and control group before the ban was implemented. The final column provides the t-test indicating if the difference in means between groups is significant. The table shows that 95% of children are enrolled in school, 8% are engaged in child labor, and conditional on working, they work 21 hours per week. Almost all working children are in the informal sector and only 45% receive compensation for their work. 30% of working children work in the primary (agriculture) sector, 18% in the secondary sector (manufacturing), and 52% in the tertiary sector (services). The majority of them do not have either a written contract nor access to benefits. 15% of them work full-time and on average they earn 8 Pesos per hour, which equals the Mexican hourly minimum wage in 2015. The children in our sample live on average in households with 5 members, and 42% of them are the first-born. 80% of children live with both parents. With respect to parental education, 68% (72.2%) of children have mothers (fathers) who have at most secondary education or higher.¹⁹ Finally, 53% of them live in localities that are highly urbanized areas i.e., localities with more than 100,000 inhabitants

Comparing the pre-treatment means of the control and treatment groups reveals some differences, but in most cases these differences are negligible. With respect to the outcome variables, children in the treatment group are slightly more likely to be enrolled in school, and less likely to work before the reform. This occurs due to the control group being slightly older than the treatment group, but our specification takes this into account by including month of birth fixed effects. Individuals in the treatment group work about half an hours less than individuals in the control group (conditional on working the difference is about 1.7 hours). For other demographic characteristics the differences are significant, however, they are very small.

¹⁹For households where the father is not present, we classify the education level of the father as "none".

	1	A 11	Trea	tment	Control		T-test	
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Δ Mean ^a	
Dependent variables								
Attends school	0.954	0.209	0.959	0.199	0.948	0.223	0.011***	
Employed	0.080	0.272	0.074	0.261	0.089	0.285	-0.015^{***}	
Total hours worked	1.650	7.160	1.459	6.697	1.911	7.739	-0.452^{***}	
Conditional hours worked	20.566	15.805	19.767	15.674	21.468	15.906	-1.702^{***}	
Cond. Dependent variables								
Informal work	0.997	0.055	0.998	0.045	0.996	0.064	0.002	
Paid employment	0.456	0.498	0.446	0.497	0.467	0.499	-0.021	
Sector								
Primary	0.305	0.460	0.304	0.460	0.307	0.461	-0.003	
Secondary	0.177	0.382	0.165	0.372	0.190	0.392	-0.024^{**}	
Tertiary	0.518	0.500	0.531	0.499	0.503	0.500	0.028^{**}	
Contract	0.006	0.080	0.004	0.066	0.009	0.093	-0.004^{**}	
Benefits	0.003	0.057	0.002	0.048	0.004	0.064	-0.002	
Full-time	0.154	0.361	0.145	0.352	0.164	0.370	-0.019^{**}	
Hourly wage	8.177	15.515	7.815	14.439	8.586	16.640	-0.771^{*}	
Control variables								
Treatment	0.577	0.494	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	1.000	
Post-ban	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
Male	0.506	0.500	0.506	0.500	0.506	0.500	0.000	
Age	13.364	0.896	13.140	0.840	13.668	0.880	-0.527^{***}	
Household size	5.034	1.570	5.012	1.534	5.065	1.618	-0.053^{***}	
Month of birth	6.652	3.440	9.184	1.879	3.203	1.586	5.981^{***}	
Both parents present	0.790	0.407	0.793	0.405	0.787	0.410	0.006**	
Family order								
First-born	0.421	0.494	0.413	0.492	0.433	0.495	-0.020^{***}	
Second-born	0.287	0.453	0.289	0.453	0.285	0.451	0.004	
Last-born	0.291	0.454	0.298	0.457	0.282	0.450	0.016^{***}	
Mother's education level								
No education	0.041	0.199	0.039	0.193	0.045	0.208	-0.006^{***}	
Primary education	0.298	0.457	0.296	0.457	0.299	0.458	-0.003	
Secondary education	0.341	0.474	0.342	0.474	0.341	0.474	0.001	
High-school	0.130	0.336	0.131	0.338	0.128	0.335	0.003	
Vocational training	0.078	0.268	0.079	0.270	0.076	0.265	0.003	
University degree	0.112	0.315	0.113	0.316	0.111	0.314	0.002	
Father's education level								
No Education	0.235	0.424	0.230	0.421	0.242	0.428	-0.012^{***}	
Primary education	0.233	0.422	0.232	0.422	0.234	0.423	-0.002	
Secondary education	0.254	0.436	0.258	0.438	0.249	0.433	0.009**	
High-school	0.129	0.335	0.130	0.336	0.127	0.333	0.002	
Vocational training	0.029	0.168	0.029	0.169	0.029	0.167	0.001	
University degree	0.120	0.325	0.121	0.326	0.119	0.323	0.002	
Locality size								
More than 100,000 inhabitants	0.532	0.499	0.527	0.499	0.537	0.499	-0.010^{**}	
15,000-99,999 inhabitants	0.133	0.339	0.134	0.341	0.131	0.337	0.004	
2,500-14,999 inhabitants	0.134	0.341	0.136	0.343	0.132	0.338	0.004*	
Less than 2,500 inhabitants	0.201	0.401	0.202	0.401	0.200	0.400	0.002	
Observations	70,053		40,397		29,656			

Table 2.1: PRE-BAN DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS

Notes: – The table presents pre-ban descriptive statistics taken from the ENOE for the years 2013 till 2015 before the change in the minimum working age in 2015. All children are born in the year 2000. Children in the control group are born between January 1 and June 12. Children in the treatment group are born between June 13 and December 31. Other dependent variables are calculated conditional on being employed. ^a This column represents the difference between treatment and control and the respective p-value of the t-test.

2.4.1 Descriptive Analysis

We start by providing graphical evidence on the evolution of school enrollment and employment rates for the treatment and control groups. Figure 2.1 shows that before the ban,



Figure 2.1: PARALLEL TRENDS BY TREATMENT AND CONTROL GROUP Source: ENOE, authors' analysis.

Notes: - The figure illustrates the shares which are calculated predicting both school attendance and the probability to work controlling for the full set of observable characteristics. All children are born in the year 2000. Children in the control group are born between January 1 and June 12. Children in the treatment group are born between June 13 and December 31. Figure 1 shows that before the ban, schooling and employment followed a similar trend with a minor level difference between groups. Schooling is decreasing after the second quarter of 2015 for the control group because lower secondary education is completed at age 15.19. For the treatment group, school enrollment also decreases, but not as steep as in the control group. The size of the gap between both groups increases considerably after 2015. For Employment rate we observe a similar pattern, i.e. a small level difference and a gap that opens up after the third quarter of 2015.

schooling and employment followed a similar trend with a minor level difference between groups. Focusing on schooling, the figure shows a sharp drop in school enrollment after the second quarter of 2015 for the control group. This drop is not surprising because usually lower secondary is completed at age 15.²⁰ For the treatment group, we also observe a drop in school enrollment, but not as steep as in the control group. The size of the gap between

 $^{^{20}}$ The condition to be able to enroll in primary school is turning 6 before the 31st of December of the respective year. There are 6 years of primary school and 3 of lower secondary. A student that followed this path without interruptions or grade repetitions should be in the 9th grade at age 14/15.

both groups increases considerably after 2015. By the end of 2017, the school enrollment rate of the treatment group remains higher than that of the control group. Focusing on employment rates, we observe a similar pattern, i.e., a common trend before the ban and a gap that opens up after 2015. The empirical analyses in the long-run further allows us to rule out the existence of diverging pre-trends.

2.5 Results

In this section, we start by discussing the baseline results focusing on the reform to the Labor Law in 2015. Next, we compare and contrast these results with the results focusing on the Constitutional Amendment in 2014 and a placebo reform. We then examine the results in the long-run by extending the period of analysis. Finally, we provide the results of the heterogeneity and robustness analysis.

2.5.1 Baseline Results

We estimate the effect of the child labor ban on the probability of being enrolled in school and on the probability of being employed and report the results in Table 2.2 following our specification in Eq.(2.1). Columns I and II report the results focusing on school enrollment and columns III and IV focusing on employment. For each outcome variable, we provide a specification controlling for the full set of control variables, but excluding month of birth fixed effects (column I and III). In addition, we provide a specification including month of birth fixed effects (column II and IV), which should capture the age difference between treatment and control groups.

	School	School	Employed	Employed
	emonnent	emonnent	TTT	T3 7
	1	11	111	IV
Treated x Post-ban	0.027***	0.022***	-0.025^{***}	-0.012^{**}
	(0.005)	(0.004)	(0.006)	(0.005)
Male	-0.024^{***}	-0.024^{***}	0.102***	0.102***
	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.006)	(0.006)
HH size	-0.016^{***}	-0.016^{***}	0.009^{***}	0.009^{***}
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Birth rank: Ref.: First-born				
Middle-born	0.007^{**}	0.008^{**}	0.002	0.001
	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Last-born	0.005**	0.005**	-0.018^{***}	-0.018^{***}
	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.002)
Both parents present	-0.054^{***}	-0.052^{***}	0.036***	0.035***
	(0.014)	(0.014)	(0.011)	(0.011)
Mother's education level: Ref.: None				
Primary education	0.084^{***}	0.084^{***}	-0.053^{***}	-0.052^{***}
	(0.014)	(0.013)	(0.006)	(0.006)
Secondary education	0.148^{***}	0.148^{***}	-0.080^{***}	-0.080^{***}
	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.007)	(0.007)
High-school	0.190^{***}	0.189^{***}	-0.101^{***}	-0.101^{***}
	(0.017)	(0.017)	(0.009)	(0.009)
Vocational training	0.187^{***}	0.187^{***}	-0.111^{***}	-0.111^{***}
	(0.018)	(0.018)	(0.010)	(0.010)
University degree	0.198^{***}	0.198^{***}	-0.132^{***}	-0.132^{***}
	(0.018)	(0.018)	(0.010)	(0.010)
Father's education level: Ref.: None/Father not present				
Primary education	0.052^{***}	0.051^{***}	-0.031^{***}	-0.030^{***}
	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.011)	(0.011)
Secondary education	0.101***	0.100***	-0.066^{***}	-0.065^{***}
	(0.014)	(0.014)	(0.012)	(0.012)
High-school	0.123^{***}	0.122^{***}	-0.082^{***}	-0.081^{***}
	(0.015)	(0.015)	(0.012)	(0.012)
Vocational training	0.123***	0.122^{***}	-0.086^{***}	-0.085^{***}
	(0.015)	(0.014)	(0.013)	(0.013)
University degree	0.115^{***}	0.114^{***}	-0.091^{***}	-0.091^{***}
	(0.014)	(0.014)	(0.012)	(0.012)
Locality size: Ref.: $> 100,000$ inhabitants				
15,000-99,999 inhabitants	-0.005	-0.005	0.023***	0.023***
	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.003)	(0.003)
2,500-14,999 inhabitants	-0.005	-0.005	0.029***	0.029***
	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Less than 2,500 inhabitants	-0.021***	-0.021***	0.060***	0.061***
~	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Constant	0.895***	0.915***	-0.003	0.012
	(0.016)	(0.015)	(0.009)	(0.010)
State FE	yes	yes	yes	yes
Quarter-by-year FE	yes	yes	yes	yes
Month of birth FE	no	yes	no	yes
State-specific trend	yes	yes	yes	yes
Observations	192 107	192 107	192 107	192 107
R ²	120,401	120,401	0 100	120,407
10	0.101	0.100	0.103	0.114

Table 2.2: Effect of Labor Law Reform in 2015 on School Enrollment and Employment

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. Data are from the ENOE for the years 2013 till 2017.– Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the birth month-survey year level). – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

The estimated coefficients show that the ban led to an increase in school enrollment by 2.2 percentage points for children in the treatment group relative to children in the control group (column I). The coefficient remains stable after taking into account month of birth fixed effects (column II). By partialling out the month of birth fixed effects (column III), the results further indicate that the ban lead to a decrease in the probability of being employed by 1.8 percentage points, but this coefficient drops slightly, to 1.2 percentage points, after taking into account the month of birth fixed effects (column IV).²¹

Relative to the pre-ban mean, these coefficients translate to an increase in school enrollment by 2% and a decrease in child labor rates by 16%. This indicates that the enforcement of the law and penalties were still relatively weak after the 2015 ban; however, our estimates support that legislated bans coupled with regulations and penalties lead to a reduction in child labor compared to other studies in developing countries. Our results contradict Edmonds and Shrestha (2012) who find no effect of the minimum working age in 59 low-income countries. Unlike Bharadwaj *et al.* (2020), we find that the probability of work decreases (not increases) after the ban. The results, however, are in line with the findings in Piza and Souza (2016) and are similar in magnitude as in Bargain and Boutin (2021), except that the latter do not find significant effects.

Table A3 in the Appendix further shows the results focusing on total weekly hours worked and hours worked conditional on employment. We observe a decrease in the number of weekly hours worked by about 0.75 hours (45 minutes). The estimated coefficient for conditional hours worked is negative but not statistically significant. The latter suggests that the reduction in hours worked is mainly driven by the extensive margin rather than the intensive margin. Table A5 in the Appendix further shows that the results are robust to alternative ways of clustering the standard errors.

 $^{^{21}\}mathrm{Table}$ A6 in the Appendix provides the baseline results showing them without the state-specific time trend.

INDIVIDU	JAL FIXED	EFFECTS	APPROA	СН
Dependent variable:	School enrollment I	Hours worked II	Extensive margin III	Intensive margin IV
A. Full-sample				
Treated x Post-ban	0.028^{***}	-0.733^{***}	-0.020^{**}	-0.486
	(0.005)	(0.267)	(0.009)	(1.519)
Observations	23,562	23,562	23,562	3,035
B. Children working pre-ban Treated x Post-ban Observations	0.047^{***} (0.016) 4,155	-1.713 (1.110) 4,155	-0.075^{**} (0.036) 4,155	-0.471 (1.534) 2,121
C. Children not working pre-ban Treated x Post-ban	0.022***	-0.721^{***}	-0.017^{**}	_
Observations	(0.005) 19,407	(0.213) 19,407	(0.007) 19,407	_

 Table 2.3: Effect of Ban in 2015 on School Enrollment and Employment:

 Individual fixed effects Approach

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. The data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2013 till 2017. The regressions include the full set of controls, individual fixed effects, birth rank, state fixed effects, quarter-by-year fixed effects and state-specific time trend. – Robust standard errors in parentheses. – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Next, we estimate the impact of the ban exploiting within individual variation. In this case, we restrict the sample to individuals who are observed at least once before and after ban. As individuals are only observed for a maximum of five quarters, this limits the time frame to shortly before and after the ban. The main advantage of this strategy is that we are able to control for all unobserved heterogeneity at the individual level. In addition, this allows us to identify the effect of children with different work status pre-ban.

The results presented in Table 2.3 show similar findings as in the baseline results. Panel A, shows the results for the full sample of individuals. We find an increase in the probability of being employed.²² Next, panels B and C show the results for children who were working and not working before the ban, respectively. The results are consistent with panel A, but the coefficients are much larger for those children who were working before the ban was introduced. Taken together, the results suggest that the ban is effective in decreasing child labor in two different ways: the ban decreased the proportion of working children and simultaneously decreased

 $^{^{22}}$ We further estimate the baseline results, but restricting the sample to the year 2015, i.e., shortly before and after the ban. The results in Table A4 in the Appendix show a similar pattern.

the proportion of children who would have otherwise (in the absence of the ban) entered employment.

The limited panel dimension of the data allows us to descriptively investigate differences between children who complied vs. children who did not comply with the ban. Table A7 in the Appendix shows the pre-ban descriptive characteristics. Children who complied with the ban are more likely to be enrolled in school, to work fewer hours, and are less likely to work in paid-employment than non-compliers. Compliers are less likely to work in the agricultural sector and more likely to work in the services sector. They come from households with fewer members, have slightly more educated parents, and are more likely to reside in larger localities i.e., more urbanized areas.

Finally, in Figure 2.A2, we show further descriptive statistics for household income and secondary completion rates. We focus on three groups of individuals in the treatment group i) individuals who were not employed pre-ban, ii) individuals who were employed pre-ban and complied with the ban, and iii) individuals who were employed pre-ban and did not comply with the regulation. The figure shows, that the share of individuals who complete secondary level, steadily increases for the first two groups. About 40 percent of individuals who were not employed pre-ban or who complied with the ban report having completed secondary school at age 16. The share of secondary school completion is much lower for individuals who did not comply with the ban. While this could be fully attributed to income differences, the graph below shows household income per capita for these three groups. Household income per capita for children who work pre-ban is very similar. After the ban, income per capita increases slightly for the group of non-compliers and decreases for the group of compliers. The graph shows that removing a child from employment could have an impact on household income in the short-run. This decrease however, may be compensated in the future due to higher completion schooling completion rates for the group of compliers.

2.5.2 Constitutional Amendment vs. Labor Law Reform

Next, we analyze the difference between the impact of the Constitutional Amendment in 2014 and the change in the Labor Law in 2015. This empirical exercise is of particular interest because it allows us to examine possible anticipation effects, as well as differences in the impact of the two changes to the legal framework. In addition, to show that our estimated coefficients are not driven by underlying trends we also provide the results of a placebo reform introduced in 2013. For each of these policy changes, we estimate the results using a within-cohort approach, where the affected cohorts are determined by the year when the (placebo) policy is changed i.e., 1998 cohort for the placebo ban, 1999 cohort for the Constitutional Amendment, and 2000 cohort for the Labor Law reform.

 Table 2.4: Effect of the Child Labor Ban: Placebo, Constitution

 Amendment, and Labor Law Reform

	Ι	II	III
	A. Se	chool enroll	ment
Treat cohort 1998 x Placebo-ban 2013	0.011	_	_
	(0.007)		
Treat cohort 1999 x Constitutional Amendment 2014	_	0.019^{***}	—
		(0.007)	
Treat cohort 2000 x Post-ban 2015	—	_	0.022^{***}
			(0.004)
Observations	80,976	$105,\!554$	123,487
	В.	Employme	ent
Treat cohort 1998 x Placebo-ban 2013	-0.001	_	_
	(0.006)		
Treat cohort 1999 x Constitutional Amendment 2014	_	-0.004	_
		(0.004)	
Treat cohort 2000 x Post-ban 2015	_	—	-0.012^{**}
			(0.005)
Observations	80,976	$105,\!554$	$123,\!487$

Notes: – Year 2015 corresponds to the year the child labor law changed. Results are obtained from DiD models. the regressions include the full set of controls, state fixed effects, quarter-by-year fixed effects and state-specific time trend.– Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the birth month-survey year). – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Table 2.4 reports the results focusing on school enrollment (panel A) and employment (panel B). The results of the placebo ban reported in column I are not statistically significant for schooling nor for employment, reducing the concern that our findings are driven by underlying group-specific trends.

Turning to the results of the Constitutional Amendment in 2014 reported in column II, we observe a statistically significant increase in the probability to be enrolled in school; however this coefficient represents a small increase in schooling in comparison to the pre-ban mean. We further observe no impact on the probability of being employed. The estimated coefficient is close to zero and not statistically significant. In contrast, the estimated coefficients for the reform to the Labor Law in 2015 in column III, are larger in magnitude and are both statistically significant.²³

While we cannot test directly why the Constitutional Amendment only operates through schooling rates, newspaper articles can provide some evidence on these results. The public coverage in newspaper and official government channels of the Constitutional Amendment in 2014 justified the increase in working age as a mechanism to decrease schooling dropout rates (see e.g., DOF, 2014; Senado de la República, 2014).

In contrast, the newspaper coverage in 2015 of the reform to the Labor Law, highlighted specifically the restrictions and penalties imposed for potential violations to the law (see e.g., Martínez, 2015). These findings suggest that a mere shift in the minimum working age without establishing i) concrete penalties for violations to the law, ii) the corresponding legal framework and its enforcement, so that child labor is not simply shifted from one group to another, is not an effective tool to decrease child labor rates.

 $^{^{23}}$ We further estimated the results with a sample pooling the cohorts to jointly evaluate the impact of the change in 2014, 2015, and the placebo ban. The estimated coefficients are qualitatively similar and are available upon request.

2.5.3 Long-Run Results

Next, we estimate if the labor force reform in 2015 had persistent effects over time. We extend the time frame for the analysis from 2012 to 2019 and follow the cohort born in 2000 until they reach adulthood. The empirical strategy follows the same logic as in Eq. (2.1), but we estimate the effect by survey-year to observe i) differences between treatment and control groups in the pre-treatment period, ii) differences in the period after the reform, and iii) if these differences are persistent over time.

For this analysis, we focus on the same outcome variables: school enrollment and the probability of being employed.²⁴ However, as working may not be a disadvantage as the cohort gets older and is permitted to work after individuals turn 15; therefore, we investigate the impact on other employment variables that may hinder education i.e., being employed full-time or being employed conditional on not being in education.

Figure 2.2 reports the point estimates and the confidence interval at the 95% level by survey-year. The reference year is 2012. All graphs show no significant differences between treatment and control group in the pre-treatment period. For the post-treatment period, we observe a significant increase in school enrollment and a decrease in employment mainly driven by: a decrease in the probability of working full-time and/or in the probability of working and being out of school (lower panel). Similar to the findings for Brazil (Piza and Souza, 2016), these effects seem to last until at least the age of 18, once the individual reaches adulthood. After 2018, individuals in the treatment group reach adulthood and all previous restrictions to enter the labor force do not apply anymore. In this year, there is a spike in school enrollment and employment for the treatment group, which is most likely driven by the slight age difference between groups. The control group reaches adulthood sooner than the treatment group, which leads to a decrease in their school enrollment and

²⁴The main drawback is that the cohort is still young and has not completed their education, which hinders us from estimating the results on high-school or university completion.



Figure 2.2: IMPACT OF BAN BY YEAR - LONG RUN Source: ENOE, authors' analysis.

Notes: – The results are obtained from linear regression models including the full set of controls, fixed effects, and a state-specific linear time trend. Confidence intervals are reported at the 95% level and the standard errors are calculated at the month of birth-survey year level. The results focus on the cohorts born in 2000. The treatment takes the value 1 if the individuals were born after June 13th. The ban was officially enacted on the third quarter of 2015.

an increase in their labor force participation relative to the treatment group. In 2019 when both groups have reached adulthood this spike disappears; however, we continue to observe significant differences for the treatment group, but the differences are smaller.

Finally, we estimate the results of a placebo ban in 2013, for the unaffected cohort born in 1998 and report the results in Figure 2.3. The results of the placebo ban show no statistically significant differences in the probability of being enrolled in school or working between treatment and control groups for the pre- and post-treatment periods, nor for the probability of working full-time or working and being out of school. These results further



Figure 2.3: IMPACT OF BAN BY YEAR - LONG RUN: PLACEBO BAN IN 2013 Source: ENOE , authors' analysis.

support the findings in Figure 2.2 showing that the effect of the ban on school enrollment and employment is a causal estimate and not mere correlations.

2.5.4 Heterogeneous Effects

To further analyze the main drivers of the reduction in child labor, we estimate the impact focusing on gender differences, type of employment, and income (poverty) level differences focusing on the baseline specification for the short-run.

We start by analyzing differential impacts by gender and present the results for the interaction term in Table 2.5. Looking at the impact on school enrollment, the table shows

Notes: – The results are obtained from linear regression models including the full set of controls, fixed effects, age-linear time trends and a state-specific linear time trend. Confidence intervals are reported at the 95% level and the standard errors are calculated at the month of birth-survey year level. The results focus on the cohort born in 1998. The treatment takes the value 1 if the individuals were born after June 13th. The placebo ban is introduced in the third quarter of 2013.

Dependent variable:	School enrollment I	Hours worked II	Extensive margin III	Intensive margin IV
Effect of ban	0.036***	-1.865^{***}	-0.036^{***}	-1.938^{***}
	(0.006)	(0.251)	(0.007)	(0.725)
Male	-0.017^{***}	2.630^{***}	0.090^{***}	3.283^{***}
	(0.004)	(0.294)	(0.007)	(0.432)
Male x Effect of ban	-0.027^{***}	2.167^{***}	0.047^{***}	1.478^{**}
	(0.008)	(0.416)	(0.009)	(0.658)
Observations	$123,\!487$	123,487	$123,\!487$	15,911
\mathbb{R}^2	0.136	0.115	0.113	0.182

Table 2.5: Effect of Ban in 2015 by Gender

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. The data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2013 till 2017. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the birth month-survey year level). The regressions include the full set of controls, state fixed effects, quarter-by-year fixed effects and state-specific time trend.– *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

that after the ban girls increase their school enrollment by 3.6 percentage points. For boys, the effect is smaller at 0.9 percentage points. Turning to the child labor results, we find larger impacts for girls. Unlike Piza and Souza (2016), our results indicate that girls decrease their labor force participation to a larger extent than boys because girls are more likely to work in the secondary and tertiary sectors.²⁵ Column II shows that although boys tend to work more hours, girls are the ones who respond more strongly to the ban. Girls decrease total hours worked by almost 1.9 hours. The extensive margin (column III) and intensive margin (column IV) show a similar pattern.

Although these results may seem surprising, we provide additional descriptive statistics in Table A9 by gender. The table shows that indeed fewer girls work in comparison to boys, and on average, girls work less hours per week than boys. However, the largest differences are found in the sector of work: the majority of girls work in the tertiary sector (74% in

 $^{^{25}}$ In 2013 (pre-ban), the total number of children and adolescents between 5 and 17 years of age engaged in economic activities was 2.5 million, 67.4% were male and 32.6% were female MTI (2013).

43

contrast to 50% of boys), followed by the secondary sector (16% in contrast to 18% for boys), and the primary sector (10% in contrast to 39% for boys).²⁶

To further examine the heterogeneous effect for the type of employment, we test how the ban affects formal vs. informal work, paid vs. unpaid work, and sector of employment and report the results in Table 2.6.²⁷ The results show a decrease in the probability of being employed in the formal and informal sectors (column I and II). Yet, when examining paid and unpaid work (columns III and IV), we observe that the ban had a stronger negative impact on paid activities. The coefficient for unpaid work is close to zero and not statistically significant. The impact of the ban by sector of employment (columns V-VII) shows no significant impact on agricultural work (primary), but a reduction on employment in manufactures (secondary) and services (tertiary).

Dependent variable:	Formal	Informal	Paid	Unpaid	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary
	Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI	VII
Treated x Post-ban	-0.004^{***} (0.001)	-0.010^{*} (0.005)	-0.017^{***} (0.004)	0.003 (0.003)	-0.001 (0.003)	-0.007^{***} (0.002)	-0.011^{***} (0.004)
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Observations} \\ \text{R}^2 \end{array}$	$108,037 \\ 0.021$	$123,026 \\ 0.109$	$117,\!372 \\ 0.100$	$113,703 \\ 0.064$	$111,335 \\ 0.135$	$110,960 \\ 0.050$	$116,054 \\ 0.047$

Table 2.6: Effect of Ban in 2015: Formal, Paid Employment, and Sector

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. The data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2013 till 2017. The regressions include the full set of controls, state fixed effects, quarter-by-year fixed effects and state-specific time trend. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the birth month-survey year level). – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

This is consistent with the idea that subsistence work (which usually takes the form of unpaid agricultural activities) will remain unaltered because the family depends on it to cover their basic needs (see e.g., Basu *et al.*, 2010). These results also explain the larger decrease in employment for girls, who tend to work in the secondary and tertiary sectors,

 $^{^{26}}$ In addition, looking at the occupation level the top-5 occupations for boys are farming, fishing and forestry (39%), retail trade (21%), manufactures (12%), hotel and food services (9%), and construction (6%). For girls the top-5 occupations are retail trade (41%), hotel and food services (18%), manufactures (16%), farming, fishing, forestry (10%), other services (9%).

²⁷The number of observations differs from the previous results. The underlying sample is the same; however, the variables are set to missing for some groups. For example, the variable formal is equal to one if the individual works in the formal sector. The same logic applies to the remaining variables.

while boys concentrate in the primary sector. The decrease in paid work as well as work in the secondary and tertiary sectors can also be explained by a higher probability of the employer being subject to penalties.

Most of the penalties e.g., through inspections, take place in urban areas for the services and manufacture industries. For potential employers it is costlier to hire underage individuals because of the new set of regulations to hire individuals under the age of 18, and in case of violations they are more likely to be subject to a penalty. Although these restrictions could be overseen for employers in the informal sector, if child labor is visible²⁸ they could also be subject to penalties.

		-		
Dependent variable:	$\begin{array}{c} \mathbf{Full-time} \\ \mathbf{I} \end{array}$	Contract II	Benefits III	$\frac{\text{Ln}(\text{wage})^a}{\text{IV}}$
Treated x Post-ban	-0.043^{***} (0.016)	-0.014^{***} (0.004)	-0.008^{*} (0.004)	$0.048 \\ (0.033)$
Mean	.293	.0345	.028	2.863
$\begin{array}{c} Observations \\ R^2 \end{array}$	$15,832 \\ 0.151$	$15,832 \\ 0.076$	$15,832 \\ 0.078$	$8,928 \\ 0.145$

 Table 2.7: Effect of Ban in 2015 on Child Labor: Conditional on being Employed

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. The data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2013 till 2017. The regressions include the full set of controls, state fixed effects, quarter-by-year fixed effects and state-specific time trend.– Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at month of birth- survey year level). – ^a Conditional on receiving payment for work. – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Next, we examine specifically what happens for those children who continue to work i.e., at the sample conditional on being employed. Table 2.7 shows the results focusing on full-time work, access to a written contract, to social security benefits, and wages. After the ban, children in the treatment group are less likely to work full-time which is consistent with the new regulations established by the reform to the law. However, we also observe that those children who continue to work are less likely to have a written contract or access to benefits. Previous studies have found that enforcement of labor regulation can push workers

²⁸Examples include working in markets, selling goods or services in the streets, and packing goods.

to informality (Almeida and Carneiro, 2012). While we find an overall decrease in informal and formal employment, we observe that conditional on being employed, the ban decreases the work of children aged 14 leading the treatment group to decrease the probability of having a contract or access to benefits. We find no significant impact on wages.

We also explore if the results are heterogeneous using different definitions to proxy the poverty level of the household. The results are reported in Figure 2.4, which show the point estimates and confidence intervals of the effect of the ban interacted with the respective income (regional) classification. The figure reports marginal effects.



Figure 2.4: HETEROGENEOUS IMPACTS OF THE CHILD LABOR BAN *Source:* ENOE , authors' analysis.

Notes: - Each panel shows for the years 2013 till 2017 the marginal effects of interacting the "Treated x Post-ban" indicator with the respective categorical variable i.e., poverty level, marginalization index, locality size, and income quantile. The results are calculated using as the dependent variable a binary variable indicating if the child i) is employed and ii) is enrolled in school. The regressions include the full set of control variables, time fixed effects, and a state-specific time trend. Panel A shows the results of an interaction between the effect of the ban and a poverty indicator. This poverty variable indicates if the household lives in i) extreme poverty, ii) moderate poverty, or iii) above the poverty line.²⁹ Second, in Panel B, we show the results interacting the effect of the ban with the household income per person in quantiles.

In Panel C, we focus on the locality size which captures the urbanization level and is also correlated with the poverty level of the region. Finally, in Panel D, we focus on a categorical indicator that reflects if the municipality where the child lives has a low, average, or high marginalization index and interact it with the effect of the ban, using data from the (CONAPO, 2019).

Accordingly, Figure 2.4 shows that the probability of being employed decreases for children who live in poor households (panels A and B). The effect is concentrated for children living below the extreme poverty line and for the lowest income quantiles. The results on school enrollment are positive and significant for all poverty categories and income quantiles. In contrast, the decrease in employment mainly happens in areas with a low marginalization level, which are mostly urban areas (panels C and D). The increase in the probability to attend school, is also driven by children living in these areas.

Taken together, the results in Figure 2.4 suggest that children who are poor, but who live in urban areas are the ones that respond more to the ban. If child labor would only be present in rural areas or only in very low income families, then the results in this section may not represent a large reduction in employment. However, the descriptive statistics in Table A10 show that 34% of children who work aged 14-17 live in urban areas, and that 77% of children who work live in households that are extremely poor, or poor, and 23% of the working children live in households above the poverty line.

 $^{^{29}}$ For this classification, we use information of the yearly average costs of the basket for rural and urban areas provided by the CONEVAL (2020).

	School enrollment I	Employment II	Extensive margin III	Intensive margin IV
Banned 1 month x Post-ban	0.018^{***}	-0.021	0.005	0.351
	(0.004)	(0.213)	(0.006)	(0.687)
Banned 2 months x Post-ban	0.003	-0.544^{***}	-0.012^{**}	-0.638
	(0.006)	(0.174)	(0.006)	(0.762)
Banned 3 months x Post-ban	0.025^{***}	-0.779^{***}	-0.016^{**}	-0.642
	(0.006)	(0.268)	(0.006)	(0.970)
Banned 4 months x Post-ban	0.019**	-0.713^{***}	-0.013^{**}	-0.048
	(0.008)	(0.205)	(0.006)	(0.934)
Banned 5 months x Post-ban	0.021^{***}	-1.160^{***}	-0.018^{***}	-1.127
	(0.006)	(0.196)	(0.005)	(1.000)
Banned 6 months x Post-ban	0.029***	-1.563^{***}	-0.028^{***}	-1.453
	(0.006)	(0.182)	(0.006)	(1.113)
Observations	$123,\!487$	$123,\!487$	$123,\!487$	15,911
\mathbb{R}^2	0.136	0.114	0.112	0.182

Table 2.8:	$\mathbf{E}\mathbf{F}\mathbf{F}\mathbf{E}\mathbf{C}\mathbf{T}$	OF	THE	LABOR	LAW	Refor	M IN	2015	ON	School	Enrol	LMENT
		A	ND I	ABOR	Outc	OMES:	Con	TINUO	us ′	FREATME	NT	

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. Data are from the ENOE for the years 2013 till 2017.– Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the birth month-survey year level). – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Finally, Table 2.8 shows the results focusing on a categorical definition of the treatment (instead of a binary cutoff). In this specification, we define the treatment based on the number of months the child has to wait in order to qualify to work and estimate the results. We observe consistent results as in the baseline. However, the results are stronger for children who are further away from the cutoff meaning that if children have to wait for longer months in order to qualify to work, they will be more likely to attend school and less likely to work. For children who are very close to the cutoff, i.e., who only have to wait one month in order to qualify, the impacts on employment vanish.

2.5.5 Robustness Checks

A potential concern is that employment is simply shifted from younger siblings to older siblings. We show this empirically, by estimating the impact of the reform on individuals who have a younger sibling affected by the reform. The same logic applies as in Eq.(2.1); however, we define the treatment as individuals aged 15 to 17 years old who have a younger sibling aged 7 to 14 years old and, thus, banned from the labor force. For the comparison group, we focus on individuals aged 15 to 17 years old that have no younger siblings aged 7 to 14. Table 2.9 shows no significant effects on the ban on the labor force participation of individuals who have a younger sibling affected by the ban.

Dependent variable:	School enrollment I	Hours worked II	Extensive margin III	Intensive margin IV
Ind. has a sibling banned from LF	0.013***	-0.032	0.005^{**}	-0.582^{***}
	(0.002)	(0.075)	(0.002)	(0.204)
Post-ban	-0.252^{***}	11.539^{***}	0.282^{***}	13.656^{***}
	(0.020)	(0.798)	(0.020)	(2.007)
Banned sibling x Post-ban	0.006^{*}	-0.065	-0.003	-0.178
	(0.003)	(0.129)	(0.003)	(0.319)
State FE	yes	yes	yes	yes
Quarter-by-year FE	yes	yes	yes	yes
Month of birth FE	yes	yes	yes	yes
State-specific trend	yes	yes	yes	yes
Observations	271,985	271,985	271,985	57,119
R ²	0.154	0.114	0.117	0.114

Table 2.9: Effect of Ban in 2015 for Older Siblings

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. The data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2013 till 2017. – Robust standard errors in parentheses. the regressions include the full set of controls, birth rank, state fixed effects, quarter-by-year fixed effects and state-specific time trend.– *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Next, we address the main concern that our estimates could be partially driven by the age difference between our treatment and control group. In Table 2.10 we test the sensitivity of our results implementing across-cohort comparisons. We provide the results focusing on a

	Ι	II	III
	A. Se	chool enrol	lment
Treat cohort 1997/1998 x Placebo-ban 2013	0.003	_	_
	(0.006)		
Treat cohort 1998/1999 x Constitutional Amendment 2014		0.011^{**}	_
		(0.005)	
Treat cohort $1999/2000 \ge Post-ban 2015$	_	· _ /	0.009^{*}
			(0.005)
Observations	$140,\!054$	$186,\!545$	229,068
	В.	Employme	ent
Treat cohort 1997/1998 x Placebo-ban 2013	-0.005	_	
	(0.005)		
Treat cohort 1998/1999 x Constitutional Amendment 2014	/	-0.003	_
,		(0.005)	
Treat cohort $1999/2000 \ge Post-ban 2015$	_	· _ /	-0.008^{*}
			(0.005)
Observations	$140,\!043$	$186{,}530$	229,041

Table 2.10: Effect of the Child Labor Ban: Placebo, Constitution Amendment, and Labor Law Reform - Two Cohort Definition

Notes: – Year 2015 corresponds to the year the child labor law changed. Results are obtained from DiD models. the regressions include the full set of controls, state fixed effects, quarter-by-year fixed effects and state-specific time trend.– Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the birth month survey-year level). – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

placebo ban in 2013 (column I), on the Constitutional Amendment in 2014 (column II), and on the shift to the Labor Law in 2015 (column III).

For this specification, we focus on the cohort directly affected and the cohort born one year earlier. For instance, for the Labor Law reform in 2015, we use information on the cohorts born in 1999 and 2000 (see Table A1 in the Appendix for the full description). The treatment group is defined as individuals who are born in the second half of the year (June to December), and the control group as all individuals born in the first half of the year (January to June). We interact this variable with a policy variable that takes the value 1 after June 2015. We include the full set of control variables, fixed effects, and further control for cohort fixed effects. The results show a very similar pattern as in the baseline results, with slightly smaller point estimates. The coefficients, show that on average children in the treatment are more likely to enroll in school, and are less likely to work.

In Table A8 in the Appendix we further refine the definition of the treatment and control group of the across-cohort comparison, by restricting the sample to individuals who are born in the second half of the year e.g., for the baseline estimates we define the treatment group as individuals born between June and December of 2000, and the control group as individuals born between June and December of 1999. Similarly, for the Constitutional Amendment and placebo reform we focus on the cohorts 1997-1998 and 1998-1999, respectively. The estimates remain robust. We observe an increase in schooling and a decrease in employment when focusing on the Labor Law reform in 2015.

2.6 Conclusion

This paper adds to the scarce empirical research on the effect of child labor bans on school enrollment and child labor in developing countries and reconciles previous findings (see e.g. Piza and Souza, 2017; Bharadwaj *et al.*, 2020; Bargain and Boutin, 2021).

We provide evidence of two relevant events that define the legislation in Mexico with respect to child labor: a Constitutional Amendment in 2014 that shifts the minimum working age from 14 to 15, and the reform to the Labor Law in 2015 that couples the increase in the minimum working age with i) concrete penalties for employers, ii) minimum schooling regulations to hire people under 18, and iii) specific regulations to hire individuals over the age of 15 but who have not reached legal adulthood.

Using data from the Mexican Labor Force Survey (ENOE), we implement a DiD approach that exploits the date of birth as a natural cutoff to assign individuals into treatment and control groups. Unlike child labor ban studies in India and Brazil (Bharadwaj *et al.*, 2020; Bargain and Boutin, 2021), we find that the ban indeed led to a decrease in child labor. However, this decrease is only observed after the reform of the Labor Law in 2015 included a more complex package of regulations to eradicate child labor.

Our results for the short-run, show that the reform led to an increase in the probability of being enrolled in school by 2.2 percentage points and to decrease in the probability to work by 1.2 percentage points. These results remain robust to the inclusion of individual fixed effects. This is a sizeable effect, as it is equivalent to an increase in school enrollment by 2% and a decrease in the child labor rate by 16%. Exactly at the threshold between 14 and 15, a back of the envelope calculation shows that due to the ban in 2015, 25 thousand teens who engaged in child labor activities stopped working and almost 50 thousand who would have likely dropped out of school to join the labor force did not drop out of school.

We show that the decrease in the probability to work is mainly driven by a decrease in paid activities and in the secondary and tertiary sectors. Unlike Piza and Souza (2016) we find that the ban has a stronger impact on the reduction of child labor for girls because they tend to work in these two sectors. We find no effect for children working in the agricultural sector or those who are living in highly marginalized rural communities. This is plausible as work for own-consumption purposes was excluded from the regulation. Instead the effects are concentrated among the poor population in urban regions. We also show that the increase in school enrollment and decrease in employment due to the ban is persistent over time. The treatment group is less likely to work full-time or to be employed and out of school after reaching legal adulthood.

The results in this study are of particular relevance given the current initiative to decrease the minimum working age in agriculture in Mexico from 18 to 16, which is currently being discussed in the Senate (Cantú, 2022). Agriculture is classified as a hazardous activity given that it often involves heavy physical work, the use of heavy equipment, and handling of toxic substances. If the shift is approved, policymakers should guarantee that young people in rural areas have appropriate working conditions and the corresponding opportunities to remain in school.

For policymakers, our study highlights the importance of policies that establish a minimum working age to join the labor force. These policies are a useful instrument not only to decrease child labor, but also to increase school enrollment. However, our results also show that the enforcement of the law is important and that a mere shift in the minimum working age is not effective if these policies are not coupled with on the one hand, concrete penalties for potential employers who might hire child labor, and on the other hand, with specific regulation to hire underage individuals (e.g., minimum education requirements, reduction in working hours). Finally, the limitations of these policies to decrease child labor related to subsistence work for very poor households in rural areas also needs to be acknowledged.

Appendix Chapter 2



Figure 2.A1: IMPACT OF BAN BY YEAR: TWO-COHORT DEFINITION Source: ENOE, authors' analysis.

Notes: - The results are obtained from linear regression models including the full set of controls, fixed effects, and a state-specific linear time trend. Confidence intervals are reported at the 95% level and the standard errors are calculated at the month of birth-survey year level. The results focus on the cohorts born in 1999 and 2000. The treatment takes the value 1 if the individuals were born after June 13th. The ban was officially enacted on the third quarter of 2015.



Figure 2.A2: Compliers vs Non-Compliers: HH Income and Secondary Completion

 $Source:\ {\rm ENOE}$, authors' analysis.

Notes: - The sample is restricted to working children born between June 13 and December 31 who were banned from the labor force, and are surveyed both before and after the ban. The group "not employed" are children who were not employed pre-ban. The group "complier" refers to children who were employed pre-ban but dropped from the labor force post-ban. The group "non-complier" are children who were employed pre-ban, but did not drop from the labor force post-ban.

Table A1: SUMMARY OF TREATMENT AND CONTROL GROUPS

Policy change	Main change	Group	Within-cohort approach	Across-cohort approach	Across-cohort approach (second half)
Constitution Amendment: June 17th, 2014	Minimum working age shift from 14 to 15.	Treatment Control	$\frac{17/06-31}{12}, 1999 \\ 01/01-16/06, 1999$	17/06-31/12, 1998 and 1999 01/01-16/06, 1998 and 1999	$\frac{17/06-31}{12}, 1999$ $\frac{17/06-31}{12}, 1998$
Labor Law Reform: June 12th, 2015	Minimum working age shift from 14 to 15. Work regulation for individuals aged 15-17 Penalties for violations	Treatment Control	12/06-31/12, 2000 01/01-11/06, 2000	12/06-31/12, 1999 and 2000 01/01-11/06, 1999 and 2000	$\begin{array}{c} 12/06 - 31/12, \ 2000 \\ 12/06 - 31/12, \ 1999 \end{array}$
Placebo Reform: June 12th, 2013	Placebo	Treatment Control	12/06-31/12, 1998 01/01-11/06, 1998	12/06-31/12, 1997 and 1998 $01/01-11/06$, 1997 and 1998	12/06-31/12, 1998 12/06-31/12, 1997

Notes: – The table presents a summary of all cutoff dates to define treatment and control groups for the Constitutional Amendment, the reform to the Labor Law, and the Placebo reform.

	1	A 11	Trea	tment	Co	Control	
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Δ Mean ^a
Dependent variables							
Attends school	0.831	0.375	0.843	0.363	0.813	0.390	0.030***
Employed	0.193	0.394	0.181	0.385	0.209	0.406	-0.028^{***}
Total hours worked	5.874	14.533	5.368	13.881	6.565	15.352	-1.197^{***}
Conditional hours worked	30.504	18.590	29.684	18.542	31.474	18.601	-1.790^{***}
Cond. Dependent variables							
Informal work	0.957	0.203	0.962	0.192	0.951	0.216	0.011***
Paid employment	0.702	0.457	0.687	0.464	0.719	0.449	-0.032^{***}
Sector							
Primary	0.206	0.404	0.210	0.407	0.201	0.401	0.009
Secondary	0.238	0.426	0.235	0.424	0.242	0.429	-0.007
Tertiary	0.556	0.497	0.555	0.497	0.557	0.497	-0.001
Contract	0.050	0.219	0.042	0.200	0.061	0.239	-0.019^{***}
Benefits	0.042	0.201	0.038	0.190	0.048	0.214	-0.011^{***}
Full-time	0.371	0.483	0.350	0.477	0.397	0.489	-0.048^{***}
Hourly wage	15.329	35.151	14.922	27.179	15.811	42.708	-0.890
Control variables							
Treatment	0.577	0.494	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	1.000
Post-ban	1.000	0.000	1.000	0.000	1.000	0.000	0.000
Male	0.519	0.500	0.516	0.500	0.522	0.500	-0.005
Age	15.841	0.759	15.642	0.713	16.114	0.734	-0.472^{***}
Household size	4.937	1.593	4.918	1.575	4.963	1.617	-0.045^{***}
Month of birth	6.663	3.439	9.190	1.889	3.211	1.572	5.979^{***}
Both parents present	0.748	0.434	0.745	0.436	0.753	0.431	-0.008^{**}
Family order							
First-born	0.491	0.500	0.488	0.500	0.495	0.500	-0.008^{*}
Second-born	0.251	0.434	0.250	0.433	0.252	0.434	-0.002
Last-born	0.258	0.438	0.262	0.440	0.253	0.434	0.010^{**}
Mother's education level							
No education	0.041	0.198	0.036	0.187	0.047	0.212	-0.011^{***}
Primary education	0.266	0.442	0.262	0.440	0.270	0.444	-0.008^{**}
Secondary education	0.362	0.481	0.369	0.482	0.353	0.478	0.016^{***}
High-school	0.143	0.350	0.147	0.355	0.137	0.344	0.010***
Vocational training	0.071	0.257	0.070	0.256	0.072	0.258	-0.001
University degree	0.118	0.322	0.115	0.319	0.121	0.326	-0.006^{**}
Father's education level							
No Education	0.279	0.448	0.281	0.449	0.277	0.447	0.004
Primary education	0.204	0.403	0.199	0.400	0.210	0.407	-0.010^{***}
Secondary education	0.246	0.430	0.249	0.432	0.241	0.428	0.008**
High-school	0.129	0.335	0.129	0.335	0.130	0.336	-0.001
Vocational training	0.025	0.157	0.027	0.161	0.023	0.151	0.004^{**}
University degree	0.117	0.322	0.116	0.320	0.119	0.324	-0.004
Locality size							
More than 100.000 inhabitants	0.538	0.499	0.537	0.499	0.539	0.498	-0.002
15,000-99,999 inhabitants	0.139	0.346	0.137	0.344	0.142	0.349	-0.005^{*}
2,500-14,999 inhabitants	0.140	0.347	0.141	0.348	0.138	0.345	0.003
Less than 2,500 inhabitants	0.183	0.387	0.185	0.388	0.180	0.384	0.005
Observations	53,434		30,852		22,582		

Table A2: POST-BAN DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS

Notes: – The table presents descriptive statistics after the change in the minimum working age in 2015, that is from 2015 until 2017 taken from the ENOE. All children are born in the year 2000. Children in the control group are born between January 1 and June 12. Children in the treatment group are born between June 13 and December 31.

	Hours worked	Hours worked	Intensive margin	Intensive margin
	Ι	II	III	IV
Treated x Post-ban	-1.094^{***}	-0.745^{***}	-1.691^{***}	-0.900
	(0.199)	(0.157)	(0.487)	(0.592)
Male	3.177***	3.171***	3.879***	3.806***
	(0.266)	(0.267)	(0.334)	(0.334)
HH size	0.409***	0.409***	0.847***	0.833***
	(0.044)	(0.045)	(0.106)	(0.105)
Birth rank: Ref.: First-born	()	× /	()	()
Middle-born	-0.023	-0.035	0.266	0.173
	(0.104)	(0.105)	(0.416)	(0.412)
Last-born	-0.467^{***}	-0.463^{***}	0.117	0.077
	(0.078)	(0.078)	(0.388)	(0.375)
Both parents present	1.249***	1.232***	0.012	0.090
	(0.367)	(0.362)	(0.914)	(0.918)
Mother's education level: Ref.: None	(0.001)	(0100_)	(010)	(01020)
Primary education	-2.266^{***}	-2.256^{***}	-2.729^{***}	-2.734^{***}
i imai j sudouton	(0.297)	(0.296)	(0.656)	(0.631)
Secondary education	-3409^{***}	-3.396^{***}	-4.987^{***}	-5.062^{***}
Secondary education	(0.333)	(0.333)	(0.702)	(0.687)
High-school	-4.350^{***}	-4.331^{***}	-8.494***	-8.574^{***}
ingh bonool	(0.416)	(0.417)	(0.873)	(0.862)
Vocational training	$-4 434^{***}$	$-4 440^{***}$	-7.984^{***}	-8.036^{***}
vocational training	(0.441)	(0.441)	(0.958)	(0.951)
University degree	-5.055^{***}	-5.044^{***}	-10.919^{***}	-10.951^{***}
omversity degree	(0.475)	(0.478)	(0.879)	(0.880)
Father's education level. Ref . None/Father not present	(0.110)	(0.410)	(0.013)	(0.000)
Primary education	-1 186***	-1 160***	-0.854	-0.961
i imaiy outcouloir	(0.388)	(0.386)	(0.846)	(0.834)
Secondary education	-2.449^{***}	-2.419^{***}	-2.768^{***}	-2.785^{***}
Secondary education	(0.412)	(0.408)	(0.925)	(0.919)
High-school	-3.013^{***}	-2.997^{***}	-4.696^{***}	(0.313) -4 770***
mgn-school	(0.420)	(0.416)	(0.919)	(0.908)
Vocational training	(0.420) -3 150***	(0.410) - 3 1/1***	(0.313) -7.020***	(0.308) -6.886***
vocational training	(0.424)	(0.418)	(1.301)	(1.405)
University degree	2 082***	3 060***	5 800***	5 770***
Oniversity degree	-3.005	(0.400)	(0.033)	-3.119
Locality size: $P_{of} \cdot > 100,000$ in babitante	(0.410)	(0.409)	(0.333)	(0.340)
Locally size. Ref. $> 100,000$ inhabitants	0 504***	0 502***	0.530	0.613
15,000-99,999 milabitants	(0.192)	(0.193)	(0.539)	(0.584)
2 500 14 000 inhabitanta	(0.123) 0.426***	(0.124) 0.424***	(0.500) 1 547***	(0.364) 1 480***
2,500-14,999 innabitants	(0.430)	(0.424)	-1.047	-1.480
Loss then 2 500 inhabitants	(0.144)	(0.145)	(0.491)	(0.511)
Less than 2,500 mnabitants	(0.956)	(0.128)	-3.039	-2.963
Constant	(0.130)	(0.128)	(0.520)	(0.000)
Constant	(0.350)	(0.029)	(1.556)	(2.272)
	(0.307)	(0.352)	(1.550)	(2.373)
State FE	yes	yes	yes	yes
Quarter-by-year FE	yes	yes	yes	yes
Month of birth FE	no	yes	no	yes
State-specific trend	yes	yes	yes	yes
Observations	193 487	123 487	15 011	15 011
B ²	0 110	0.114	0.174	0.191
10	0.110	0.114	0.174	0.101

Table A3: Effect of Child Labor Ban on Total Hours Worked and on Conditional Hours Worked

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. The data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2013 till 2017. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the birth month-survey year level). – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

	School enrollment I	Employment II	Extensive margin III	Intensive margin IV
Treated x Post-ban	0.039^{***} (0.009)	-0.018^{*} (0.008)	-0.967^{***} (0.309)	-3.423^{*} (1.779)
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Observations} \\ \text{R}^2 \end{array}$	$25,373 \\ 0.099$	$25,373 \\ 0.099$	$25,373 \\ 0.086$	$2,927 \\ 0.129$

Table A	4:	Effect	\mathbf{OF}	Child	LABOR	Ban	ON	Total	Hours	WORKED	AND	ON
		(Con	IDITION	JAL HOU	JRS W	/OR	KED FO	r the Y	/EAR 2015	5	

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. The regressions include information for the year 2015 i.e., six months before the reform and six months after, to analyze immediate effects. the regressions include the full set of controls, state fixed effects, quarter-by-year fixed effects and state-specific time trend. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the birth month-survey year level). – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Table A5	: Effect	OF	Ban	IN	2015	ON	CHILD	LABOR:	Alternative Std.	Error
							CLUST	TERING		

Dependent variable:	School enrollment I	Hours worked II	Extensive margin III	Intensive margin IV
A. Baseline: Birth	Month and S	Survey Yea	r	
Treated x Post-ban	0.022^{***}	-0.755^{***}	-0.012^{**}	-0.915
	(0.004)	(0.157)	(0.005)	(0.598)
Observations	$123,\!487$	$123,\!487$	$123,\!487$	15,911
B. Birth Month an	d State			
Treated x Post-ban	0.022^{***}	-0.755^{***}	-0.012^{**}	-0.915
	(0.006)	(0.210)	(0.006)	(0.608)
Observations	123,487	123,487	123,487	15,911
C. Birthday (day, 1	nonth)			
Treated x Post-ban	0.022***	-0.755^{***}	-0.012^{**}	-0.915
	(0.006)	(0.197)	(0.006)	(0.608)
Observations	123,487	123,487	123,487	15,911
D. Birth month				
Treated x Post-ban	0.022***	-0.755^{**}	-0.012	-0.915
	(0.005)	(0.272)	(0.009)	(0.588)
Observations	123,487	$123,\!487$	123,487	15,911

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. The data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2013 till 2017. The regressions include the full set of controls, state fixed effects, quarter-by-year fixed effects, cohort fixed-effects, and state-specific time trend.–Standard errors in parentheses. – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

	School enrollment I	Employment II	Extensive margin III	Intensive margin IV
Treated x Post-ban	$\begin{array}{c} 0.022^{***} \\ (0.004) \end{array}$	-0.012^{**} (0.005)	-0.745^{***} (0.157)	-0.900 (0.592)
Individual FE Quarter-by-year FE State-specific trend	yes yes no	yes yes no	yes yes no	yes yes no
Observations R ²	$123,\!487$ 0.135	$123,487 \\ 0.112$	123,487 0.114	$15,911 \\ 0.181$

 Table A6: Effect of the Labor Law Reform in 2015 on School Enrollment

 AND LABOR OUTCOMES: EXCLUDING STATE-TRENDS

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. Data are from the ENOE for the years 2013 till 2017. These regressions exclude the state-specific time trend.– Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the birth month-survey year level). – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

	1	A 11	Com	pliers	Non-Compliers		Compliers T-test	
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Δ Mean ^a	
Dependent variables								
Attends school	0.817	0.387	0.884	0.320	0.689	0.463	0.195^{***}	
Conditional hours worked	22.802	16.796	20.323	15.715	26.506	17.685	-6.183^{***}	
Cond. Dependent variables								
Informal work	0.994	0.079	0.995	0.072	0.992	0.088	0.003	
Paid employment	0.360	0.480	0.321	0.467	0.440	0.497	-0.119^{***}	
Sector								
Primary	0.312	0.463	0.258	0.438	0.392	0.489	-0.134^{***}	
Secondary	0.193	0.395	0.191	0.394	0.196	0.398	-0.005	
Tertiary	0.495	0.500	0.551	0.498	0.412	0.493	0.139^{***}	
Contract	0.008	0.088	0.010	0.102	0.004	0.062	0.007	
Benefits	0.008	0.088	0.005	0.072	0.012	0.108	-0.006	
Part-time	0.369	0.483	0.364	0.481	0.379	0.486	-0.015	
Hourly wage	9.548	15.741	9.889	17.553	9.039	12.571	0.850	
Control variables								
Treatment	1.000	0.000	1.000	0.000	1.000	0.000	0.000	
Post-ban	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
Male	0.738	0.440	0.686	0.465	0.838	0.369	-0.152^{***}	
Household size	5.433	1.870	5.365	1.810	5.560	1.974	-0.195^{*}	
Month of birth	9.006	1.871	9.098	1.859	8.831	1.882	0.268^{**}	
Both parents present	0.795	0.404	0.783	0.413	0.819	0.386	-0.036	
Family order								
First-born	0.424	0.494	0.436	0.496	0.402	0.491	0.034	
Second-born	0.344	0.475	0.335	0.472	0.360	0.481	-0.025	
Last-born	0.232	0.422	0.229	0.420	0.238	0.426	-0.009	
Mother's education level								
No education	0.080	0.272	0.056	0.230	0.127	0.333	-0.071^{***}	
Primary education	0.415	0.493	0.399	0.490	0.445	0.498	-0.046	
Secondary education	0.357	0.479	0.386	0.487	0.301	0.459	0.085^{***}	
High-school	0.072	0.258	0.068	0.252	0.078	0.268	-0.009	
Vocational training	0.037	0.188	0.051	0.220	0.009	0.097	0.042^{***}	
University degree	0.040	0.196	0.040	0.195	0.040	0.196	-0.000	
Father's education level								
No Education	0.258	0.438	0.272	0.445	0.231	0.422	0.041	
Primary education	0.341	0.474	0.307	0.461	0.405	0.491	-0.098^{***}	
Secondary education	0.270	0.444	0.280	0.449	0.252	0.435	0.028	
High-school	0.076	0.266	0.087	0.282	0.056	0.231	0.030^{*}	
Vocational training	0.022	0.147	0.021	0.144	0.024	0.152	-0.002	
University degree	0.033	0.180	0.034	0.180	0.033	0.179	0.001	
Locality size								
More than 100,000 inhabitants	0.320	0.467	0.363	0.481	0.240	0.428	0.123^{***}	
15,000-99,999 inhabitants	0.124	0.330	0.139	0.346	0.096	0.296	0.043^{**}	
2,500-14,999 inhabitants	0.172	0.377	0.178	0.382	0.160	0.367	0.018	
Less than 2,500 inhabitants	0.384	0.486	0.320	0.467	0.504	0.501	-0.183^{***}	
Observations	1,230		805		425			

Table A7: Descriptive Statistics Pre-Ban: Working Children Banned – Compliers and Non-Compliers

Notes: - The table presents descriptive statistics focusing on a limited panel dimension. The sample is restricted to working children born between June 13 and December 31 who were banned from the labor force, and are surveyed before and after the ban. The column compliers identifies children who stopped working after the ban. The column non-compliers includes children who did not stop working after the ban.

Table A8: Effect of the Child Labor Ban: Placebo, Constitution
Amendment, and Labor Law Reform - Two Cohorts (Born betwee
July and December)

	-)		
	Ι	II	III
	A. S	chool enroll	ment
Treat cohort 1997/1998 x Placebo-ban 2013	0.005 (0.007)	_	_
Treat cohort 1998/1999 x Constitutional Amendment 2014	- ´	0.019^{***} (0.007)	—
Treat cohort 1999/2000 x Post-ban 2015	_	_	0.021^{***} (0.006)
Observations	$84,\!925$	112,218	$136,\!454$
	В	. Employme	ent
Treat cohort 1997/1998 x Placebo-ban 2013	-0.004 (0.007)	_	—
Treat cohort 1998/1999 x Constitutional Amendment 2014	_	-0.008 (0.006)	—
Treat cohort 1999/2000 x Post-ban 2015	_	`_ ´	-0.023^{***} (0.005)
Observations	84,918	112,209	136,438

Notes: – Year 2015 corresponds to the year the child labor law changed. Results are obtained from DiD models. The regressions include the full set of controls, state fixed effects, quarter-by-year fixed effects and state-specific time trend.– Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the birth month-survey year level). – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Working	

	G	irls	В	oys	T-test
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	$\Delta \operatorname{Mean}^a$
Dependent variables					
Attends school	0.832	0.374	0.786	0.410	0.046^{***}
Employed	1.000	0.000	1.000	0.000	0.000
Total hours worked	18.126	14.258	21.557	16.290	-3.431^{***}
Conditional hours worked	18.126	14.258	21.557	16.290	-3.431^{***}
Cond. Dependent variables					
Informal work	0.999	0.035	0.996	0.061	0.003
Paid employment	0.394	0.489	0.481	0.500	-0.086^{***}
Sector					
Primary	0.096	0.294	0.391	0.488	-0.295^{***}
Secondary	0.163	0.370	0.182	0.386	-0.019^{*}
Tertiary	0.741	0.438	0.427	0.495	0.315^{***}
Contract	0.004	0.061	0.008	0.086	-0.004
Benefits	0.001	0.035	0.004	0.063	-0.003^{*}
Full-time	0.140	0.347	0.229	0.421	-0.089^{***}
Part-time	0.825	0.380	0.736	0.441	0.089^{***}
Hourly wage	7.382	15.719	8.501	15.421	-1.119^{**}
Observations	$1,\!625$		3,997		

Notes: – The table presents descriptive statistics for children aged 14 to 17 years old that are working before the change in Labor Law in 2015 accounting for the years 2013-2015 from the ENOE data.
	Working	g Children	Non-Work	T-test	
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Δ Mean ⁶
Dependent variables					
Attends school	0.799	0.401	0.968	0.177	-0.168^{**}
Employed	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	1.000
Conditional hours worked	20.566	15.805	0.000	0.000	20.566**
Male	0.711	0.453	0.488	0.500	0.223**
Age	13.586	0.894	13.344	0.894	0.241^{**}
Household size	5.465	1.849	4.997	1.538	0.469^{**}
Both parents present	0.778	0.416	0.792	0.406	-0.014^{**}
Month of birth	6.232	3.441	6.689	3.437	-0.457^{**}
Household income per person	1.369	1.736	1.637	2.017	-0.268^{**}
Poverty					
Non-poor	0.229	0.420	0.237	0.426	-0.009
Poor	0.333	0.471	0.405	0.491	-0.071^{**}
Extreme poor	0.438	0.496	0.358	0.479	0.080^{**}
Family order					
First-born	0.394	0.489	0.424	0.494	-0.030^{**}
Second-born	0.378	0.485	0.280	0.449	0.098^{**}
Last-born	0.229	0.420	0.297	0.457	-0.068^{**}
Mother's education level					
No education	0.095	0.293	0.037	0.188	0.058^{**}
Primary education	0.417	0.493	0.287	0.452	0.130^{**}
Secondary education	0.327	0.469	0.343	0.475	-0.016^{**}
High-school	0.085	0.279	0.134	0.341	-0.049^{**}
Vocational training	0.041	0.198	0.081	0.273	-0.040^{**}
University degree	0.035	0.184	0.119	0.324	-0.084^{**}
Father's education level					
No Education	0.281	0.449	0.231	0.422	0.049**
Primary education	0.350	0.477	0.222	0.416	0.127^{**}
Secondary education	0.235	0.424	0.256	0.436	-0.021^{**}
High-school	0.084	0.277	0.133	0.339	-0.049^{**}
Vocational training	0.014	0.117	0.030	0.172	-0.017^{**}
University degree	0.037	0.189	0.127	0.333	-0.090^{**}
Locality size					
More than 100,000 inhabitants	0.337	0.473	0.549	0.498	-0.211^{**}
15,000-99,999 inhabitants	0.137	0.344	0.132	0.339	0.005
2,500-14,999 inhabitants	0.166	0.372	0.132	0.338	0.034^{**}
Less than 2,500 inhabitants	0.360	0.480	0.187	0.390	0.173^{**}
Observations	5.622		64.431		

Table A10: Pre-Ban Descriptive Statistics: Working vs. Non-Working Children

Notes: – The table presents descriptive statistics for children aged 14 to 17 years old that are working vs. those children of the same age that are not working before the change in Labor Law in 2015 accounting for the years 2013-2015 taken from the ENOE data. ^a This column represents the difference between treatment and control and the respective p-value of the t-test.

	Working Children		Non-Wor	king Children	T-test
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	$\Delta \operatorname{Mean}^a$
Dependent variables					
Attends school	0.559	0.497	0.895	0.306	-0.337^{***}
Employed	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	1.000
Conditional hours worked	30.504	18.590	0.000	0.000	30.504^{***}
Male	0.715	0.452	0.472	0.499	0.243^{***}
Age	15.982	0.760	15.808	0.755	0.174^{***}
Household size	5.264	1.808	4.859	1.527	0.405^{***}
Both parents present	0.730	0.444	0.752	0.432	-0.022^{***}
Month of birth	6.361	3.401	6.735	3.445	-0.374^{***}
Household income per person	1.918	1.731	1.879	2.015	0.039^{*}
Poverty					
Non-poor	0.319	0.466	0.263	0.440	0.056^{***}
Poor	0.318	0.466	0.319	0.466	-0.001
Extreme poor	0.363	0.481	0.418	0.493	-0.055^{***}
Family order					
First-born	0.476	0.499	0.494	0.500	-0.018^{***}
Second-born	0.303	0.460	0.239	0.426	0.064^{***}
Last-born	0.221	0.415	0.267	0.442	-0.046^{***}
Mother's education level					
No education	0.079	0.270	0.032	0.175	0.047^{***}
Primary education	0.379	0.485	0.238	0.426	0.141^{***}
Secondary education	0.365	0.481	0.361	0.480	0.004
High-school	0.098	0.297	0.154	0.361	-0.056^{***}
Vocational training	0.037	0.188	0.079	0.270	-0.043^{***}
University degree	0.043	0.202	0.135	0.342	-0.093^{***}
Father's education level					
No Education	0.320	0.467	0.269	0.443	0.051^{***}
Primary education	0.309	0.462	0.179	0.383	0.130^{***}
Secondary education	0.236	0.425	0.248	0.432	-0.012^{**}
High-school	0.077	0.267	0.141	0.349	-0.064^{***}
Vocational training	0.013	0.113	0.028	0.165	-0.015^{***}
University degree	0.044	0.205	0.135	0.341	-0.091^{***}
Locality size					
More than 100,000 inhabitants	0.422	0.494	0.566	0.496	-0.144^{***}
15,000-99,999 inhabitants	0.142	0.349	0.138	0.345	0.004
2,500-14,999 inhabitants	0.156	0.362	0.136	0.343	0.019^{***}
Less than $2,500$ inhabitants	0.280	0.449	0.160	0.366	0.121^{***}
Observations	10,289		43,145		

Table A11:	Post-Ban	DESCRIPTIVE STAT	FISTICS:	Working	VS.	NON-WORKING		
	Children							

Notes: – The table presents descriptive statistics for children aged 14 to 17 years old that are working vs. those children of the same age that are not working before the change in Labor Law in 2015 accounting for the years 2015-2017 taken from the ENOE data. ^a This column represents the difference between treatment and control and the respective p-value of the t-test.

		2	018		2019				
	Treatment		Control		Treatment		Control		
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	
Dependent variables									
Attends school	0.740	0.438	0.692	0.462	0.618	0.486	0.571	0.495	
One Year of High School	0.680	0.466	0.726	0.446	0.755	0.430	0.768	0.422	
Completed High School	0.074	0.262	0.133	0.340	0.355	0.479	0.502	0.500	
Enrolled in University	0.002	0.049	0.010	0.100	0.055	0.229	0.093	0.290	
Completed Secondary Education	0.912	0.283	0.919	0.273	0.936	0.245	0.935	0.246	
Control variables									
Treatment	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
Observations	12,825		9,086		12,377		8,385		

Table A12: POST-BAN DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS FOR 2018 AND 2019

Notes: – The table presents descriptive statistics after the change in the minimum working age in 2015 for the years 2018 and 2019, respectively. All children are born in the year 2000. Children in the control group are born between January 1 and June 12. Children in the treatment group are born between June 13 and December 31.

3 School Attendance and Child Labor: Evidence from Mexico's Full-Time School Program*

Abstract: This paper examines the effect of a program that extended the length of the school day from part-time to full-time in Mexico, on school enrollment, time spent on schooling activities, as well as market and excessive domestic work of children aged 7 to 14. We further analyze possible spillover effects within the household focusing on older siblings and parents. To identify the effect, we take advantage of the staggered implementation of the Full-Time Schools (FTS) program across municipalities from 2009 to 2018. The results show that the FTS program has no impact on school enrollment, but increases the weekly hours allocated to schooling activities, and at the same time reduces child labor hours. A one standard deviation increase in the share of FTS reduces the probability of engaging in child labor by 0.9 percentage points, which implies a 12% reduction in child labor.

^{*}Co-authored with Fernanda Martínez Flores. This chapter contains minor revisions on a previous version published as: Kozhaya, M., & Martinez Flores, F. (2022). School attendance and child labor: Evidence from Mexico's Full-Time School program. *Economics of Education Review*, 90, 102294. We thank two anonymous referees, Thomas K. Bauer, Julia Bredtmann, Ira N. Gang, Melanie Khamis, Arndt Reichert, Kerstin Schneider, Anna Makles, Franz Westermaier for their constructive comments. We also thank the participants of the internal research seminars at Wesleyan University, the World Bank, University of Wuppertal, and RWI for helpful comments and suggestions. Janin Marquardt, Johanna Muffert, and Dominik Paluch provided excellent research assistance. All remaining errors are our own.

3.1 Introduction

In developing countries, one out of every four children is engaged in child labor (ILO, 2017). Child labor affects child's development negatively (Beegle *et al.*, 2009; Gunnarsson *et al.*, 2006; Holgado *et al.*, 2014) and has long-lasting consequences with respect to health, education, productivity, and wages later in life (Emerson and Souza, 2011b; O'Donnell *et al.*, 2005). In Latin America and the Caribbean, more than 10 million children are involved in forms of employment that do not comply with minimum age requirements and are hazardous or exploitative. Therefore, increasing school enrollment has been the centerpiece of global anti-child labor policies (U.S. Department of Labor, 2019) and several countries in Latin America have made important progress towards advancing the goal of achieving universal primary coverage.² Studies analyzing the impact of these initiatives targeted at increasing school enrollment and attendance find large increases in school attendance and much smaller decreases in child labor (see e.g., Skoufias *et al.*, 2001; Glewwe and Olinto, 2004; Maluccio and Flores, 2005; Ferro *et al.*, 2010; Attanasio *et al.*, 2010) because school attendance and child labor are not mutually exclusive (de Hoop and Rosati, 2014), and the trade-off between work and schooling is not clear-cut (Kondylis and Manacorda, 2012).³

In settings where primary coverage is almost universal, increasing school enrollment as an avenue for reducing child labor is exhausted. Therefore, current education policies are shifting from increasing schooling access to improving learning opportunities e.g., through the extension of the school day and Full-Time School programs (FTS) (UNESCO, 2015).⁴

²In Mexico, for example, from 1990 to 2015, school enrollment increased from 89.4% to 97.7% for children aged 6-11 and from 78.6% to 93.3% for children aged 12-14 (INEE, 2018a). Yet, in 2017 Mexico continued to account for over 30% (3.2 million) children engaged in child labor (INEGI, 2018a). In absolute terms, Brazil, Mexico, and Peru have the highest number of working children. As percentage of the population, Bolivia, Paraguay, and Peru have the highest child labor rates (CEPAL, 2019).

 $^{^{3}}$ See de Hoop and Rosati (2014) for an extensive literature review of the evidence on the impact of initiatives to increase school enrollment and attendance, in particular, conditional in-kind or cash transfer, on schooling and child labor.

⁴Longer school days have been implemented in Chile, Uruguay, Colombia, Mexico, Brazil, among others.

Yet, little is known about how increasing school instruction time has an impact on both school enrollment and child labor.⁵ Our paper aims at filling this gap. On the one hand, increasing school instruction time could lead to a direct impact on child labor by increasing the marginal returns to education, which could lead to higher wages for the child in the future, thereby compensating the household for the loss of child's income today (Edmonds, 2007). On the other hand, FTS indirectly subsidize childcare, freeing the time of other household members to increase their labor supply and substitute child labor for adult labor (Basu and Van, 1998). This study is the first to investigate the causal effect of a FTS program on child labor. We focus on a range of child labor indicators that cover market work, excessive domestic work, weekly hours worked, as well as extensive and intensive margins.⁶ We further elaborate on different sources of heterogeneity to explain our results such as poverty level at the regional and household level, as well as child-specific characteristics and elaborate possible mechanisms that explain our findings.

A second contribution of this paper is to the studies analyzing the impact of FTS programs. FTS programs have been shown to have a positive impact on academic outcomes, leading to modest improvements in test scores (see e.g., Bellei, 2009; Agüero, 2016; Hincapie, 2016; Figlio *et al.*, 2018; Cabrera-Hernández, 2020; Padilla-Romo, 2022; Thompson, 2021), and to a decrease in the probability of early dropout and grade repetition (García *et al.*, 2013). Only few studies focus on non-academic outcomes. These studies find that longer-school days decrease the involvement of children in risky activities such as crime and early pregnancy (Berthelon and Kruger, 2011). We contribute to the literature by focusing on academic and non-academic outcomes that have not been analyzed before i.e., school enrollment⁷, time

⁵An exception is the study by Tang *et al.* (2020) who analyze the effect of education subsidies by analyzing compulsory education (and not increasing instruction time at school), in rural China. The authors find that free compulsory education reduced the incidence of child labor for boys, but not for girls.

⁶Market work refers to income generating activities inside or outside the household. Excessive domestic work refers to activities and services for consumption within the household. The exact definitions of both activities are provided in Section 3.3.

⁷An exception is the study by García *et al.* (2013), who evaluate the impact of full-time schools on dropout rates in Colombia. Yet, there is no evidence for the FTS in Mexico.

spent on schooling activities, and child labor indicators. We also explore the role of school meals as one of the channels through which FTS could impact school enrollment and child labor.

Finally, we contribute to the literature analyzing spill over effects of FTS to other family members. Previous studies find that FTS increase the labor force participation of mothers (Contreras and Sepúlveda, 2016; Padilla-Romo and Cabrera-Hernández, 2019) and grandmothers (Padilla-Romo and Cabrera-Hernández, 2020) because these programs entail subsidized childcare and a school day which is more compatible with the traditional working day. We extend this analysis by focusing not only on parents, but also older siblings. This is of particular relevance because within household substitution effects are likely to determine -to a large extent- the impact that FTS have on child labor. As young children spend more time in school, this may decrease the need for child supervision at home. Therefore, besides analyzing the decision to work and hours worked, we also evaluate if the time spent on domestic work changes as a response to the extension of the school day.

To identify the effect, we take advantage of the roll-out of the Full-Time Schools (FTS) program,⁸ implemented in Mexico from 2009 to 2018. The FTS program is a national initiative that extended daily school hours from part-time (four hours) to full-time (six or eight hours) in primary and secondary schools⁹ and covered more than 3 million children during the school year 2017/2018. The FTS program increases the weekly instruction time from 20 to either 30 or 40 hours i.e., an increase in schooling hours by 50% or even 100%. This study combines administrative school data with data from the Mexican National Labor Force Survey (ENOE) and the "Módulo de trabajo Infantil" (MTI), a nationally representative survey designed to collect information on economic, domestic, and schooling activities carried out by children in Mexico.

⁸ Programa Escuela de Tiempo Completo (PETC).

⁹Schools operating on an eight hours basis had to offer a warm meal which was highly subsidized by the program.

Our empirical strategy exploits the staggered implementation of the FTS program at the municipality level to identify the causal effect of a longer school day. We examine the impact of changes in the share of FTS at the municipality level on a yearly basis on (i) the probability of attending school, (ii) weekly hours spent on schooling activities, and (iii) a range of child labor indicators for children aged 7 to 14 years. In addition, we investigate if the program has an impact on the labor force participation (LFP) and domestic work of other household members.

The program's guidelines establish that priority should be given to schools located in disadvantaged areas. Therefore, we address the concern that the roll-out of the FTS program may be endogenous to municipality characteristics by following three main steps. First, our empirical specification controls for municipality and time fixed effects, as well as a vector of time-varying municipality characteristics which capture local changing economic conditions which may be correlated with the roll-out of the program. We provide as well several robustness tests based on our baseline specification.

Second, we present descriptive and empirical evidence to rule out pre-existing trends and differences of children living in municipalities with different coverage of the program. To do so, we present the results of dynamic models interacting the share of FTS with a yearly dummy at the individual and municipality level. Third, we present the results of alternative specifications such as i) an IV approach that instruments the share of FTS with an interaction between the share of eligible schools at the municipality level and the yearly budget allocated to the program at the state level, ii) simple DiD estimates focusing on low-intensity and high-intensity municipalities, and iii) an event-study design which allows us to rule out pre-trends and evaluate if effects are persistent several periods after the municipality takes up the program. Our findings can be summarized as follows: When focusing on schooling, we find no impact that an increase in the share of FTS in the municipality has an impact on the probability of being enrolled in school, but a larger coverage of the FTS program leads to an increase in the weekly hours allocated to schooling activities. This finding alleviates the concern that parents, who rely more strongly on child labor, will take their children out of school due to the increase in daily schooling hours. When focusing on child labor, we find that an increase in the share of FTS decreases the probability that children work. A standard deviation increase in the share of FTS at the municipality level leads to a 0.9 percentage point reduction in the probability to engage in child labor. Boys are less likely to engage in market work; and girls less likely to engage in excessive domestic work. We find that the reduction in child labor is smaller for children living in extreme poverty.

When analyzing the response of other household members to the FTS program, we find no impact for older siblings. This finding supports that the reduction in child labor for children aged 7-14 is not substituted by an increase in the probability to work by individuals aged 15-17. In line with Padilla-Romo and Cabrera-Hernández (2019), we find that mothers of children aged 7-14 increase their labor force participation. This increase in LFP is driven by mothers with low levels of education, in the lowest income quintiles, and is similar for mothers who face higher or lower childcare costs. Therefore, we argue that spillover effects within the household are not only driven by the indirect subsidy to childcare, but also due to a substitution effect between child and adult work. Finally, we find that fathers do not adjust their labor force participation, but they increase slightly the weekly hours allocated to domestic work.

The following section provides a general overview of the education system in Mexico, and describes the FTS program. Section 3.3 presents the data and Section 3.4 the empirical strategy. Section 3.5 shows the results and Section 3.6 concludes.

3.2 Background

3.2.1 Education and Child Labor in Mexico

The structure of the basic education system in Mexico is divided in three levels: primary education (grades 1-6), lower secondary education (grades 7-9), and upper secondary education (grades 10-12). Primary education starts at the age of 6 and all basic education levels are compulsory. As of 2012, upper secondary education became also compulsory (OECD, 2018). The compulsory schooling regulation is not based on age but on the school level. The minimum working age is set at 15.¹⁰ School choice is free and most of the students attend public schools. During the school year 2016/2017, 90% of students enrolled in basic education attended a public school (INEE, 2018a).

In 2017, despite important improvements in school enrollment in Mexico, 11% (3.2 million) of minors aged 5 to 17 years were still involved in child labor. 6.4% of minors were involved in market work under the minimum age regulation, 4% performed domestic work in unsuitable conditions, and 0.7% combined both market work and domestic work. For the same year, the child labor rate was higher in rural areas (localities of less than 100 thousand inhabitants) with 13.6% as opposed to urban areas (localities of 100 thousand and more inhabitants), where child labor reached 7.6%. The agricultural sector accounts for more than 34% of child laborers, followed by the service (22%), and the trade sector (20.3%). Among children engaged in market work, 58.3% work for a family member, 39% are unpaid, and 31.3% receive only the minimum wage (INEGI, 2018a).

Figure 3.1 illustrates the share of children in child labor taking into account only market work, and the share of children out of school for the period 2009 to 2017. For all age groups, the child labor rate exceeds the rate of children out of school and the differences are larger

¹⁰In July 2015, the minimum working age was shifted from 14 to 15. We provide the results by different age groups in the robustness section to show that this change is not driving the results.



Figure 3.1: SCHOOLING AND MARKET WORK BY AGE GROUP Source: Authors' analysis using data from ENOE – Módulo de Trabajo Infantil (MTI). Notes: – The shares are calculated using the MTI databases available biennially from 2009 to 2017.

for older children. In 2009, the child labor rate was 2% for children aged 7-8, 4% for children aged 9-10, and 8% for children aged 11-12. Yet, schooling was almost universal for children in these age groups, with only 2% of them out of school. For children aged 13-14, the child labor rate was 14% and the out of school rate 8%. In 2017, the share of children out of school remained stable for all age groups, except for the group of children aged 13-14, who experienced a decrease of 2 percentage points. The share of children working decreased for all groups, with the largest drop for children aged 11-12 (3 percentage points) and aged 13-14 (4 percentage points).

3.2.2 The Full-Time School Program

The FTS program is a federal program, the main objective of which is improving the quality of public basic education in Mexico through the extension of the school day. The program entails an increase in the number of daily school hours from four to either six or eight hours. The additional hours are dedicated to academic activities, cultural activities, and sports. The FTS guidelines establish how additional time at school should be distributed across different activities. However, the schools are flexible to implement their schedule following these guidelines. In addition, the education authorities at the local level assign a supervisor for different FTS in the same area to monitor the technical and financial implementation of the program.

On a regular school day, primary schools operate from 8:00-12:30 and secondary schools from 7:30-13:40. If the school is part of the program and operates on an eight hour basis, the schedule is extended as follows: 08:00-16:00 for primary schools and 07:00-16:00 for secondary schools.

The FTS, an initiative of the Ministry of Education, was first introduced in 2007, during the administration of former President Felipe Calderón (2006-2012), as a small-scale program that intended to gradually extend the weekly school instruction time. By the end of his administration, 4,750 schools were operating on a full-time basis. In February 2013, a major education reform was announced by the administration of former President Enrique Peña Nieto (2012-2018), having one of its main components directed towards improving the quality of basic education in Mexico through the FTS program.¹¹ Therefore, the FTS program was given priority and was implemented on a national scale. The federal budget for the program doubled between 2012 and 2013, from 2.5 to 5.2 billion pesos. By the end of 2018, over 25 thousand schools were operating on a full-time basis, which is about 40% of schools that qualify for the program, covering over 3 million children (around 16% of students enrolled in primary or secondary education).¹² This program has become one of the largest and most relevant education interventions in Mexico (CONEVAL, 2018b).

¹¹The results of the global ranking Program for International Student Assessment (PISA) in 2012 revealed that Mexico earned the lowest score out of all 34 OECD countries in Mathematics, Reading, and Science (OECD, 2013).

¹²During the 2017/2018 school calendar the total number of public primary and secondary schools was 87,756 and 34,293, respectively. The number of students enrolled in primary and secondary education was 18.9 and 6.1 million, respectively (INEE, 2018b).

A relevant aspect of the FTS worth clarifying is that neither schools nor parents can influence the selection of a school into the program. The selection of schools into the program is as follows: First, the yearly budget is assigned at the federal level. Second, participating schools are selected by educational authorities at the state level (Autoridad Educativa Local -AEL) before the start of the school year. Third, the schools chosen by the state authorities to implement the program should fulfill at least one of the following requirements: (i) cover all grades of the corresponding school level, (ii) offer only one shift¹³, (iii) have an appropriate infrastructure for the extension of instruction time at school, and (iv) attend vulnerable population. Therefore, differences in how the budget is distributed across municipalities depends on the number of eligible schools. The Mexican Ministry of Education further reported giving priority to larger schools to cover the maximum number of students possible. The latter implies that the roll-out is not exogenous by construction. However, we address this concern by providing descriptive evidence on parallel trends, municipality characteristics of high and low intensity areas, and treatment estimates by year to rule out that pre-existing trends are driving the results.

Moreover, the subsidy is granted at the federal level and does not substitute other federal, state, or municipal funding. The program guidelines establish that the FTS funding will only be used for implementation purposes and not for infrastructure purposes. The states consider two different operation modes for the extension of the time spent in school (between 6 and 8 hours). Schools selected into the program operate on an eight-hour basis if they have the facilities to provide a warm meal per day, otherwise they operate on a six-hour basis. The guidelines establish that the full-time service has to be provided every day of the school calendar year, and that all students in the school must comply with the program, i.e., all students in the school should start and leave school at the same time of the day.

¹³Some schools in Mexico offer a morning and an afternoon shift. Students in the primary age attend the morning shift and students in the secondary age attend the afternoon shift. Schools offering two shifts are not eligible to participate in the program.

Schools participating in the program are supported in two different ways. First, they receive technical support to develop strategies to adapt the syllabus to the additional hours by assessing, orienting, and training the corresponding educational authorities. Second, they receive financial support to cover the costs of lengthening the school day which is intended to i) cover the payment of financial support to directors, teachers and supporting staff (up to 61% of the subsidy), ii) cover costs of technical assistance i.e., acquisition of materials/equipment for students, and iii) subsidize the food service in case the school was selected to operate on an 8 hours basis (15 pesos per student).¹⁴ On average, the subsidy allocates 90 thousand pesos per school and year (CONEVAL, 2018b). In Section 3.3, after introducing the data used for this article, we provide additional descriptive statistics of the roll-out of the FTS program.

3.3 Data and Descriptive Statistics

3.3.1 Data

The data used for this study comes from three different sources. First, we use administrative data from the Ministry of Education on the universe of schools offering basic education in Mexico. The data consists of the lists of schools providing basic education by school calendar year spanning from 2009/2010 to 2017/2018. The lists include information on the total number of enrolled students, total number of teachers, and school location.

This data is complemented with the official lists of schools participating in the FTS program by school year. We calculate the share of FTS by municipality and school calendar year restricting the sample to public primary and secondary schools. As an alternative definition, we calculate the share of students in FTS. The lists not only allow us to identify

¹⁴For more information on the specific budget allocation see (DOF, 2013).

which schools are part of the program, but also if the schools offer the subsidized meal.¹⁵ Based on this data, we calculate the share of schools that operate on an 8-hour basis vs those that operate on a 6-hour basis.

Second, we use survey data from the Mexican Labor Force Survey (ENOE). The ENOE data spans from the first quarter of 2009 to the fourth quarter of 2017. The ENOE is collected on a quarterly basis as a rotating panel with households surveyed for 5 quarters. The ENOE reports comprehensive information on demographic characteristics of the children (such as gender, age, and municipality of residence), parental demographic characteristics (education and marital status) and household characteristics (number of children, age of the children, household size, and household income). Information on employment is only available for individuals older than 15 (active on the labor force, employment status, hours worked, and earnings). In our baseline specification, we refrain from using income because for 20% of the sample income is missing or reported as zero. Yet, we use household income for our definition of household poverty in Section 3.5.2.

Third, we use data from the *Módulo de Trabajo Infantil* (MTI), a special module which is part of the ENOE. Since 2007, the MTI is conducted every two years at the national level during the fourth quarter of the year to collect information on child labor following international standards by the ILO and United Nations Fund for Children (UNICEF).¹⁶ In contrast to the ENOE, this module is designed as cross-sectional surveys and does not allow tracking individuals over time. The MTI is collected in all households sampled in the ENOE (in the respective wave) that have at least one member aged 5-17 years (INEGI,

 $^{^{15}}$ This information is available only after the school year 2012/2013, once the program was rolled-out at the national level and the guidelines were officially established.

¹⁶Other databases that have been used to evaluate schooling and child labor in Mexico include the Survey of Household Socio-Economic Conditions (ENCASEH97) originally used to determine eligible communities for the Progresa/Oportunidades program and the follow-up evaluation surveys ENCEL (see e.g., Skoufias *et al.*, 2001; Behrman *et al.*, 2011). In contrast to these databases, the MTI is conducted at the national level with the specific purpose of collecting information on the type of economic, domestic, and schooling activities carried out by children/teenagers aged 5-17.

2018b). The guidelines of the survey establish that there is one main informant who provides the information: the individual is usually the household head or the spouse. However, if household members older than 12 are present at the time of the interview, they each provide their own information.

The data can be matched to the ENOE database and provides employment information on all children living in the household aged 5-17. Specifically, the MTI data reports information on school enrollment, a rich set of labor force statistics, information on working conditions, and time spent doing household activities. For the empirical analysis we use information on the MTI and ENOE starting 2009 given that the school data is only available from this year onwards. The national coverage of the surveys and information on the location of the household at the municipality level allows us to merge this information with the data on the FTS program.

We merge the ENOE and MTI databases using the household and individual identifiers. To merge these data with the administrative school data, we use the municipality identifier. All municipalities in Mexico (2,458) have at least one school offering basic education. We are able to merge 65% of the municipalities (1,574) given that the ENOE surveys do not sample all municipalities every quarter. The ENOE and MTI data were obtained from the National Institute of Statistics and Geography (INEGI).

We further complement our database using the marginalization level data obtained from the *Consejo Nacional de Población* (CONAPO) which are available for the years 2010 and 2015, at the municipality and locality level. The marginalization level is a multidimensional poverty measure which takes education, dwelling characteristics, population geographical distribution, and income level into account (CONAPO, 2019).¹⁷

¹⁷In this context low (high) marginalized areas means non-poor (extremely-poor) regions.

In the literature, the definition of child labor is broad and reflects between and within country differences in the types of activities that children engage in (Edmonds and Pavcnik, 2005). For our definition of market work, we use a pre-coded variable provided in the MTI database, which follows the international standards proposed by the UNICEF and the ILO, to identify child labor. Market work is the type of work that produces certain primary goods and services for the market, own production, and/or own consumption. This variable takes the value one if the child (i) is younger than 12 and is involved in light work, or (ii) is involved in regular work under the minimum legal working age which is 15, or (iii) is involved in hazardous work for children aged 7 to 14 years old. Hazardous work includes work that risks the child's safety, health, and morality and includes e.g., working at night, lifting heavy objects, or working with dangerous substances like chemicals and pesticides.

The definition of domestic work is less clear-cut in the literature. We follow a similar approach to Dammert (2010) to identify excessive unpaid household work. We aggregate the reported weekly hours spent (i) taking care of children or elderly people in the household, (ii) doing household chores, and (iii) renovating the house and fixing household appliances. While Dammert (2010) focuses on children who spent at least one hour per day on these activities, we focus on children who spend at least two hours per day for our definition of the extensive margin. For the intensive margin, we use the full distribution.

Table 3.1 shows the main descriptive statistics for the years 2009, 2013, 2017, and the average for all years. From 2009 to 2017 the share of FTS increased, on average, from 1.8% to 18%. Turning to the outcome variables, school attendance is almost universal and remains fairly constant during this period. Surprisingly, the same is true for the average weekly hours spent on schooling activities, which include time in school and time spent on homework, and amounts to 31 hours per week. Yet, the percentage of children working decreases by about 6 percentage points. This decrease can be observed for both domestic and market work, which decrease by 2.6 and 4.4 percentage points, respectively.

	2009		20	2013		2017		-2017
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.
Share of FTS	0.018	0.035	0.126	0.114	0.180	0.148	0.107	0.130
Dependent variables								
Attends school	0.968	0.177	0.978	0.146	0.976	0.153	0.974	0.158
Weekly hours spent on school activities	30.418	11.536	31.744	10.828	30.939	12.321	31.110	11.533
Child is working	0.170	0.376	0.119	0.323	0.106	0.307	0.136	0.343
Cond. weekly hours worked	19.867	11.719	19.496	12.284	19.568	11.650	19.630	11.766
Market work	0.070	0.254	0.055	0.229	0.044	0.204	0.058	0.233
Household work	0.110	0.313	0.069	0.253	0.066	0.248	0.085	0.279
Cond. weekly hours worked (market)	15.824	14.276	15.163	14.885	15.937	15.338	15.534	14.647
Cond. weekly hours worked (domestic)	18.516	7.286	18.875	7.619	18.346	6.946	18.436	7.154
Child characteristics								
Age	10.609	2.288	10.598	2.261	10.591	2.290	10.588	2.280
Male	0.510	0.500	0.510	0.500	0.507	0.500	0.509	0.500
Receives gov. support	0.244	0.429	0.253	0.434	0.264	0.441	0.266	0.442
Number of siblings	3.131	1.449	2.912	1.243	2.805	1.173	2.965	1.315
Birth order								
First born	0.348	0.476	0.369	0.482	0.375	0.484	0.364	0.481
Middle born	0.323	0.468	0.290	0.454	0.268	0.443	0.297	0.457
Last born	0.329	0.470	0.342	0.474	0.356	0.479	0.339	0.473
Both parents present	0.818	0.386	0.825	0.380	0.799	0.401	0.816	0.387
Mother's education level	0.010	0.000	0.020		0.1.0.0	0.202	0.020	0.001
No education	0.075	0.263	0.043	0.202	0.035	0.184	0.052	0.223
Primary education	0.367	0.482	0.292	0.455	0.245	0.430	0.309	0.462
Secondary education	0.291	0.454	0.344	0.475	0.381	0.486	0.335	0.472
High-school	0.104	0.306	0.141	0.348	0.167	0.373	0.134	0.341
Vocational training	0.085	0.279	0.069	0.253	0.049	0.215	0.067	0.250
University degree	0.078	0.268	0.112	0.315	0.123	0.328	0.102	0.302
Father's education level	0.010	0.200	0.112	0.010	0.120	0.020	0.102	0.002
No education	0.056	0.229	0.036	0.187	0.035	0 184	0.043	0.204
Primary education	0.348	0.476	0.282	0.450	0.060	0.440	0.303	0.460
Secondary education	0.940	0.454	0.202	0.460	0.202	0.440	0.320	0.467
High-school	0.135	0.342	0.172	0.378	0.186	0.380	0.020	0.367
Vocational training	0.155	0.108	0.038	0.0102	0.100	0.365	0.100	0.183
University degree	0.120	0.130	0.000	0.152	0.020	0.155	0.030	0.346
Locality eize	0.120	0.000	0.144	0.001	0.102	0.005	0.105	0.040
More than 100 000 inhabitants	0.420	0.405	0.487	0.500	0.448	0.407	0.444	0.407
15 000 00 000 inhabitants	0.429	0.450	0.467	0.361	0.440	0.457	0.151	0.358
2 500 14 000 inhabitants	0.152	0.359	0.134	0.301	0.149	0.350	0.151	0.356
2,500-14,999 innabitants	0.152	0.339	0.134	0.341	0.150	0.337	0.140	0.330
Municipality characteristics	0.200	0.442	0.225	0.410	0.255	0.455	0.257	0.437
Share are 7.17 out of school	0.119	0.076	0.082	0.064	0.070	0.068	0.002	0.079
Share age 7-17 Out of School	0.110	0.070	0.000	0.004	0.079	0.008	0.092	0.072
Share using in poverty	0.324	0.201	0.520	0.170	0.534	0.180	0.335	0.191
Share women in the LF	0.408	0.140	0.311	0.129	0.500	0.139	0.490	0.137
Observations	50,408		45,107		$41,\!683$		$230,\!256$	

 Table 3.1: DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS

Notes: - The table presents descriptive statistics for the years the MTI data is available. The last two columns report the mean and standard deviation for the full sample.

The table shows no decrease on conditional hours worked, with an average of 15.5 hours spent on market work and 18.4 hours on household work per week. The last two columns of Table 3.1 further show that, on average, the children in our sample are 10.6 years old and have 2.9 siblings. 51% are boys, 37% are the first borns, and 82% of the children live with both of their parents in the household. 26% receive support from the government, e.g., *Oportunidades*. Almost 56% of the children live in localities with less than 100 thousand people (rural areas). 70% (67%) of the children have mothers (fathers) with secondary or lower levels of education.

To control for time-varying municipality characteristics, we build population shares using the ENOE survey weighted by the expansion factor provided in the database. For these variables, we restrict the data to the fourth quarter of the year (to be consistent with the MTI database) and use lagged variables to account for the fact that the FTS could have an impact on e.g., employment rates or the number of children out of school. We construct three variables i) the share of the population aged 7-17 who are out of school, ii) the share of the population living below the poverty line, and iii) the share of women in working age i.e., age 25-65, who are active in the labor force.

3.3.2 The Roll-out of the FTS

The empirical strategy relies on the roll-out of the FTS program across time and municipalities. Given that the roll-out of the program was not homogeneous, in this section we explore if there are large differences between municipalities that witnessed a large expansion of the program and municipalities that did not.

In Figure 3.2 we show the staggered implementation of the program by municipality and school calendar year. The map illustrates the share of FTS at the municipality level, i.e., the number of FTS over the total number of schools in the municipality during the respective school calendar year. The first map shows that in the school year 2011/2012 most of the municipalities in Mexico had close to zero FTS. In contrast, in the school calendar year



Figure 3.2: PROGRAM ROLLOUT: SHARE OF FTS BY MUNICIPALITY AND SCHOOL YEAR Source: Authors' analysis using data requested from the Ministry of Education.

Notes: – The share of FTS is calculated from administrative data on the universe of schools in Mexico.

2017/2018, all states were covered by the program and 76% of the municipalities had at least one FTS (CONEVAL, 2018a).

To observe if the areas where the FTS was implemented with more intensity are particularly vulnerable or disadvantaged, we illustrate the marginalization level at the municipality level for 2010 (before the implementation of the program) and 2015 (after the implementation of the program) in Figure 3.A1 in the Appendix. In comparison to Figure 3.2, which shows the FTS program roll-out, we can see that while poverty is more prevalent in the south of Mexico, the share of FTS increases in municipalities with a high and low marginalization level. The roll-out of the program was therefore not exclusively determined by the marginalization level in the municipality. Even if the program's guidelines establish that priority should be given

to disadvantages communities, the capacity of the municipality to implement the program is an important constraint for implementation.

Next, to ease the comparison of pre-program descriptive statistics, we follow Havnes and Mogstad (2011b) and Blanden *et al.* (2016), to define treatment and control municipalities. Therefore, we split municipalities according to those that implemented the FTS program above (treament) and below (control) the median i.e., high- vs low-intensity municipalities. This simple binary classification is only used to provide descriptive statistics and test the robustness of the results. In the empirical analysis, however, we exploit expansion of the program by focusing on the proportion of treated schools at the municipality level at time t to identify the effect.

In Table 3.A1 in the Appendix we show pre-program descriptive statistics at the child level for the year 2009 using this classification. The table shows significant differences between children living in municipalities that implemented the program with high- and low-intensity. However most of these differences are very small. Children in high-intensity areas are slightly more disadvantaged e.g., they are slightly more likely to work (17.6% vs. 16.2%), but tend to work fewer hours in market (15.3 vs 16.7 hours) and domestic work (18.3 vs 18.9 hours). We find larger differences in the proportion of children who receive additional government support in high-intensity areas (26.9% vs 20.4%). Children in high-intensity areas are more likely to have mothers with no education (8.1% vs 6.5%), and to live in municipalities with a higher share of the population living in poverty (33.1% vs 31.4%).

We further compare additional poverty indicators at the municipality level in 2010 before the national roll-out of the FTS program. Table 3.A2 in the Appendix shows that the poverty indicators are similar in municipalities that implemented the program below and above the median. The table shows that high-intensity municipalities are slightly better off with e.g., a smaller share of the population who cannot read or write, without primary education, or living in localities with less than 5 thousand inhabitants, and a higher share of municipalities with a low marginalization degree.



Figure 3.3: SCHOOLING AND MARKET WORK BY TERCILE Source: ENOE – Módulo de Trabajo Infantil (MTI), authors' analysis. Notes: – The share of FTS is calculated from administrative data on the universe of primary and secondary schools in Mexico. The share of children in market and domestic work is calculated using the MTI databases available biennially from 2009 to 2017.

Next, we present graphical evidence on the correlation of the roll-out of the program and child labor rates. Figure 3.3 shows the evolution of the FTS program and child labor using the binary classification of high- and low- intensity municipalities. The first graph shows the roll-out of the FTS program. In 2009, before the program was scaled up at the national level, the share of FTS was lower than 5% for both groups. In 2017, the share of FTS remained lower than 10% in low-intensity municipalities, but reached almost 30% in high intensity municipalities.

The second graph shows the evolution of the child labor rate for the same groups. Three main observations stand out. First, before 2013, a level difference in the child labor rate can be observed. Low-intensity municipalities have a lower child labor rate than high intensity municipalities. Second, despite the existing level differences in child labor, the pre-program

trends are similar for both groups. Before the national roll-out in 2013, the child labor rate decreased for both groups. This decrease may indicate that other factors unrelated to the FTS program could be driving the decrease in child labor. The figure shows that the share of working children was already decreasing slightly faster in high-intensity municipalities before the national roll-out in 2013.

In the empirical analysis, we include a rich set of control variables and fixed effects and take into account time-varying characteristics that could be correlated with the implementation of the FTS program at the municipality level such as the proportion of young people out of school and the proportion of the population living in poverty. In addition, we provide dynamic estimates that allow us to rule out the existence of pre-treatment differences in municipalities implementing the program at different rates. In Section 3.5.3, we further include state-specific linear time trends to account for pre-existing trends in the outcome. Third, after 2012 when the FTS was launched as a national program, child labor rates decreased faster in high-intensity municipalities and after 2015, the child labor rate was even lower than in low-intensity municipalities.

Finally, we test whether the child labor rate determines the roll-out of the program by regressing the share of FTS in a municipality at time t on the respective child labor rate. The estimated coefficients are close to zero and not statistically significant (see Table 3.A3 in the Appendix). The results are similar if we include lagged values of the child labor rate at the municipality level, which confirms that the current and lagged child labor rates at the municipality level are not a determinant of the roll-out of the program.

3.4 Identification Strategy

To examine the effect of the FTS program on schooling and labor outcomes of children, we exploit the staggered implementation of the FTS at the municipality level from school calendar year 2009/2010 to 2017/2018 and estimate the following model:

$$Y_{imt} = \alpha + \beta FTS_{mt} + \theta' \mathbf{X}_{imt} + \kappa' \mathbf{P}_{imt} + \lambda' \mathbf{M}_{mt} + \sigma_m + \gamma_t + \epsilon_{imt}$$
(3.1)

where Y_{imt} , denotes either school enrollment, time spent on schooling activities, or labor outcomes of child *i* in municipality *m* at school-year *t*. For the labor outcomes, we explore (i) the total number of hours worked per week¹⁸, (ii) a binary variable indicating whether the child works (extensive margin), and (iii) the number of hours worked conditional on working (intensive margin). We further distinguish between market and household work.

 FTS_{mt} is the share of full-time schools. The share takes into account the number of schools in the program in municipality m during the school calendar year t out of the total number of schools in the municipality. To identify the effect, we exploit the variation of the FTS share at the municipality level from 2011 to 2017 depicted in Figure 3.2. Since we cannot observe if a child attends a FTS, identification occurs through regional differences in access to the program during the time of implementation. In addition, while the program was not implemented randomly, the share of schools covered is exogenous to individual households. The coefficient of interest, β , captures differences in children's outcomes according to the different FTS-coverage across municipalities and can be interpreted as the ITT (intention-to-treat) effect.

 X_{imt} is a vector of child characteristics that are likely to affect schooling and labor outcomes including age, gender, a binary indicator whether the child receives government

¹⁸The number of hours worked also includes the zeros for children who are not employed.

support e.g., Oportunidades, number of siblings, and birth order to control for a higher probability of working for older siblings. P_{imt} is a categorical variable controlling for parental education level of the mother and father of the child. That is, if parents have primary, secondary, high-school, vocational training or university degree. Parental education controls capture the preference to send children to school and/or work and are a proxy of household income. We also control for locality size dummies to capture whether children reside in urban or rural areas. Localities are smaller geographical units than municipalities. These dummies capture differences in the implementation of the program within a municipality e.g., priority to rural areas because they are more vulnerable. M_{mt} is a vector of time-varying municipality characteristics that capture labor market and local economic conditions which may affect children's outcomes. These include the lagged values of the share of the poor population, share of children out of school, and share of women active in the labor force.

We include municipality fixed effects σ_m to capture time-invariant characteristics related to the implementation of the program such as heterogeneity in schooling conditions at the municipality level. γ_t captures common yearly shocks such as additional policies implemented by the education reform in 2013 which could directly impact schooling quality e.g., the introduction of a national system to evaluate teachers¹⁹, and ϵ is the error term. Standard errors are clustered at the municipality level.

We run an additional specification including state-by-year fixed effects to capture only the variation of the program within municipalities located in the same state. The state-by-year fixed effects control for common unobserved yearly shocks such as differences in the budget allocation of the FTS program (or in the total education budget) at the state level.

The main threat to our identification strategy is that the roll-out might be correlated with unobserved characteristics at the municipality level. For instance, the official guidelines of the program establish that priority should be given to vulnerable areas. If municipalities

¹⁹See INEE (2018c) for a more detailed description on the reform.

that have a higher coverage of FTS are simultaneously implementing other initiatives, which directly or indirectly affect the rate of children working, it would question the validity of our results. Thus, the main identifying assumption is that in the absence of the FTS program, changes in the child labor rate in municipalities with different FTS-coverage should have been similar.

To show that our results are not driven by unobserved factors correlated with the roll-out, we provide graphical evidence on pre-program trends as well as the results of alternative models. In the previous section, we show that before the national roll-out of the FTS program, the evolution of child labor was similar for municipalities with different coverage rates. We further show that the child labor rate at the municipality level at time t and t - 1is not a determinant of the share of FTS at time t, and that municipality characteristics are similar in municipalities with low- vs. high-FTS coverage.

In the results section we further rule out the existence of pre-trends by presenting the results by year. In addition, we show the results of alternative models: i) we estimate an IV approach and focus on the predicted share of FTS to estimate the effect, ii) we show the results of simple Difference-in-Difference (DiD) models dividing treatment and control municipalities according to the median of FTS coverage following Havnes and Mogstad (2011b); Blanden *et al.* (2016), and iii) we present the results of an event study design for the overall sample and by tercile of implementation. This model also allow us to rule out pre-existing trends and evaluate if the impacts are persistent several years after the municipality is treated. Finally, we conduct several robustness tests to show that the coefficients are stable to a number of alternative specifications of our baseline model, e.g., we exclude highly marginalized municipalities, municipalities part of the pilot FTS phase, and the top 5% implementing municipalities, and robust to correcting the results to possible biases in two-way fixed effects estimates (see e.g., Callaway and Sant'Anna, 2021; Goodman-Bacon, 2021)

An additional concern of our empirical framework is that the model only allows us to estimate an *intention-to-treat* effect. Although we do not observe if a child attends a FTS or not, it is plausible to assume that the higher the share of FTS in the municipality the higher the likelihood that a child is part of the program. Intention-to-treat estimates represent a lower bound of the true treatment effect; however, we conduct several regressions that interact the treatment variable with demographic characteristics of the children to analyze the main drivers of the true effect.

The final concern is that with the introduction of the FTS program, children living in poor households might be changed from FTS to part-time schools to continue working as the school choice in Mexico is free. We cannot test this directly with the data at hand. However, as the FTS program increases coverage in a municipality, the choices of part-time schools decrease. Thus, the decision to change schools might be more costly for parents if e.g., the distance from the household to the part-time school choices increase. An alternative is that parents decide to pull their children out of school. However, we find no evidence that the FTS program leads to a higher probability to drop out. Alternatively, parents with a higher preference for schooling over work may decide to enroll their children in FTS schools (full-time) instead of the traditional ones (part-time). Indeed the results shown by Padilla-Romo (2022) show that the FTS program increases the probability to switch from a part-time to a full-time school. However the proportion of switchers is small (on average 5.6%) and mostly concentrated in urban areas and for students with a higher socioeconomic status. Students with a lower socioeconomic status seem not to systematically sort into part-time schools. Therefore, the concern that our results are biased due to switchers remains small.

3.5 Results

3.5.1 Baseline Results

3.5.1.1 Schooling and Child Labor

For the empirical analysis, we start by estimating the effect of an increase in the share of FTS on school enrollment and weekly hours spent on schooling activities following our main specification in Eq. 3.1. The direction of the effect of additional schooling hours on child labor is not clear a priori. On the one hand, lengthening the school day could increase the marginal returns to education, if education quality is improving or, if indirect schooling costs are decreasing (see e.g., Edmonds, 2007). Therefore, the parent would decide to increase schooling time and decrease the child's working or leisure time. On the other hand, lengthening the school day could put additional pressure on income-constrained families that rely more heavily on the child's work inside and outside the household (see e.g., Dammert *et al.*, 2018). If the child has less time to engage in productive activities due to longer school hours, the household income would be directly affected and the parent could decide to decrease schooling time, for example, through decreasing school enrollment or schooling time at home, and to increase the number of hours the child spends working.

The results are reported in Table 3.2. With respect to school enrollment, column I shows that an increase in the share of FTS from 0 to 1 (full coverage)²⁰, has no effect on the probability that a child is enrolled in school. The estimated coefficient is not statistically significant and close to zero. Using only the variation of municipalities located in the same state yields similar results (column II). Although school enrollment is almost universal and this avenue of adjustment could be exhausted, the main concern is that due to the program

²⁰In 2017, only 5% of municipalities had more than 53% of schools covered by the FTS program.

parents parents who rely more on child work could decide to pull their children out of school. These results alleviate this concern.

With respect to schooling hours, columns III and IV of Table 3.2 show a positive and statistically significant effect of the share of FTS on the number of hours spent on schooling activities. Although this increase is not observed in the descriptive statistics, after controlling for municipality and year fixed effects, as well as individual characteristics, the results reveal that the weekly schooling hours for children in municipalities that went from having none to all schools operating on a full-time basis increases by 4.7 hours. The size of the coefficient is smaller than expected; the increase in schooling hours on a weekly basis should amount to 10-20 hours. However, our schooling time measure does not capture exclusively time spent in school, but also time spent on other schooling activities such as homework.

_

$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Dependent variable:	School en	rollment	Schoolin	g hours
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		I	II	III	IV
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Share of FTS	-0.003	0.002	5.789***	4.609***
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		(0.008)	(0.012)	(1.238)	(1.379)
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Girl	0.003***	0.003***	0.347^{***}	0.347^{***}
Receives gov. support 0.071^{+++} 0.071^{+++} 2.501^{+++} 2.531^{+++} Number of siblings -0.007^{+++} -0.007^{+++} -0.428^{+++} -0.417^{+++} Birth order Ref: First born 0.003^{+} -0.000^{+++} -0.428^{+++} -0.417^{+++} Middle born 0.002^{+} 0.003^{+} -0.000^{-++} 0.003^{+} -0.007^{++} 0.002^{+-} 0.0011 Born 0.002^{++} 0.002^{++} 0.002^{++} 0.0090 0.0090 Both parents present -0.035^{+++} -0.035^{+++} -0.038^{+++} -0.038^{+++} 0.0090 Mother education 0.057^{+++} 0.007^{+++} 0.779^{+++} 2.751^{+++} 2.731^{+++} 2.751^{+++} 2.731^{+++} 3.26^{+++} Primary education 0.007^{+++} 0.007^{+++} 0.025^{+++} 0.285^{+++} 0.285^{+++} 0.285^{+++} 0.285^{++} 0.285^{+++} 0.285^{+++} 0.285^{+++} 0.031^{+++} 0.005^{+++} 0.005^{+++} 0.285^{+++} 0.285^{+++} 0.285^{+++}		(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.071)	(0.069)
Number of siblings (0.004) $(0.007^{***}$ -0.007^{***} -0.428^{***} -0.417^{***} Number of siblings (0.001) (0.001) (0.002) (0.002) (0.002) (0.002) (0.002) (0.002) (0.002) (0.002) (0.002) (0.002) (0.002) (0.002) (0.002) (0.002) (0.002) (0.002) (0.002) (0.003) (0.003) (0.003) (0.003) (0.003) (0.003) (0.003) (0.003) (0.003) (0.006) (0.006) (0.006) (0.006) (0.006) (0.006) (0.006) (0.006) (0.258) (0.258) (0.259) (0.258) (0.259) (0.258) (0.259) (0.258) (0.259) (0.258)	Receives gov. support	0.071***	0.071***	2.506***	2.531***
Number of siblings -0.007^{++} -0.428^{++} -0.417^{++} Birth order Ref: First born (0.001) (0.002) (0.002) (0.002) Middle born 0.002* 0.002* 0.003* -0.000 0.012 Middle born 0.002* 0.002* 0.003* -0.030 0.0097 Last born 0.000* 0.000* 0.0000* 0.0090 0.0010 Both parents present -0.035^{+++} -0.386^{+++} -0.913^{+++} 1.743^{+++} 1.766^{+++} Mther education 0.007^{+++} 0.075^{+++} 1.743^{+++} 1.766^{+++} Scondary education 0.007^{+++} 0.075^{+++} 2.739^{+++} 2.739^{+++} Vocational training 0.085^{+++} 0.0066^{+++} 0.2258^{++} 0.2258^{++} 0.2258^{++} 0.2258^{++} 0.285^{++} 0.388^{+++} 3.408^{+++} 3.468^{+++} 3.468^{+++} 4.366^{++} 0.028^{++} 0.038^{+++} 0.388^{+++} 3.408^{+++} 3.468^{+++} 4.366^{++} 0.028^{++} 0.388^{+++}	0 11	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.156)	(0.153)
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Number of siblings	-0.007^{***}	-0.007^{***}	-0.428^{***}	-0.417^{***}
Birth order Ref: First born $(0.003)^{\circ}$ $(0.003)^{\circ}$ $(0.000)^{\circ}$ $(0.001)^{\circ}$ $(0.002)^{\circ}$ $(0.001)^{\circ}$ $(0.002)^{\circ}$ $(0.013)^{\circ}$ $(0.002)^{\circ}$ $(0.013)^{\circ}$ $(0.003)^{\circ}$ $(0.002)^{\circ}$ $(0.013)^{\circ}$ $(0.003)^{\circ}$ $(0.001)^{\circ}$ $(0.003)^{\circ}$ $(0.033)^{\circ}$ (0.03)		(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.042)	(0.041)
Middle born 0.003^* 0.003^* -0.000 0.012 Last born 0.002^* 0.002^* 0.003^* 0.005^* 0.211^* 0.321	Birth order Ref: First born	(01002)	(01002)	(01012)	(0.012)
Last born (0.002) $(0.002)^*$ $(0.007)^*$ $(0.007)^*$ Both parents present -0.035^{***} -0.886^{***} -0.035^{***} Mother education Ref: None -0.035^{***} -0.886^{***} -0.031^{***} Primary education 0.057^{***} 0.757^{***} 1.743^{***} 1.766^{***} Secondary education 0.079^{***} 0.79^{***} 2.751^{***} 2.739^{***} Mother education 0.079^{***} 0.085^{***} 3.243^{***} 3.256^{***} Vocational training 0.088^{***} 0.088^{***} 3.410^{***} 3.266^{***} University degree 0.088^{***} 0.088^{***} 3.410^{***} 3.266^{***} Primary education 0.006^{**} 0.088^{***} 3.410^{***} 3.266^{***} Primary education 0.006^{**} 0.006^{**} 0.328^{***} 0.0285^{**} 0.2280^{***} Secondary education 0.032^{***} 0.032^{***} 0.899^{***} 0.24^{***} Vocational training 0.051^{***} 0.053^{***}	Middle born	0.003^{*}	0.003^{*}	-0.000	0.012
Last born 0.002^{**} 0.002^{**} 0.003^{**} 0.033^{**} 0.033^{**} 0.033^{**} 0.033^{**} 0.033^{**} 0.033^{**} 0.033^{**} 0.033^{**} 0.033^{**} 0.033^{**} 0.033^{**} 0.033^{**} 0.033^{***} 0.343^{**} 0.343^{***} 0.353^{***}	indate som	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.097)	(0.097)
Description (0.001) (0.002) (0.003) (0.009) Both parents present -0.035^{***} -0.035^{***} -0.886^{***} -0.013^{***} Primary education 0.057^{***} 0.060 (0.006) (0.304) (0.301) Mother education 0.057^{***} 0.077^{***} 1.73^{***} 1.766^{***} Secondary education 0.057^{***} 0.077^{***} 0.775^{***} 2.73^{**} Migh-school 0.005^{***} 0.085^{***} 0.085^{***} 3.243^{***} 3.306^{***} Vocational training 0.008^{***} 0.008^{***} 0.085^{***} 3.410^{***} 3.406^{***} University degree 0.008^{***} 0.008^{***} 0.032^{***} 0.032^{***} 0.032^{***} Father education $Ref.$ $None/Father$ not present 0.006^{**} 0.006^{**} 0.283^{***} Primary education 0.032^{***} 0.032^{***} 0.024^{***} 0.024^{***} Primary education 0.033^{**} 0.032^{***} 0.0280^{**} <	Last born	0.002**	0.002**	0.043	0.036
Both parents present $(0.001)^{++}$ $(0.001)^{++}$ $(0.005)^{++}$ $(0.005)^{++}$ $(0.005)^{++}$ $(0.005)^{++}$ $(0.005)^{++}$ $(0.005)^{++}$ $(0.005)^{++}$ $(0.005)^{++}$ $(0.005)^{++}$ $(0.005)^{++}$ $(0.005)^{++}$ $(0.241)^{++}$ $(0.244)^{++}$ Secondary education 0.077^{+++} 0.077^{+++} 0.077^{+++} $(0.258)^{++}$ $(0.258)^{+$	Last born	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.080)	(0.000)
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Poth parante present	0.025***	0.025***	0.886***	0.012***
(0.000) (0.000) (0.301) (0.301) (0.301) Primary education 0.057^{***} 0.055^{***} 1.743^{***} 1.766^{***} Secondary education 0.079^{***} 0.079^{***} 2.751^{***} 2.739^{***} High-school 0.006 0.0066 0.0285^{**} 3.243^{***} 3.256^{***} Vocational training 0.085^{***} 0.085^{***} 3.410^{***} 3.366^{***} Vocational training 0.085^{***} 0.085^{***} 3.410^{***} 4.365^{***} Vocational training 0.032^{***} 0.032^{***} 0.886^{***} 4.386^{***} 4.365^{***} Primary education Ref: None/Father not present 0.0066 (0.006) (0.316) (0.311) Father education Ref: None/Father not present 0.032^{***} 0.032^{***} 0.899^{***} 0.924^{***} Primary education 0.049^{***} 0.049^{***} 1.643^{***} 1.653^{***} Secondary education 0.0066 0.0066 0.0311 0.312 Vocational tra	Both parents present	-0.035	-0.035	-0.880	-0.913
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Mathematican D.C. News	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.504)	(0.301)
Primary education 0.057^{+++} 0.057^{+++} 1.743^{+++} 1.760^{-+} Secondary education 0.079^{+++} 0.079^{+++} 2.751^{+++} 2.739^{+++} High-school 0.0066 0.0066^{++} 0.258^{+++} 3.256^{+++} 0.256^{+++} 3.256^{+++} Vocational training 0.085^{+++} 0.088^{+++} 3.410^{+++} 3.266^{+++} Vocational training 0.088^{+++} 0.088^{+++} 3.410^{+++} 3.406^{+++} Vocational training 0.038^{+++} 0.088^{+++} 0.388^{+++} 4.386^{+++} 4.365^{+++} Vocational training 0.032^{+++} 0.0066^{+-} (0.340) (0.311) Father education 0.032^{+++} 0.032^{+++} 0.899^{+++} 0.924^{+++} Primary education 0.032^{+++} 0.032^{+++} 0.589^{+++} 1.653^{+++} 1.653^{+++} Secondary education 0.049^{++++} 0.049^{++++} 0.049^{++++} 0.152^{+++} 1.638^{+++} 1.653^{+++} Secondary education 0.049^{++++} 0.049^{++++} 0.021^{+++} 0.286^{++} 1.653^{+++} <	Mother education Ref: None		0.057***	1 740***	1 500***
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Primary education	0.057***	0.057***	1.743****	1.766****
$\begin{array}{ccccc} & 0.079^{**} & 0.079^{**} & 2.751^{**} & 2.739^{**} \\ 0.079^{**} & 0.079^{**} & 0.079^{**} & 2.751^{**} & 2.739^{**} \\ 0.0259 \\ High-school & 0.085^{**} & 0.085^{**} & 3.243^{**} & 3.256^{**} \\ 0.006 & 0.006 & 0.006 & 0.285 & 0.287 \\ \hline Vocational training & 0.088^{**} & 0.088^{**} & 3.410^{**} & 3.406^{**} \\ 0.008 & 0.088^{**} & 0.088^{**} & 3.410^{**} & 3.406^{**} \\ 0.006 & 0.006 & 0.006 & 0.340 & 0.3383 \\ University degree & 0.005^{**} & 0.085^{**} & 4.386^{**} & 4.365^{**} \\ 0.006 & 0.006 & 0.006 & 0.0316 & 0.0316 \\ Father education Ref: None/Father not present \\ Primary education & 0.02^{**} & 0.032^{**} & 0.899^{**} & 0.924^{**} \\ Primary education & 0.049^{**} & 0.049^{**} & 1.511^{**} & 1.518^{**} \\ 0.006 & 0.006 & 0.006 & 0.0283 & 0.0275 \\ Secondary education & 0.051^{**} & 0.050^{**} & 1.688^{**} & 1.653^{**} \\ 0.006 & 0.006 & 0.006 & 0.0281 & 0.289 \\ High-school & 0.051^{**} & 0.053^{**} & 2.051^{**} & 2.071^{**} \\ Vocational training & 0.053^{**} & 0.053^{**} & 2.051^{**} & 2.071^{**} \\ Vocational training & 0.053^{**} & 0.053^{**} & 2.051^{**} & 2.298^{**} \\ 15.000-99,999 inhabitants & 0.001 & 0.001 & -0.394 & -0.334 \\ 15.000-99,999 inhabitants & 0.001 & 0.001 & -0.394 & -0.334 \\ 2.500-14,999 inhabitants & -0.007^{**} & -0.007^{**} & -0.942^{**} \\ (0.003) & (0.003) & (0.437) & (0.440) \\ 2.500-14,999 inhabitants & -0.007^{**} & -0.020^{**} & -0.942^{**} \\ Share age 7-17 out of school & -0.067^{**} & -0.065^{**} & -4.380^{**} & -4.834^{**} \\ (0.003) & (0.003) & (0.408) & (0.409) \\ Municipality characteristics \\ Share age 7-17 out of school & -0.067^{**} & -0.065^{**} & -4.380^{**} & -4.834^{**} \\ (0.003) & (0.003) & (0.010) & (1.162) & (1.170) \\ Constant & 0.808^{**} & 0.812^{**} & 32.261^{**} & 22.885^{**} \\ 0.0110 & (0.010) & (1.162) & (1.172) \\ Constant & 0.808^{**} & 0.812^{**} & 32.261^{**} & 29.885^{**} \\ 0.0220 & (0.023) & (0.23) & (0.231 & (1.211) & (1.448) \\ Birth cohort FE & yes yes yes yes yes \\ State-by-year FE & no yes no yes \\ Observations & 230.256 & 230.256 & 230.256 \\ Cance$		(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.241)	(0.244)
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Secondary education	0.079***	0.079***	2.751***	2.739***
High-school 0.085^{***} 0.085^{***} 3.243^{***} 3.256^{***} Vocational training 0.088^{***} 0.088^{***} 3.410^{***} 3.406^{***} University degree 0.085^{***} 0.085^{***} 0.386^{***} 0.336^{***} University degree 0.006^{**} 0.085^{***} 0.386^{***} 0.336^{***} 0.336^{***} 0.336^{***} Primary education 0.032^{***} 0.032^{***} 0.899^{***} 0.924^{***} Secondary education 0.049^{***} 0.032^{***} 0.899^{***} 0.924^{***} fligh-school 0.049^{***} 0.049^{***} 1.511^{***} 1.518^{***} Vocational training 0.051^{***} 0.053^{***} 2.051^{***} 2.071^{***} Vocational training 0.051^{***} 0.053^{***} 2.051^{***} 2.278^{***} 2.298^{***} $15,000-99,999$ inhabitants 0.001 -0.334 -0.334 0.341 0.340 $15,000-99,999$ inhabitants 0.001 0.002^{**} -0.20^{**} -0.915^{**} -2.28^{**} 2.298^{**} 0.002^{**} -0.9		(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.258)	(0.259)
(0.006) (0.006) (0.285) (0.287) Vocational training 0.088^{***} 0.088^{***} 3.410^{***} 3.406^{***} University degree 0.085^{***} 0.085^{***} 4.386^{***} 4.336^{***} Father education Ref: None/Father not present (0.006) (0.006) (0.316) (0.311) Father education 0.032^{***} 0.032^{***} 0.994^{***} 0.924^{***} Primary education 0.032^{***} 0.032^{***} 0.994^{***} $0.283)$ (0.275) Secondary education 0.049^{***} 0.049^{***} 1.511^{***} 1.518^{***} (0.006) (0.006) (0.289) (0.286) (0.286) High-school 0.051^{***} 0.050^{***} 1.638^{***} 1.653^{***} (0.006) (0.006) (0.006) (0.311) (0.312) Vocational training 0.051^{***} 0.050^{***} 2.278^{***} 2.288^{***} (0.006) (0.006) (0.034) (0.341) (0.341) Locality size Ref: >100,000 inhabitants (0.001) -0.394 -0.334 $15,000-99,999$ inhabitants 0.001 0.001 -0.394 -0.344 $2,500-14,999$ inhabitants -0.007^{***} -0.20^{***} -0.942^{**} $15,000-99,999$ inhabitants (0.002) (0.003) (0.408) (0.409) Municipality characteristics (0.023) (0.023) (0.2195) (1.912) Share age 7-17 out of school -0.067^{***} -0.384^{**} <td>High-school</td> <td>0.085^{***}</td> <td>0.085^{***}</td> <td>3.243^{***}</td> <td>3.256^{***}</td>	High-school	0.085^{***}	0.085^{***}	3.243^{***}	3.256^{***}
Vocational training 0.08^{***} 0.086^{***} 3.410^{***} 3.406^{***} University degree 0.085^{***} 0.386^{***} 4.366^{***} 4.365^{***} Vocational Ref. None/Father not present 0.006^{***} 0.032^{***} 0.032^{***} 0.32^{***} 0.994^{***} Primary education 0.032^{***} 0.032^{***} 0.032^{***} 0.924^{***} Secondary education 0.049^{***} 0.049^{***} 0.049^{***} 0.11^{***} 1.518^{***} Secondary education 0.049^{***} 0.049^{***} 0.049^{***} 1.638^{***} 1.653^{***} Migh-school 0.051^{***} 0.050^{***} 1.638^{***} 1.653^{***} Vocational training 0.053^{***} 0.053^{***} 2.051^{***} 2.071^{***} University degree 0.051^{***} 0.050^{***} 2.278^{***} 2.298^{***} $15,000^{*}99.999$ inhabitants 0.001 0.001 -0.334 -0.334 $2,500^{*}14.999$ inhabitants -0.007^{***} -0.015^{**} -0.289		(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.285)	(0.287)
$\begin{array}{c cccc} (0.006) & (0.006) & (0.340) & (0.338) \\ 0.085^{***} & 0.085^{***} & 0.085^{***} & 4.386^{***} & 4.365^{***} \\ (0.006) & (0.006) & (0.316) & (0.311) \\ \hline Father education Ref: None/Father not present \\ Primary education & 0.032^{***} & 0.032^{***} & 0.032^{***} & 0.924^{***} \\ \hline Primary education & 0.049^{***} & 0.049^{***} & 1.511^{***} & 1.518^{***} \\ \hline Secondary education & 0.049^{***} & 0.049^{***} & 1.511^{***} & 1.518^{***} \\ \hline High-school & 0.051^{***} & 0.050^{***} & 0.053^{***} & 2.051^{***} & 2.071^{***} \\ \hline Vocational training & 0.053^{***} & 0.053^{***} & 2.051^{***} & 2.071^{***} \\ \hline University degree & 0.051^{***} & 0.059^{***} & 2.278^{***} & 2.298^{***} \\ \hline University degree & 0.051^{***} & 0.050^{***} & 2.278^{***} & 2.298^{***} \\ \hline 15,000-99,999 inhabitants & 0.001 & 0.001 & -0.394 & -0.334 \\ \hline 2,500-14,999 inhabitants & -0.007^{***} & -0.007^{***} & -0.269 \\ \hline Less than 2,500 inhabitants & -0.007^{***} & -0.020^{***} & -0.915^{**} & -0.942^{**} \\ \hline Share age 7-17 out of school & -0.007^{***} & -0.020^{***} & -0.915^{***} & -0.942^{**} \\ \hline 10.0023 & (0.003) & (0.003) & (0.408) & (0.409) \\ \hline Municipality characteristics & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & &$	Vocational training	0.088^{***}	0.088^{***}	3.410^{***}	3.406^{***}
University degree 0.085^{***} 0.085^{***} 0.385^{***} 4.386^{***} 4.365^{***} Pather education Ref: None/Father not present 0.000 (0.006) (0.006) (0.006) (0.006) (0.006) (0.006) (0.283) (0.275) Secondary education 0.049^{***} 0.032^{***} 0.030^{***} 0.038^{***} $0.283)$ (0.275) Secondary education 0.049^{***} 0.051^{***} 0.050^{***} 1.638^{***} 1.638^{***} High-school 0.051^{***} 0.053^{***} 2.051^{***} 2.071^{***} Vocational training 0.053^{***} 0.053^{***} 2.051^{***} 2.071^{***} University degree (0.006) (0.006) (0.346) (0.341) Locality size Ref: >100,000 inhabitants 0.001 0.001 -0.334 -0.334 J5,000-14,999 inhabitants -0.007^{***} -0.0215^{**} -0.269 (0.002) (0.003) (0.003) (0.403) (0.409) Muricipality characteristics $($		(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.340)	(0.338)
	University degree	0.085^{***}	0.085^{***}	4.386^{***}	4.365^{***}
Father education Ref: None/Father not present 0.032**** 0.032**** 0.89**** 0.924*** Primary education (0.006) (0.006) (0.283) (0.275) Secondary education 0.049*** 0.511*** 1.511*** 1.518*** (0.006) (0.006) (0.289) (0.288) (0.275) High-school 0.051*** 0.050*** 1.638*** 1.653*** Vocational training 0.051*** 0.053*** 2.051*** 2.071*** University degree 0.051*** 0.050*** 2.278*** 2.298*** 15,000-99,999 inhabitants (0.006) (0.006) (0.346) (0.341) Locality size Ref: >100,000 inhabitants (0.003) (0.003) (0.437) (0.440) 2,500-14,999 inhabitants -0.007*** -0.007*** -0.215 -0.269 (0.002) (0.003) (0.437) (0.440) 2,500-14,999 inhabitants -0.020*** -0.915** -0.942** Less than 2,500 inhabitants -0.020*** -0.020*** -0.915** -0.942** Share age 7-17 out of school -0.067*** -0.065*** -4.836**		(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.316)	(0.311)
Primary education 0.032^{***} 0.032^{***} 0.032^{***} 0.032^{***} 0.924^{***} Secondary education 0.049^{***} 0.049^{***} 0.049^{***} 1.511^{***} 1.511^{***} High-school 0.051^{***} 0.050^{***} 1.638^{***} 1.653^{***} Vocational training 0.051^{***} 0.050^{***} 1.638^{***} 1.653^{***} University degree 0.051^{***} 0.050^{***} 2.278^{***} 2.298^{***} 15,000-99,999 inhabitants (0.006) (0.006) (0.341) (0.341) $2,500-14,999$ inhabitants -0.007^{***} -0.007^{***} -0.215 -0.269 (0.002) (0.003) (0.003) (0.454) (0.459) Less than 2,500 inhabitants -0.020^{***} -0.020^{**} -0.915^{**} -0.942^{**} (0.003) (0.003) (0.023) (0.23) (0.128) (1.199) Municipality characteristics 0.001 -0.065^{**} -4.380^{**} -4.834^{**} Share use men in	Father education Ref: None/Father not present	· · · ·	· /	· · · ·	· · · ·
(0.006) (0.006) (0.283) (0.275) Secondary education 0.49^{***} 0.49^{***} 1.511^{***} 1.518^{***} High-school 0.051^{***} 0.050^{***} 1.638^{***} 1.638^{***} 1.638^{***} Vocational training 0.053^{***} 0.053^{***} 2.051^{***} 2.071^{***} University degree 0.051^{***} 0.050^{***} 2.278^{***} 2.298^{***} 0.006 0.006 0.0346 (0.341) (0.341) Locality size Ref: >100,000 inhabitants 10.001 -0.394 -0.334 (0.003) (0.003) (0.437) (0.440) $2,500$ -14,999 inhabitants -0.007^{***} -0.215 -0.269 (0.002) (0.003) (0.437) (0.440) $2,500$ -14,999 inhabitants -0.007^{***} -0.215 -0.269 (0.002) (0.003) (0.438) (0.49) Municipality characteristics 0.001 -0.007^{***} -0.314 Share living in poverty	Primary education	0.032^{***}	0.032^{***}	0.899^{***}	0.924^{***}
Secondary education $(0.00)^{***}$ $(0.00)^{***}$ $(0.00)^{***}$ $(0.00)^{***}$ $(0.00)^{***}$ $(0.01)^{***}$ $(0.11)^{***}$ High-school 0.051^{***} 0.050^{***} 1.638^{***} 1.638^{***} 1.638^{***} Vocational training 0.053^{***} 0.053^{***} 2.051^{***} 2.071^{***} University degree 0.053^{***} 0.053^{***} 2.051^{***} 2.071^{***} Locality size Ref: >100,000 inhabitants (0.006) $(0.000)^{***}$ 2.278^{***} 2.298^{***} 15,000-99,999 inhabitants 0.001^{***} 0.000^{***} 2.278^{**} 2.298^{***} 15,000-99,999 inhabitants 0.001^{***} 0.000^{***} 0.215^{**} 0.249^{***} 2,500-14,999 inhabitants 0.001^{***} -0.007^{***} -0.215^{**} -0.269^{**} (0.002) (0.003) (0.437) (0.440) (0.409) Municipality characteristics $(0.003)^{**}$ -0.215^{**} -0.915^{**} -0.942^{**} Share age 7-17 out of school -0.067^{***} $-0.065^{$		(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.283)	(0.275)
become in the LF 0.012 0.013 0.014 0.014 0.014 High-school 0.006 0.006 0.0280 0.2286 High-school 0.053^{***} 0.050^{***} 1.638^{***} 1.653^{***} Vocational training 0.053^{***} 0.053^{***} 2.051^{***} 2.071^{***} University degree 0.051^{***} 0.050^{***} 2.278^{***} 2.298^{***} 0.006 (0.006) (0.0346) (0.341) Locality size Ref: >100,000 inhabitants 1.000^{***} -0.334 (0.003) (0.003) (0.437) (0.440) $2,500^{-14,999}$ inhabitants -0.007^{***} -0.007^{***} -0.215 -0.269 (0.002) (0.003) (0.003) (0.003) (0.440) $2,500^{-14,999}$ inhabitants -0.007^{***} -0.007^{***} -0.915^{**} -0.942^{**} (0.003) (0.003) (0.003) (0.003) (0.408) (0.409) Municipality characteristics $(0.001 \ 0.003)$ $-0.322 \ 0.326$ (0.002) (0.408^{*}) (1.912) Share ag	Secondary education	0.049***	0.049***	1 511***	1 518***
High-school $(0.003)^{+++}$ $(0.050^{+++})^{++}$ $(0.050^{+++})^{++}$ $(0.050^{+++})^{++}$ Wo actional training 0.053^{+++} 0.053^{+++} 0.053^{+++} 2.051^{+++} 2.071^{+++} University degree 0.051^{+++} 0.050^{+++} 2.278^{+++} 2.298^{+++} (0.006) (0.006) (0.346) (0.341) Locality size Ref: >100,000 inhabitants (0.006) (0.006) (0.346) (0.341) Locality size Ref: >100,000 inhabitants (0.003) (0.003) (0.437) (0.440) 2,500-14,999 inhabitants 0.001 -0.007^{+++} -0.215 -0.269 (0.002) (0.002) (0.002) (0.454) (0.459) Less than 2,500 inhabitants -0.020^{+++} -0.020^{+++} -0.915^{++} -0.942^{++} (0.003) (0.003) (0.408) (0.409) Municipality characteristics (0.003) (0.023) (2.195) (1.912) Share age 7-17 out of school -0.067^{+++} -0.065^{+++} -4.834^{++} (0.023) (0.023) (2.195) (1.912) Share women in the LF 0.011 0.013 -0.965 -0.920 (0.010) (0.010) (1.162) (1.176) Constant 0.808^{+++} 0.812^{+++} 32.261^{+++} 29.885^{+++} (0.020) (0.023) (1.211) (1.448) Birth cohort FEyesyesyesyesState-by-year FEnoyesnoyes	Secondary equation	(0,006)	(0.006)	(0.289)	(0.286)
Ingleschoft 0.031 0.030 1.033 1.033 1.033 Vocational training (0.006) (0.006) (0.311) (0.312) Vocational training 0.053^{***} 0.053^{***} 2.051^{***} 2.071^{***} University degree 0.053^{***} 0.053^{***} 2.278^{***} 2.298^{***} (0.006) (0.006) (0.346) (0.341) Locality size Ref: >100,000 inhabitants (0.006) (0.006) (0.346) (0.341) Locality size Ref: >100,000 inhabitants (0.003) (0.003) (0.437) (0.440) $2,500-14,999$ inhabitants -0.007^{***} -0.007^{***} -0.215 -0.269 Less than 2,500 inhabitants -0.020^{***} -0.020^{***} -0.915^{**} -0.942^{**} (0.003) (0.003) (0.408) (0.409) Municipality characteristics (0.023) (0.023) (2.195) (1.912) Share age 7-17 out of school -0.667^{***} -0.665^{***} -4.380^{**} -4.834^{**} (0.023) (0.023) (0.102) (1.082) (1.069) Share women in the LF 0.012 0.013 -0.965 -0.920 (0.200) (0.020) (0.023) (1.211) (1.448) Birth cohort FEyesyesyesyesState-by-year FEnoyesnoyes 0.52^{*} 0.116 0.117 0.134 0.152	High school	0.051***	0.050***	1.638***	1.652***
Vocational training (0.000) (0.000) (0.0312) (0.312) University degree (0.006) (0.006) $(0.035^{***}$ 2.051^{***} 2.071^{***} University degree 0.051^{***} 0.050^{***} 2.278^{***} 2.298^{***} (0.006) (0.006) (0.006) (0.346) (0.341) Locality size Ref: >100,000 inhabitants (0.003) (0.003) (0.346) (0.341) Locality size Ref: >100,000 inhabitants (0.003) (0.003) (0.437) (0.440) 2,500-14,999 inhabitants -0.007^{***} -0.215 -0.269 (0.002) (0.002) (0.002) (0.454) (0.459) Less than 2,500 inhabitants -0.020^{***} -0.020^{***} -0.915^{**} -0.942^{**} Share age 7-17 out of school -0.067^{***} -0.065^{***} -4.380^{**} -4.834^{**} (0.023) (0.023) (0.103) (0.408) (1.069) Share living in poverty 0.001 0.003 -0.302 0.326 (0.012) 0.012 -0.313 -0.965 -0.920 (0.010) (0.010) (1.162) (1.176) Constant 0.808^{***} 0.812^{***} 32.261^{***} 29.885^{***} (0.020) (0.023) (1.211) (1.448) Birth cohort FEyesyesyesyesObservations $230,256$ $230,256$ $230,256$ $230,256$ 2^2 0.116 0.117 0.134 0.152 <td>High-school</td> <td>(0.006)</td> <td>(0.006)</td> <td>(0.211)</td> <td>(0.212)</td>	High-school	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.211)	(0.212)
Vocational training 0.055 0.055 2.031 2.041 University degree (0.006) (0.006) (0.352) (0.347) University degree 0.051*** 0.050*** 2.278*** 2.298*** (0.006) (0.006) (0.346) (0.341) Locality size Ref: >100,000 inhabitants 0.001 -0.394 -0.334 (0.003) (0.003) (0.437) (0.440) 2,500-14,999 inhabitants -0.007*** -0.215 -0.269 (0.002) (0.002) (0.454) (0.459) Less than 2,500 inhabitants -0.020*** -0.915** -0.942** (0.003) (0.003) (0.408) (0.409) Municipality characteristics -0.067*** -0.065*** -4.380** -4.834** Share age 7-17 out of school -0.067*** -0.0053 (2.195) (1.912) Share women in the LF 0.011 0.003 -0.302 0.326 (0.010) (0.010) (1.162) (1.176) Constant 0.808*** 0.812*** 32.261*** 29.885*** (0.020) (0.0	Vecetional turining	(0.000)	(0.000)	0.311)	(0.312)
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	vocational training	0.000	0.000	2.001	2.071
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	TT · · ·	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.352)	(0.347)
$\begin{array}{c cccc} (0.006) & (0.006) & (0.346) & (0.341) \\ \hline \\ Locality size Ref: >100,000 inhabitants \\ 15,000-99,999 inhabitants & 0.001 & 0.001 & -0.394 & -0.334 \\ (0.003) & (0.003) & (0.437) & (0.440) \\ 2,500-14,999 inhabitants & -0.007^{***} & -0.007^{***} & -0.215 & -0.269 \\ (0.002) & (0.002) & (0.002) & (0.454) & (0.459) \\ Less than 2,500 inhabitants & -0.020^{***} & -0.020^{***} & -0.915^{**} & -0.942^{**} \\ (0.003) & (0.003) & (0.408) & (0.409) \\ Municipality characteristics \\ Share age 7-17 out of school & -0.067^{***} & -0.065^{***} & -4.380^{**} & -4.834^{**} \\ (0.023) & (0.023) & (2.195) & (1.912) \\ Share living in poverty & 0.001 & 0.003 & -0.302 & 0.326 \\ (0.009) & (0.010) & (1.082) & (1.069) \\ Share women in the LF & 0.012 & 0.013 & -0.965 & -0.920 \\ (0.010) & (0.010) & (1.162) & (1.176) \\ Constant & 0.808^{***} & 0.812^{***} & 32.261^{***} & 29.885^{***} \\ (0.020) & (0.023) & (1.211) & (1.448) \\ Birth cohort FE & yes yes yes yes yes \\ State-by-year FE & no yes no yes \\ R^2 & 0.116 & 0.117 & 0.134 & 0.152 \\ \end{array}$	University degree	0.051***	0.050***	2.278***	2.298****
Locality size Ref: >100,000 inhabitants 0.001 0.001 -0.394 -0.334 15,000-99,999 inhabitants (0.003) (0.003) (0.440) 2,500-14,999 inhabitants -0.007*** -0.007*** -0.215 -0.269 (0.002) (0.002) (0.454) (0.459) Less than 2,500 inhabitants -0.020*** -0.020*** -0.915** -0.942** (0.003) (0.003) (0.003) (0.408) (0.409) Municipality characteristics -0.065*** -4.380** -4.834** Share age 7-17 out of school -0.067*** -0.065*** -4.380** -4.834** (0.023) (0.023) (2.195) (1.912) Share living in poverty 0.001 0.003 -0.302 0.326 (0.009) (0.010) (1.082) (1.069) Share women in the LF 0.012 0.013 -0.965 -0.920 (0.020) (0.023) (1.211) (1.148) Birth cohort FE yes yes yes yes Observations 230,256 230,256 230,256 230,256 230,25		(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.346)	(0.341)
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Locality size Ref: >100,000 inhabitants				
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	15,000-99,999 inhabitants	0.001	0.001	-0.394	-0.334
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.437)	(0.440)
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	2,500-14,999 inhabitants	-0.007^{***}	-0.007^{***}	-0.215	-0.269
Less than 2,500 inhabitants -0.020^{***} -0.020^{***} -0.915^{**} -0.942^{**} Municipality characteristics (0.003) (0.003) (0.408) (0.409) Share age 7-17 out of school -0.067^{***} -0.065^{***} -4.380^{**} -4.834^{**} Share living in poverty 0.001 0.003 -0.302 0.326 Share women in the LF 0.012 0.013 -0.965 -0.920 Constant (0.020) (0.010) (1.162) (1.176) Constant 0.808^{***} 0.812^{***} 32.261^{***} 29.885^{***} Birth cohort FE yes yes yes yes yes Observations 230,256 230,256 230,256 230,256 230,256 R ² 0.116 0.117 0.134 0.152		(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.454)	(0.459)
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Less than 2,500 inhabitants	-0.020^{***}	-0.020^{***}	-0.915^{**}	-0.942^{**}
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.408)	(0.409)
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Municipality characteristics				
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Share age 7-17 out of school	-0.067^{***}	-0.065^{***}	-4.380^{**}	-4.834^{**}
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0	(0.023)	(0.023)	(2.195)	(1.912)
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Share living in poverty	0.001	0.003	-0.302	0.326
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		(0,009)	(0.010)	(1.082)	(1.069)
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Share women in the LF	0.012	0.013	-0.965	-0.920
Constant (0.010) (0.010) (1.102) (1.170) Constant 0.808^{***} 0.812^{***} 32.261^{***} 29.885^{***} (0.020) (0.023) (1.211) (1.448) Birth cohort FEyesyesyesyesState-by-year FEnoyesnoyesObservations $230,256$ $230,256$ $230,256$ $230,256$ R^2 0.116 0.117 0.134 0.152	Shore wollich in the Er	(0.012)	(0.010)	(1 169)	(1.176)
$\begin{array}{ccccc} 0.008 & 0.012 & 52.201 & 29.883 \\ (0.020) & (0.023) & (1.211) & (1.448) \\ Birth cohort FE & yes & yes & yes \\ State-by-year FE & no & yes & no & yes \\ \hline Observations & 230,256 & 230,256 & 230,256 & 230,256 \\ R^2 & 0.116 & 0.117 & 0.134 & 0.152 \\ \hline \end{array}$	Constant	0.010)	0.010)	(1.10 <i>4)</i> 20.061***	(1.170) 20.905***
(0.020) (0.023) (1.211) (1.448) Birth cohort FEyesyesyesyesState-by-year FEnoyesnoyesObservations230,256230,256230,256230,256 R^2 0,1160,1170,1340,152	Constant	0.000	0.012	02.201	29.000
Diffication yes yes yes yes yes State-by-year FE no yes no yes Observations 230,256 230,256 230,256 230,256 230,256 R ² 0,116 0.117 0.134 0.152	Diath ashout FF	(0.020)	(0.023)	(1.211)	(1.448)
State-by-year FE no yes no yes Observations $230,256$ $230,256$ $230,256$ $230,256$ $230,256$ $230,256$ R ² $0,116$ 0.117 0.134 0.152	Birth cohort FE	yes	yes	yes	yes
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	State-by-year FE	no	yes	no	yes
\mathbb{R}^2 0.116 0.117 0.134 0.152	Observations	230,256	230,256	230,256	230,256
	\mathbb{R}^2	0.116	0.117	0.134	0.152

 Table 3.2:
 Effect of FTS Program on School Enrollment

Notes: – Results are obtained from OLS regressions. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the municipality level). All columns control for municipality FE. – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

3.5.1.2 Market and Domestic Work

As a second step, we investigate the effect of the program on child labor by aggregating both market and domestic work. Table 3.3 shows the results of the effect of the program on total hours worked (columns I and II), the extensive margin, i.e., a binary variable indicating if the child works (columns III and IV), and the intensive margin, i.e., hours worked conditional on working (columns V and VI). The results from our preferred specification (using the variation of municipalities within the same state) show that children in municipalities where the share of FTS increase from 0 to 1 (full coverage) experienced a reduction in the number of total hours worked by 1.9 hours. The reduction in the number of hours worked is mainly driven by the extensive and not by the intensive margin. Due to the FTS program, the probability that a child is working decreases by 6.6 percentage points. At the intensive margin, the coefficients are negative and are significant at the 10% level when we account for state-by-year fixed effects.²¹

The results suggest that children who worked few hours per week are less likely to work after the FTS program. To make the results consistent with the roll-out of the program, we consider a one standard deviation increase in the share of FTS, i.e., an increase of 14 percentage points in the share of FTS, which would translate into a decrease in the probability that children work by 0.9 percentage points, which is equivalent to a 12% reduction in child labor.

Further results from Table 3.2 and 3.3 worth mentioning are: girls have both a higher probability of being enrolled in school and spending more time in schooling activities, but they are also more likely to work. The birth rank is an important determinant of schooling and work.

 $^{^{21}}$ We estimate the baseline specification using non-linear models and the results confirm that the effect is driven by the extensive margin. The effect for the extensive margin is similar in terms of magnitude and significant at the 10% level. See Table 3.A4 in the Appendix.

Dependent variable:	Total hours worked		Extensive	e margin	Intensive margin		
	Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI	
Share of FTS	-1.311^{***}	-1.868^{***}	-0.057^{***}	-0.066^{***}	-1.708	-3.615^{*}	
	(0.468)	(0.584)	(0.021)	(0.024)	(1.414)	(1.934)	
Girl	1.223***	1.225***	0.032***	0.032***	0.108	0.119	
	(0.047)	(0.047)	(0.002)	(0.002)	(0.203)	(0.199)	
Receives gov. support	-0.793^{***}	-0.785^{***}	-0.015^{***}	-0.015^{***}	-3.759^{***}	-3.803^{***}	
0 11	(0.096)	(0.095)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.275)	(0.273)	
Number of siblings	0.254***	0.254***	0.011***	0.011***	0.523***	0.513***	
0	(0.027)	(0.027)	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.093)	(0.093)	
Birth order Ref: First born	()	()	()	()	()	()	
Middle born	-0.598^{***}	-0.603^{***}	-0.024^{***}	-0.024^{***}	-0.924^{***}	-0.885^{***}	
	(0.065)	(0.065)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.251)	(0.252)	
Last born	-0.922^{***}	-0.923^{***}	-0.035^{***}	-0.035^{***}	-1.679^{***}	-1.661^{***}	
	(0.055)	(0.055)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.264)	(0.265)	
Both parents present	0.315	0.313	0.018**	0.018**	-0.332	$-0.345^{'}$	
	(0.211)	(0.210)	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.544)	(0.546)	
Mother education Ref: None		()	()	()	()	()	
Primary education	-0.892^{***}	-0.864^{***}	-0.025^{***}	-0.024^{***}	-1.542^{***}	-1.535^{***}	
	(0.183)	(0.179)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.487)	(0.487)	
Secondary education	-1.371^{***}	-1.345^{***}	-0.036^{***}	-0.035^{***}	-3.143^{***}	-3.131***	
	(0.191)	(0.188)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.513)	(0.507)	
High-school	-1.673^{***}	-1.647^{***}	-0.042^{***}	-0.042^{***}	-3.939***	-3.887***	
ingh belioor	(0.197)	(0.194)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.585)	(0.574)	
Vocational training	-1.890^{***}	-1.860^{***}	-0.059^{***}	-0.058^{***}	-3.918^{***}	-3.888^{***}	
	(0.203)	(0.200)	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.612)	(0.612)	
University degree	-2.116^{***}	-2.087^{***}	-0.064^{***}	-0.063^{***}	-4.099^{***}	-4.021^{***}	
	(0.206)	(0.202)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.654)	(0.650)	
Father education Ref: None/Father not present	(0.200)	(01202)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.001)	(0.000)	
Primary education	-0.621^{***}	-0.607^{***}	-0.018^{**}	-0.018^{**}	-1.107**	-1.098^{**}	
	(0.204)	(0.203)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.499)	(0.502)	
Secondary education	-1.007^{***}	-1.001***	-0.037^{***}	-0.037^{***}	-2.166^{***}	-2.102^{***}	
Secondary equation	(0.202)	(0.201)	(0.008)	(0.008)	(0.524)	(0.527)	
High-school	-1.095^{***}	-1.097^{***}	-0.046^{***}	-0.046^{***}	-2.525^{***}	-2.517^{***}	
ingh belioor	(0.207)	(0.206)	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.577)	(0.576)	
Vocational training	-1.090^{***}	-1.085^{***}	-0.046^{***}	-0.046^{***}	-1.468^{*}	-1.386^{*}	
	(0.248)	(0.248)	(0.010)	(0.010)	(0.807)	(0.811)	
University degree	-1.602^{***}	-1.587^{***}	-0.065^{***}	-0.064^{***}	-2.528^{***}	-2.584^{***}	
	(0.217)	(0.215)	(0.009)	(0.009)	(0.644)	(0.644)	
Locality size Ref: >100.000 inhabitants	(**==*)	(01220)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(01011)	(01011)	
15.000-99.999 inhabitants	0.258^{*}	0.280^{*}	0.005	0.006	1.750***	1.798***	
10,000 00,000 111100100100	(0.150)	(0.149)	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.629)	(0.621)	
2.500-14.999 inhabitants	0.268*	0.282**	0.008	0.008	0.994**	0.991**	
_,	(0.140)	(0.141)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.503)	(0.493)	
Less than 2.500 inhabitants	0.758***	0.761***	0.032***	0.032***	1.339***	1.407***	
	(0.137)	(0.136)	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.471)	(0.465)	
Municipality characteristics	(0.201)	(01200)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.11)	(01200)	
Share age 7-17 out of school	1.012	0.697	0.009	-0.006	6.068^{**}	5.418^{**}	
	(0.925)	(0.911)	(0.039)	(0.038)	(2.825)	(2.590)	
Share living in poverty	0.475	0.605	0.026	0.035	1.814	1.547	
2000 0 0 0 0 P 0 0 0 V	(0.500)	(0.487)	(0.023)	(0.023)	(1.533)	(1.487)	
Share women in the LF	1.000**	0.815*	0.014	0.004	3.524**	3.279**	
	(0.490)	(0.469)	(0.020)	(0.020)	(1.547)	(1.484)	
Constant	11.988***	11.814***	0.380***	0.376***	22.168***	21.569***	
	(0.703)	(0.785)	(0.031)	(0.036)	(1.599)	(1.979)	
Birth cohort FE	ves	ves	ves	ves	ves	ves	
State-by-year FE	no	ves	no	ves	no	ves	
	000.070	000.070	000.070	000.070	00 505	00 505	
Ubservations P ²	230,256	230,256	230,256	230,256	30,595	30,595	
n-	0.221	0.224	0.140	0.148	0.231	0.240	

Table 3.3: Effect of FTS Program on Child Labor

Notes: – Results are obtained from OLS regressions. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the municipality level). All columns control for municipality FE. – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Therefore, compared to first-born children, middle- and last-born children are more likely to be enrolled in school and spend more time in schooling activities. Similar to the results in Dammert (2010), we find that middle- and last-born children are less likely to work and conditional on working, they work fewer hours than the first-born child. Parental education also plays an important role, which is consistent with the literature on parental intergenerational transmission of schooling; i.e., higher levels of parental education increase school enrollment, schooling time, and decrease work at the extensive and intensive margins (see e.g., Pronzato, 2012; Lundborg *et al.*, 2018). Finally, compared to urban localities, children living in rural localities are less likely to go to school, are more likely to work, and work more hours.

Dependent variable:	Total hours worked		Extensive	e margin	Intensive margin		
	Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI	
A. Market work							
Share of FTS	-0.607^{**}	-0.935^{***}	-0.048^{***}	-0.050^{***}	0.146	-4.258	
	(0.252)	(0.351)	(0.015)	(0.018)	(2.895)	(3.389)	
Observations	230,256	230,256	230,256	230,256	12,651	12,651	
B. Domestic work							
Share of FTS	-0.704^{*}	-0.932^{**}	-0.023	-0.032	-1.090	-1.158	
	(0.372)	(0.475)	(0.017)	(0.020)	(1.129)	(1.534)	
Observations	$230,\!256$	230,256	230,256	$230,\!256$	19,609	19,609	
State-by-year FE	no	yes	no	yes	no	yes	

Table 3.4: Effect of FTS Program on Market and Domestic Work

Notes: – Results are obtained from OLS regressions. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the municipality level). The regressions include the full set of control variables, age dummies, and municipality FE. – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Next, we look at market (panel A) and domestic work (panel B) and estimate the impact of the FTS program on each type of work separately. Table 3.4 presents the results for total hours worked (column I and II), the extensive (column III and IV) and the intensive (column V and VI) margins, and reveals that the baseline coefficients are mainly driven by a reduction in market work. In municipalities where the share of FTS increased from 0 to 1, children decrease time spent on market work by almost 1 hour. Similar to the baseline estimates, this reduction is mainly driven by the extensive margin with a decrease in the probability of engaging in market work by 5 percentage points. Turning to domestic work, the estimated coefficients are negative in all columns; however, they are only statistically significant for total hours worked (columns I and II).

3.5.1.3 Impacts by Year: Individual and Municipality Level

We estimate the baseline model including an interaction term between the share of FTS and year dummies using the data at the individual level and at the municipality level. Figure 3.4 reports the results at the individual level and Figure 3.5 reports the results aggregating the data at the municipality level. For the latter, we calculate the average school enrollment rate, child labor rate, and hours worked at the municipality level by year. We run fixed effects regressions controlling for the interaction of the share of FTS with yearly dummies, municipality fixed effects, municipality time varying characteristics, and state-by-year fixed effects.

This approach allows us to evaluate pre-existing differences before the roll-out of the program. In both figures, we observe that the point estimates for 2009 and 2011 are not statistically significant. The results on school enrollment rates are very close to zero and not statistically significant in all years. The results for the child labor indicators show that the impact kicks-in after 2011, which corresponds to the national roll-out of the program.

The figures show negative point estimates for the total hours worked, the extensive, and intensive margins. The point estimates become more negative in 2013 and 2015 which is consistent with Figure 3.3 showing that the share of FTS increased the most during this period. The size of the coefficients is also in the same range of our baseline estimates. Due to the coarser aggregation level, the standard errors are larger when estimating the model at

the municipality level. The Figures also show that in 2017, the impact of the FTS program vanishes. As previously shown, implementation of the program slowed down considerably after 2015, which could explain why the effect is not significant in 2017. To explore whether the impact truly vanishes after several years of implementing the program at the municipality level, we conduct an event study design in the robustness section. The event study shows that the effects are persistent several years after the municipality joins the program and are particularly strong for municipalities implementing the FTS program at a higher intensity.



Figure 3.4: EFFECT OF THE SHARE OF FTS BY YEAR: INDIVIDUAL LEVEL ESTIMATES Source: ENOE – Módulo de Trabajo Infantil (MTI), authors' analysis.

Notes: - The figure shows the point estimates and confidence intervals at the 95% level of regressions. The regressions include the interaction of the share of FTS with year dummies, as well as the full set of control variables and fixed effects. The standard errors are clustered at the municipality level.


Figure 3.5: Effect of the Share of FTS by Year: Municipality Level Estimates

Source: ENOE – Módulo de Trabajo Infantil (MTI), authors' analysis. Notes: – The figure shows the point estimates and confidence intervals at the 95% level of regressions using data at the municipality level. The regressions control for the interaction of the share of FTS with year dummies, municipality time varying characteristics, municipality fixed effects, and state-by-year fixed effects. The standard errors are clustered at the municipality level.

3.5.2 Heterogeneous Effects

To investigate gender differentials by type of work, we interact the share of FTS with a gender dummy. Table 3.5 reports the coefficients for the total hours worked (panel A), the extensive margin (panel B), and the intensive margin (panel C).

In column I, we focus on our aggregate definition of work, in column II on market work, and column III on domestic work. The results (panel A, column I) show a similar pattern as in the baseline results: for boys, we observe a decrease in total hours worked by 1.5 hours, which is driven by a reduction in the probability to work by 6 percentage points and a decrease in conditional hours worked by 4 hours, but the latter is only significant at the

	Any work	Market work	Domestic work		
	Ι	II	III		
	A.	A. Total hours worked			
~					
Share of F [*] TS	-1.517^{**}	-1.365^{***}	-0.151		
	(0.596)	(0.379)	(0.494)		
Girl	1.301^{***}	-0.771^{***}	2.072***		
	(0.061)	(0.057)	(0.063)		
Girl x Share of FTS	-0.713^{***}	0.873^{***}	-1.586^{***}		
	(0.270)	(0.219)	(0.257)		
Observations	$230,\!256$	230,256	230,256		
	B. Extensive margin				
Share of FTS	-0.060^{**}	-0.071^{***}	-0.002		
	(0.025)	(0.019)	(0.021)		
Girl	0.034^{***}	-0.040^{***}	0.078^{***}		
	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)		
Girl x Share of FTS	-0.012	0.043^{***}	-0.062^{***}		
	(0.014)	(0.012)	(0.013)		
Observations	$230,\!256$	230,256	230,256		
	(C. Intensive m	argin		
Share of FTS	-3.978^{*}	-4.258	-1.205		
511010 01 1 1 5	(2.081)	(3.547)	(1.793)		
Girl	0.060	-1.029^{**}	1.147***		
~	(0.254)	(0.425)	(0.227)		
Girl x Share of FTS	0.650	0.000	0.066		
SHEA SHOLO I I IS	(1.294)	(2.179)	(1.048)		
Observations	30 595	12.651	19 609		
	00,000	12,001	10,000		

10% level. In this column, we find a stronger reduction in total hours worked for girls in comparison to boys.

 Table 3.5:
 EFFECT OF FTS PROGRAM BY GENDER

Notes: – Results are obtained from OLS regressions. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the municipality level). The regressions include the full set of control variables, municipality and state-by-year fixed effects. – *** p<0.01; ** p<0.05; * p<0.1.

We also find significant differences for boys and girls when looking at market and domestic work separately. The gender dummy reveals that compared to boys, girls spend less hours in market work and more hours in domestic work. This is true not only for total weekly hours worked, but also for the extensive and intensive margins. The interaction term shows that due to the FTS program boys are 7.1 percentage points less likely to engage in market work, while for girls the effect is about half of the size (2.8). In contrast, girls are 6.2 percentage points less likely to participate in excessive domestic work, while for boys the coefficient is close to zero and not statistically significant.²² Our results are consistent with previous findings related to CCTs which find a stronger reduction in market work for boys (de Hoop and Rosati, 2014; Skoufias *et al.*, 2001; Ferreira *et al.*, 2009; Galiani and McEwan, 2013) and in domestic work for girls (Corona and Gammage, 2017).

We explore other sources of heterogeneity by interacting the share of FTS with a dummy variable indicating: (i) if the child resides in a rural or urban area, (ii) household income quintile, (iii) household poverty level, (iv) the child's age group, and (v) the child's birth rank. The results are reported in Table 3.6.

The results in panel A show that the estimated coefficient is larger for rural areas, however the difference is not statistically significant. This may seem surprising, but child labor is not only concentrated in the rural sector in Mexico. In fact, the MTI data shows that out of all children who are working 33% reside in urban areas.²³

To measure the impact by poverty level, we construct two indicators in Panel B and C. For the first definition, we interact the share of FTS with a categorical variable indicating the household income per person in quintiles (panel B). The second definition, is based on a categorical variable indicating if the family lives in extreme poverty, moderate poverty, or is above the poverty line (panel C).²⁴

 $^{^{22}}$ The results are similar if we estimate the regressions for the sample of boys and girls separately.

 $^{^{23}45\%}$ of children who work and reside in urban areas report trade as their main activity, followed by 21% who work in restaurants, 17% provide services, 10% work in manufactures, and 5% in construction, the rest report other activities.

²⁴This variable is a more precise measure for the household income indicating if it is below the basic basket of goods including only food items (extreme poverty), if the household income is below the basic basket of goods including food and non-food items (moderate poverty), or if the household income is above the basic basket of goods including food and non-food items. We use information the yearly average costs of the basket for rural and urban areas provided by provided by the CONEVAL (2019).

Dependent variable:	Total hours	Ext. margin	Int. margin		
	I	II	III		
		A. Rural			
Share of FTS	-1.551^{**}	-0.055^{*}	-2.593		
Bural x Share of FTS	$(0.666) \\ -0.477$	$(0.030) \\ -0.017$	$(2.386) \\ -1.248$		
	(0.503)	(0.024)	(1.919)		
Observations	230,256	230,256	30,595		
	B. F	IH income qui	ntile		
Share of FTS	-1.521^{**}	-0.052^{*}	-2.715		
and without of ETTS	(0.726)	(0.029)	(2.418)		
2nd x Share of F15	-0.575	(0.007)	(1,000)		
and y Share of FTS	(0.333)	(0.029)	(1.900)		
Shu x Share of F15	-0.877 (0.534)	-0.023	(1.003)		
Ath y Share of ETS	(0.034) 1.071*	(0.024)	(1.993)		
4th x Share of F15	-1.071	-0.000	(2.153)		
5th y Sharo of FTS	(0.000)	(0.024)	(2.105)		
oth x Share of F15	(0.523)	(0.024)	(2.172)		
Observations	(0.525)	(0.024) 208 720	(2.172) 20.171		
	208,720 208,720 29,171				
	С. но	usenoia povert	y level		
Share of FTS	-2.460^{***}	-0.086^{***}	-5.773^{***}		
	(0.643)	(0.028)	(2.221)		
Poverty x Share of FTS	0.387	0.011	2.506		
	(0.377)	(0.019)	(1.709)		
Extreme poverty x Share of FTS	0.687^*	0.033	3.208^{**}		
	(0.399)	(0.022)	(1.625)		
Observations	208,720	208,720	$29,\!171$		
		D. Age group			
Share of FTS	-0.652	-0.032	1.967		
	(0.690)	(0.029)	(3.417)		
Age: 9-10 x Share of FTS	-0.438	-0.002	-0.884		
	(0.277)	(0.017)	(2.758)		
Age: 11-12 x Share of FTS	-1.533^{***}	-0.052^{**}	-6.585^{**}		
	(0.462)	(0.024)	(2.999)		
Age: $13-14 \times \text{Share of FTS}$	-2.902^{***}	-0.083^{**}	-6.833^{**}		
	(0.867)	(0.037)	(3.099)		
Observations	$230,\!256$	230,256	30,595		
		E. Birth order	•		
Share of FTS	-2.078^{***}	-0.074^{***}	-3.938^{*}		
	(0.594)	(0.026)	(2.025)		
Middle born x Share of FTS	0.105	-0.000	0.869		
	(0.355)	(0.016)	(1.367)		
Last born x Share of FTS	0.443	0.020	0.083		
	(0.331)	(0.019)	(1.518)		
Observations	$230,\!256$	$230,\!256$	30,595		

 ${\bf Table \ 3.6:} \ {\rm Heterogeneous} \ {\rm Effects} \ {\rm of} \ {\rm the} \ {\rm FTS} \ {\rm Program \ on} \ {\rm Child} \ {\rm Labor} \\$

Notes: – Results are obtained from OLS regressions. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the municipality level). The regressions include the full set of control variables, municipality and state-by-year fixed effects. – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

The results show a general decline in child labor across all income quintiles. The coefficients turn more negative as the income quintile increases, suggesting that there is a smaller impact for children at the bottom of the income distribution. However, for most of the quintiles the differences are not statistically significant.

We find significant differences when focusing on the more precise definition for poverty measure at the household level i.e., a definition of poverty focusing on the lowest income quintiles that establishes slightly different poverty thresholds for rural and urban areas. The results show that although there is a decrease in child labor for all groups, but the decrease is smaller for children who are living in extreme poverty (columns I and III).

These results indicate that children above the poverty line are the ones who can afford to work less and suggest that a "wealth paradox" exists. Child labor is not only present for families in extreme poverty and there is a non-linear relationship between child work and economic status of the household (Bhalotra and Heady, 2003; Edmonds, 2005; Basu *et al.*, 2010). We argue that the decrease in child labor is smaller for households with higher poverty levels because they rely more on the work from all family members to cover their subsistence needs. For these families, poverty alleviation programs such as CCTs are effective in decreasing child labor because they address income and credit constrains (de Hoop and Rosati, 2014). The FTS program, however, has a larger impact for households which are less income-constrained because they are better able to substitute the child's work with labor from other household members.

We also find significant differences when looking at different age groups (panel D). The table shows that compared to children aged 7-8, the effect is larger for older children and this is true for all outcome variables. These results are in line with the descriptive evidence provided in Figure 3.1, which shows that child labor rates are higher for older children, and that older children experienced a larger reduction in the rate from 2011 to 2017. The results

show that the effect is mainly driven by children in the age groups 11-12 and 13-14, who experienced a reduction in the probability to work and in conditional hours worked. This result can be explained by the fact that the likelihood to work increases with age. The data shows 3% of children aged 7 are engaged in domestic or market work and this share increases to 29.2% by age 14. The load of work also increases with age. At age 7, children work on average 13.7 hours per week and at age 14, 22.2 hours. Therefore, the results capture a significant decrease in child labor for the group of children who are more likely to work and have a heavier work load. Finally, we find no significant differences when looking at the birth order (panel E).

3.5.3 Robustness Tests

In this subsection we address the concern that the roll-out of the program is not random, we do so by implementing alternative models to take into account the unobserved heterogeneity. As a first step, we start by using an IV approach to predict the share of FTS. We instrument the share of FTS using the interaction of the share of eligible schools at the municipality level with the allocated yearly budget for the program at the state level. Both the state level budget and the share of eligible schools are important predictors of the roll-out and should be uncorrelated with individual outcomes.

The first-stage results, reported in Table 3.A5 in the Appendix, show that both the share of eligible schools and the budget are positively correlated with the share of FTS, but only the latter is statistically significant. The interaction term is negative, which implies that with a larger share of eligible schools the effect of the budget on the share of FTS becomes smaller. We estimate the marginal effects and plot them in Figure 3.A2. This figure shows that the higher the budget at the state level the higher the share of FTS; however, these effects are smaller in areas with a higher share of eligible schools. While this relationship may seem counter-intuitive, a simple explanation is that the share of eligible schools decreases as additional schools are covered by the program i.e., there is a strong negative raw correlation between these two variables. Therefore, by construction the budget will have stronger effects in places where the share of eligible schools is smaller because these places have a larger proportion of FTS covered by the program. The results of the second-stage are reported in panel A of Table 3.7 and are in line with the results in the baseline specifications.

	DI EOIFICATIONS			
Dependent variable:	School enroll.	Total hours	Ext. margin	Int. margin
	I	II	III	IV
	A	. Predicted	share of FTS	
Pred. share FTS Observations	$\begin{array}{c} 0.000 \\ (0.007) \\ 230,256 \end{array}$	-0.898^{**} (0.435) 230,256	-0.045^{**} (0.018) 230,256	$\begin{array}{c} -0.811 \\ (1.136) \\ 30,595 \end{array}$
		B. Simple I	Diff-in-Diff	
Above median x Post 2012 Observations	-0.003 (0.004) 230,256	-0.365^{**} (0.185) 230,256	-0.018^{**} (0.008) 230,256	-0.381 (0.614) 30,595

 Table 3.7: Effect of the Share of FTS on Child Labor: Alternative

 Specifications

Notes: – Results are obtained from OLS regressions. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the municipality level). All regressions include the full set of control variables, municipality and state-by-year FE. – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Second, we estimate a simple DiD model following Havnes and Mogstad (2011b) and (Blanden *et al.*, 2016) in Panel B. We define treatment and control municipalities according to the median of the roll-out. The treatment variable takes the value 1 if the municipality had a share of FTS equal or higher than the median during the school year 2017/2018. The policy variable takes the value 1 after the national roll-out in 2013. The results confirm our baseline results and indicate that in treated municipalities child labor rates decreased more after 2012 in comparison to control municipalities.

Third, we estimate an event study design using a similar approach as in Fischer and Argyle (2018) and define the control group as municipalities with a very small share of schools covered by the program.



Figure 3.6: Event Study: Impact of FTS Program on Schooling and Child Labor

Source: ENOE – Módulo de Trabajo Infantil (MTI), authors' analysis.

Notes: - The set up of the event study design uses the time since the municipality exceeded the 25th percentile of average coverage i.e., 8% of schools in the municipality are covered by the program. The regression includes the full set of controls and fixed effects. The area in grey represents the confidence interval at a 95% level. The standard errors are clustered at the municipality level.

In this case, we cannot use zero FTS as the threshold as most municipalities in our sample have at least one school covered by the program. Thus, we define time zero (in event time) as the first year when the municipality exceeds a coverage above the 25th percentile i.e., about 8% of schools in the municipality are part of the program.²⁵ Figure 3.6 reports the results. In general, the estimated coefficients are close to zero and not statistically significant. However,

²⁵These results are also robust to taking a lower threshold of implementation into account such as the 10th percentile and are available upon request.

as this design does not take into account differences in implementation at the municipality level, we further show the results dividing the sample by tercile of implementation using the share of FTS in 2017. Figure 3.7 shows the results focusing on total hours worked and the extensive margin.



Figure 3.7: Event Study by Tercile: The Impact of FTS Program on Schooling and Child Labor

Source: ENOE – Módulo de Trabajo Infantil (MTI), authors' analysis. Notes: – The set up of the event study design uses the time since the municipality exceeded the 25th percentile of average coverage i.e., 8% of schools in the municipality are covered by the program. The results are provided by tercile based on the coverage of the program in 2017. The regression includes the full set of controls and fixed effects. The area in grey represents the confidence interval at a 95% level. The standard errors are clustered at the municipality level.

The figure shows no significant differences for individuals living in municipalities in the first tercile i.e., municipalities with the smallest coverage of the program. For individuals residing in municipalities classified in the second and third terciles, we observe a decrease in total hours worked and in the extensive margin. These effects are persistent several years after the municipality is first classified as treated. These figures further support that parallel

trends exist as most point estimates during the pre-treatment periods are not statistically significant.

Finally, this design allows us to test if our results are robust to possible biases in two-way fixed effects models with heterogeneous treatment effects (Goodman-Bacon, 2021; Callaway and Sant'Anna, 2021). In order to avoid our results to be driven by forbidden comparisons, we further restrict the control group to never-treated municipalities. We estimate the model using the framework suggested by Callaway and Sant'Anna (2021) and report the results in Figure 3.A3 in the Appendix. The figure shows no significant differences in the pre-treatment periods, a small and statistically significant increase in school enrollment, and a decrease in hours worked in the post-treatment periods. We find no statistically significant differences in the extensive and intensive margins, which could be explained by the number of observations that are dropped from the sample to restrict the comparison to never-treated municipalities. However, the strong post-treatment decrease in hours worked goes in line with the baseline results.

In addition to testing different models, we further show in Table 3.A6 in the Appendix whether the baseline results are sensitive to a number of alternative specifications. In panel A, we show that the baseline results are not driven by our choice of control variables at the individual level. For this specification, we exclude all individual control variables i.e., child and parental characteristics, and control only for municipality and state-by-year fixed effects. Since, Figure 3.2 shows that during 2017 the roll-out of the FTS program slowed down and the share of FTS remained at a similar level as in 2015, we estimate in panel B, the impact of the FTS program for the period 2011-2015. The results remain robust after excluding information from 2017.

In panel C, we show that the results are robust to the inclusion of a state specific linear time trend. This specification accounts for diverging trends in child labor at the state level due to e.g., changes in economic circumstances or state-level policies that could indirectly impact child labor. This addresses the concern that the drop in child labor rate observed in Figure 3.1 is driven by pre-existing trends at the state level.

Our baseline specification includes both primary and secondary schools. As some secondary schools offered a slightly longer school-day than primary schools, before the official roll-out of the program, we estimate a robustness test focusing only on primary schools and primary-aged children. In this case, the roll-out variable indicates the share of full-time primary schools at the municipality level (out of all primary schools in the municipality). The results reported in panel D, show that our results are robust.

In panels E, F, and G, we restrict the sample and exclude certain municipalities to show that they are not driving the results. In panel F, we exclude municipalities where the share of FTS was very large during the piloting phase. To do so, we identify municipalities where the share of FTS exceeded the median (12%) before 2012 and excluded them from the analysis. In panel F, we exclude the top 5% implementing municipalities to show that they are not driving the results. In this case, the municipalities dropped from the sample had more than 53% of schools covered by the program. Finally in panel F, we exclude highly-marginalized municipalities as it is likely that specific poverty-reduction programs are implemented in these municipalities. To identify highly-marginalized municipalities we use the CONEVAL data for 2010 and exclude municipalities where the marginalization index scored very-high and high. Our results are robust to the exclusion of certain municipalities.

Finally, in panel H, we show that the baseline results are also robust to an alternative definition of the program. Instead of focusing on the number of schools that participate in the program at the municipality level, we focus on the share of students enrolled in FTS by municipality and school calendar year. This definition captures capacity at the municipality level as it reflects the number of full-time seats available by school calendar year. Using the number of students covered instead of the schools covered yields similar results.

3.5.4 Mechanisms

A potential mechanism to consider is the highly subsidized meal provided by schools operating on an eight-hour basis. Access to a school meal results in lower schooling costs because meals are an implicit subsidy to the parents. In addition, school lunches can increase the returns to education because they foster learning via access to better nutrition (see e.g., Bhattacharya *et al.*, 2006; Jayaraman and Simroth, 2015). On average for the school calendar year 2017/2018, 53% of FTS operate on an eight-hour basis. We cannot directly test the effect of children who have access to the subsidized meal due to data limitations, but we know the share of schools at the municipality level that are part of the program and offer the food service. To explore whether the results are driven by access to eight-hour schools, we estimate the baseline model controlling for the share of eight-hour schools out of the total FTS at the municipality level ($FTS_8/Total FTS$). The data shows that during the school year 2017/2018 out of the total number of FTS, 52% offered a warm meal. This share is similar in rural (52%) and urban (53%) areas..

Table 3.A7 in the Appendix shows that the coefficients for the share of eight-hour schools are negative and statistically significant in panel A and B. The estimated coefficient for the share of FTS at the municipality level is larger in magnitude.²⁶ The results combined suggest that the additional time spent in school is the main driver of the reduction in child labor. However, the subsidized meal is also partially leading to a more negative effect. In addition, the meal could be indirectly related to keeping enrollment rates constant, due to lower schooling costs and increasing returns to education.²⁷

 $^{^{26}}$ The number of observations differs from the baseline specification because the data stating if the school operates on a six or eight-hour basis is only available starting 2012.

²⁷We find no significant impact on school attendance. The results are available upon request.

We further test if the FTS program led to changes in labor market outcomes of other household members. The program could indirectly affect the labor supply of other family members through two different channels. If the household depends on the income the child produces, other household members might need to increase their labor supply to compensate for the income loss by entering the labor market or by increasing the hours worked (see e.g. Manacorda, 2006). This would be an important concern if the reduction in child labor for younger siblings results in an increase in the probability to work for older siblings who are still underage. This would mean that child labor rates did not decrease, but just shifted to the slightly older groups. Alternatively, a longer school day could be an indirect subsidy to childcare which simultaneously would decrease the costs of employment of other household members e.g., a schooling day which is more compatible with the workday can lead to an increase in labor force participation of mothers, specially those with young children (Contreras and Sepúlveda, 2016).

We analyze the effect of the FTS on labor force outcomes of other household members using a similar approach as in Padilla-Romo and Cabrera-Hernández (2019).²⁸ However, we deviate from their work by looking not only at parental labor supply, but at the labor supply of older siblings. In addition, since spending more time at school provides an indirect subsidy for child care, that is, less need for childcare within the household (Dammert, 2010), we also focus on time spent on domestic activities for these household members. For the sample of older siblings, we focus on individuals who are in the 15-18 age range and who are not enrolled in basic education, to make sure they are not directly affected by the program. We restrict the sample to individuals younger than 18, because 18 is the age of legal adulthood in Mexico.

Although we cannot use variation at the individual level when focusing on child labor, the ENOE database allows us to build a panel and estimate the effect of the program using

²⁸The authors use a difference model instead of a fixed effects model.

within-individual variation for household members older than 15. We compare individual outcomes from the first and fifth round of the survey i.e., the first and last time individuals are surveyed. We focus on this yearly measure because the share of FTS varies only once (at the start of the school year) for each individual. We estimate the following model:

$$Y_{imt} = \kappa + \delta FTS_{mt} + \eta' \mathbf{Z}_{imt} + \lambda_i + \tau_{st} + \upsilon_{imt}$$
(3.2)

where Y_{imt} , is the labor outcome of parent (sibling) *i* in municipality *m* at school year *t*. The main outcomes we look at are: a binary variable indicating if the individual is active in the labor force (column I), a continuous variable indicating the total weekly hours worked (column II), and the total weekly hours spent on domestic activities (column III) presented in Table 3.8 respectively. To avoid outliers we recode the top 1% of total hours worked and spent in domestic work as missing. Similar as before, δ is the effect of the program on the labor market outcomes of the individual. Z_{imt} is a vector of individual time varying characteristics such as age, age of the youngest child (sibling) in the household, and their respective squared terms. λ_i captures individual fixed effects, τ_{st} captures state-by-year-by-quarter fixed effects, and v_{imt} the error term. We cluster the standard errors at the municipality level.

In addition, we estimate the impact of the program for parents (siblings) who are not living with a child younger than 14 as a placebo test. In the specific case of siblings, we use the same restrictions mentioned above. The results are reported in Table 3.A9 in the Appendix.

Looking at the response of parents to the program, Table 3.8 (Panels A and B) report the estimated coefficients for mothers and fathers. For mothers, we find a positive and significant effect on the likelihood of being active in the labor force of 7.7 percentage points. This is in line with the results in Padilla-Romo and Cabrera-Hernández (2019). While the authors find a positive and significant effect for weekly hours worked, our estimates are positive but

Dependent variable:	LFP	Market work	Domestic work	
	Ι	II	III	
		A. Mothe	rs	
Share of FTS	0.077***	1.228	-0.119	
	(0.029)	(1.174)	(1.255)	
Observations	322,752	322,752	322,752	
	B. Fathers			
Share of FTS	0.020	0.843	1.205^{*}	
	(0.015)	(1.479)	(0.681)	
Observations	265,409	265,409	265,409	
		C. Older sib	lings	
Share of FTS	0.026	0.868	-0.027	
	(0.017)	(0.644)	(0.277)	
Observations	125,267	125,267	125,267	

Table 3.8: Effect of FTS Program on Household Members: Child Aged 7-14 Lives in the Household

Notes: – Results are obtained from fixed-effects regressions. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the individual level). The regressions control for age, age squared, age of youngest hh member, age of youngest hh member squared, individual and state-by-year FE. – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

not significant, which could be explained by differences in the sample composition.²⁹ For fathers, we observe no significant impact on labor force participation and hours worked, but a small increase in the number of hours spent on domestic activities, which could be explained by mothers taking up more work outside the household.

Looking at the response of siblings to the program, Table 3.8 (Panel C) reports the estimated coefficients. We find no significant effect on the likelihood of being active in the labor force nor on the number of hours worked. This finding further supports a reduction in child labor rates and not a shift in the supply of work from younger individuals to slightly older individuals who have not reached adulthood. Finally, the results of the placebo

 $^{^{29}}$ Padilla-Romo and Cabrera-Hernández (2019) focus on a different time period (2005-2016) and on full-time primary schools for their analysis.

regression in Table 3.A9 in the Appendix show no significant effects neither for mothers, fathers, nor for older siblings.

Combined with the results from the previous section, we conclude that it is plausible that the increase in the labor force participation of mothers is not exclusively driven by the increased subsidy to child care provided by the extension of the school day, but also through an income effect to compensate the decrease in child labor. Although we do not observe directly households where children stop working in a panel format, we show two different approaches to validate our argument. We first show that the increase in labor force participation is driven by mothers from a disadvantaged background i.e., income constrained families. Figure 3.A4 in the Appendix shows the effect of the FTS program on LFP of mothers by i) household income quintile and ii) by education level of the mother. The figures show that the increase in labor force participation is driven by mothers in the lowest income quintile. We also find significant impacts for mothers in the third income quintile. However, the results looking at the education levels support the claim that mothers from more disadvantaged backgrounds increase more their LFP. In this case, mothers with low education levels i.e., primary education drives the increase in LFP.

In addition, if the increase in LFP of mothers only operates through an increase in subsidized childcare of the FTS program, then we would expect that mother who face lower childcare costs because e.g., a grandparent (or adult woman) lives in the household, would respond less to the program. We test if the presence of a grandparent or other adult women in the household leads to significant differences in the effect. In fact, informal childcare by grandparents is very common in Mexico and 55% of children are cared for by their grandparents while the parents are working (Villegas Raya, 2019). To do this, we construct an indicator that takes the value 1 if a grandparent lives in the household and an additional indicator that takes the value 1 if women over the age of 18 live in the household (excluding

the mother).³⁰ Then we interact the share of FTS with these indicators, respectively. The results in Table 3.A8 in the Appendix reveal that the presence of a grandparent (or adult woman) leads to no significant differences of the impact of FTS on the labor participation of mothers. The interaction coefficient is very close to zero and not statistically significant.

Both findings combined, support our argument that the labor supply of mothers does not only increase due to a childcare subsidy, but also due to a substitution effect between child and adult labor. Income constrained parents will rely on child labor to meet the subsistence needs of the household (Dammert *et al.*, 2018). In this case, as schooling time is increasing, the parents substitute child labor for adult labor to keep household consumption levels constant.

3.6 Conclusion

Several Latin American countries have achieved the goal of universal primary coverage, thus current education policies are shifting from increasing school enrollment to increasing schooling time. Several countries have implemented programs that shift the traditional part-time schooling day to full-time in order to extend learning opportunities and develop competences (UNESCO, 2015). Previous studies on full-time schools have found that fulltime schools have a positive impact on test scores (see e.g., Bellei, 2009; Hincapie, 2016; Cabrera-Hernández, 2020; Agüero, 2016), a decrease in the probability that children engage in risky activities (Berthelon and Kruger, 2011), and even an increase in the participation of mothers in the labor force (Contreras and Sepúlveda, 2016; Padilla-Romo and Cabrera-Hernández, 2019). We contribute to this literature, by analyzing the effect of increasing instruction time in school on school enrollment and child labor.

 $^{^{30}\}mathrm{We}$ also test the regressions conditional on women over 25 and find similar results. The results are available upon request.

Our empirical strategy exploits the staggered implementation of the FTS program at the municipality level in Mexico. The FTS program extended the time spent in school from four to six or eight hours and was implemented gradually from 2009 to 2018. We find that the share of FTS has no impact on school enrollment, but led to a strong decrease in child labor.

In terms of standard deviations, an increase in the FTS share by one standard deviation (14 percentage points) results in a decrease in the probability that children work by 0.9 percentage points i.e., a 12% reduction in child labor.³¹ Moreover, a simple cost-benefit calculation suggests that the costs of the program per student are relatively low, while the benefits of the program in terms of both academic and non-academic outcomes are large in comparison. For the school calendar year 2017/2018, the cost of the program was on average 156.25 USD³². This amount represents a 5% increase of the average public spending on education per student which was equal to 2,656 USD for primary and 3,034 USD for secondary students in 2012 (OECD, 2020). A back of the envelope calculation shows that a 0.9 percentage points decrease in the child labor rate translates to 158 thousand children aged 7-14 who stopped working due to the FTS program.

Even though the program fulfilled its main objective of improving schooling outcomes (Cabrera-Hernández, 2020), in 2019, the Ministry of Education in Mexico announced that for the school calendar year 2020/2021, the budget for the FTS program will be cut by 52% (Toribio, 2019). The budget cut implies not only that no new schools will be included in the program, but also that schools currently operating on a full-time day will go back to the part-time schedule. The evidence provided in this study reveals that such a rollback of the program may result in an increase in child labor and a decrease in LFP of mothers with young children.

 $^{^{31}\}mathrm{Population}$ estimates report that 17.9 million children aged 7-14, out of whom 7.5% were engaged in child labor.

 $^{^{32}}$ For the school calendar year 2017/2018 the program covered 3 million children enrolled in basic education and had a budget of 10 billion pesos, which implies a cost of 3 thousand pesos per child. We use the average exchange rate for 2018 which is 19.2 pesos for one USD.

Our results have important policy implications not only for Mexico, but also for other Latin American countries, where primary schooling is almost universal, but child labor rates remain a concern. First, we show that the shift from part-time to full-time school days decreases the probability to engage in child labor. Second, in line with Padilla-Romo and Cabrera-Hernández (2019) we find that the program has important spill-over effects within the household causing mothers with children aged 7-14 to increase their labor force participation. Thus, policies aimed at extending the instruction time in school can contribute to the global goal of eradicating child labor and can simultaneously increase the participation of mothers with young children in the labor force.

Appendix Chapter 3



Figure 3.A1: MARGINALIZATION DEGREE BY MUNICIPALITY Source: Consejo Nacional de Población (CONAPO), authors' analysis.



Figure 3.A2: MARGINAL EFFECTS: STATE LEVEL BUDGET AND SHARE OF ELIGIBLE SCHOOLS ON PREDICTED SHARE OF FTS Source: ENOE, authors' analysis.

Note: The graph shows the marginal effects of the interaction term used to estimate the first-stage of the IV regression model. The graph shows the impact on the outcome variable at different budget levels and share of eligible schools. The values in the x-axis show different log budget levels starting at 10 because the average budget for the program at the state level is 144 million pesos.



Figure 3.A3: Event Study: Impact of FTS Program on Schooling and Child Labor

Source: ENOE – Módulo de Trabajo Infantil (MTI), authors' analysis.

Notes: - The set up of the event study design uses the time since the municipality exceeded the 25th percentile of average coverage i.e., 8% of schools in the municipality are covered by the program following Callaway and Sant'Anna (2021). The regression includes municipality and time fixed effects. The control group is restricted to never-treated municipalities. The area in grey represents the confidence interval at a 95% level. The standard errors are clustered at the municipality level.



Figure 3.A4: Effect of FTS Program on LFP of Mothers by Income Quintile AND Education Level Source: ENOE, authors' analysis.

	Below	median	Above median		
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	$\Delta \operatorname{Mean}^a$
Share of FTS	0.007	0.011	0.025	0.042	0.019***
Dependent variables					
Attends school	0.967	0.179	0.968	0.175	0.001
Weekly hours spent on school activities	30.672	11.241	30.253	11.720	-0.419^{**}
Child is working	0.162	0.368	0.176	0.381	0.014^{**}
Cond. weekly hours worked	20.347	12.334	19.580	11.329	-0.767^{*}
Market work	0.068	0.252	0.070	0.256	0.002
Household work	0.102	0.303	0.116	0.320	0.014^{***}
Cond. weekly hours worked (market)	16.660	14.724	15.299	13.967	-1.361^{*}
Cond. weekly hours worked (domestic)	18.889	7.993	18.302	6.841	-0.587^{*}
Child characteristics					
Age	10.636	2.284	10.592	2.290	-0.044
Male	0.511	0.500	0.509	0.500	-0.002
Receives gov. support	0.204	0.403	0.269	0.443	0.064^{***}
Number of siblings	3.096	1.415	3.155	1.470	0.059^{**}
Birth order					
First born	0.349	0.477	0.348	0.476	-0.001
Middle born	0.318	0.466	0.326	0.469	0.008
Last born	0.333	0.471	0.326	0.469	-0.007
Both parents present	0.827	0.378	0.812	0.390	-0.015^{***}
Mother's education level					
No education	0.065	0.246	0.081	0.273	0.017^{***}
Primary education	0.394	0.489	0.349	0.477	-0.046^{***}
Secondary education	0.296	0.456	0.289	0.453	-0.007
High-school	0.106	0.308	0.103	0.304	-0.003
Vocational training	0.074	0.262	0.092	0.289	0.018^{***}
University degree	0.065	0.246	0.086	0.280	0.021^{***}
Father's education level					
No education	0.049	0.215	0.060	0.238	0.012^{***}
Primary education	0.359	0.480	0.341	0.474	-0.018^{**}
Secondary education	0.311	0.463	0.278	0.448	-0.033^{***}
High-school	0.127	0.333	0.141	0.348	0.013^{**}
Vocational training	0.036	0.186	0.044	0.206	0.008***
University degree	0.118	0.323	0.136	0.343	0.018^{***}
Locality size					
More than 100,000 inhabitants	0.449	0.497	0.416	0.493	-0.033^{***}
15,000-99,999 inhabitants	0.177	0.382	0.136	0.342	-0.042^{***}
2,500-14,999 inhabitants	0.158	0.365	0.149	0.356	-0.009^{*}
Less than 2,500 inhabitants	0.216	0.411	0.299	0.458	0.084^{***}
Municipality characteristics					
Share age 7-17 out of school	0.114	0.083	0.113	0.071	-0.001
Share living in poverty	0.314	0.198	0.331	0.204	0.017^{***}
Share women in the LF	0.475	0.138	0.464	0.141	-0.012^{***}
Observations	14,511		35,897		

Table 3.A1: PRE-NATIONAL FTS ROLL-OUT DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS

Notes: – The sample is restricted to the year 2009 before the FTS program was rolled out. To define the groups we use the roll-out at the municipality level for the school year 2017/2018. – ^a The column shows the difference in mean values between municipalities in the below and above median classification. – Significance stars indicate the result of the respective t-test. – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Table 3.A2: MARGINALIZATION INDICATORS BY FT	'S INTENSITY OF IMPLEMENTATION
--	--------------------------------

	Below median		Above median		
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	$\Delta \ \mathrm{Mean}^a$
Total population (in 1,000)	65.950	170.278	78.589	165.952	12.639
Share of inhabitants:					
Who cannot read and write (older than 15)	12.510	8.092	10.830	8.309	-1.681^{***}
Without primary education (older than 15)	31.283	12.319	28.915	11.897	-2.369^{***}
Without access to drainage and sanitary services	5.861	8.208	7.786	10.380	1.925^{***}
Without piped water	14.915	17.706	11.790	14.997	-3.125^{***}
Living overcrowded	44.525	11.034	42.992	12.035	-1.533^{**}
Living with ground floors	11.519	10.196	8.665	8.735	-2.854^{***}
Living in localities < 5000 inhabitants	57.727	36.017	59.323	34.495	1.596
Earning less than 2 min. wages	57.264	18.947	54.300	18.351	-2.964^{***}
Marginalization degree:					
Very low	0.158	0.365	0.172	0.378	0.014
Low	0.170	0.376	0.236	0.425	0.066^{***}
Medium	0.412	0.493	0.391	0.488	-0.021
High	0.147	0.354	0.111	0.315	-0.035^{**}
Very high	0.114	0.318	0.089	0.285	-0.024
Observations	634		808		

Notes: – The marginalization level data is obtained from (CONAPO, 2019) at the municipality level. We use data for 2010 to measure pre-program municipality characteristics. – ^a The column shows the difference in mean values between municipalities in the below and above median classification – Significance stars indicate the result of the respective t-test. – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

fable 3.A3: Child Labor Rate ani	IMPLEMENTATION OF THE	FTS Program
---	-----------------------	-------------

	Ι	II	III	IV
Child labor rate	-0.018	-0.016	_	_
	(0.018)	(0.015)		
Child labor rate t-2	_	—	0.005	-0.001
			(0.019)	(0.017)
State-by-year FE	no	yes	no	yes
Observations	4,063	4,063	3,058	2,247
\mathbf{R}^2	0.831	0.895	0.922	0.953

Notes: – Results are obtained from OLS regressions. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the municipality level). All columns control for municipality FE and year FE. – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

	Total hours	Ext. margin	Int. margin
	Tobit	Probit	Heckman
Share of FTS	-10.049^{*}	-0.054^{**}	-4.525
	(5.396)	(0.023)	(3.626)
Inverse Mills Ratio	_	—	1.150
			(5.491)
Observations	230,256	228,966	$12,\!651$

Table 3.A4: EFFECT OF FTS PROGRAM USING NON-LINEAR MODELS

Notes: – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the municipality level). The regressions include the full set of control variables, municipality FE, and state-by-year FE. The table shows coefficients of a Tobit regression, average marginal effects of a Probit regression, and coefficients of the outcome equation of a Heckman selection model. Note that in the Probit model the sample size is reduced because there are some municipalities where all or none of the children work, and have been excluded from the sample. – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Table 3.A5: FIRST-STAGE RESULTS

	Ι
A. First-stage results	
Share of eligible schools	0.056
	(0.171)
Share of eligible schools X Ln(State budget)	-0.052^{***}
Observations	(0.009) 230,256

Notes: – Results are obtained from OLS regressions. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the municipality level). The specification includes the full set of controls and municipality FE, and state-by-year FE. The F-statistic for the interaction term is equal to 36.28 and the critical value of the t-statistic in the regression is -6.02. – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Dependent variable:	School enroll.	Total hours	Ext. margin	Int. margin		
	I	II	III	IV		
		A. On	ly FE			
Share of FTS	0.011	-2.308^{***}	-0.084^{***}	-3.903^{*}		
	(0.013)	(0.643)	(0.026)	(2.104)		
Observations	$230,\!256$	$230,\!256$	$230,\!256$	30,595		
	B. Excluding 2017					
Share of FTS	0.013	-2.829^{***}	-0.099^{***}	-4.808^{**}		
	(0.013)	(0.625)	(0.026)	(2.260)		
Observations	188,573	188,573	188,573	26,255		
	C. 1	Including a s	tate time tre	nd		
Share of FTS	-0.001	-1.476^{***}	-0.059^{**}	-1.881		
	(0.012)	(0.546)	(0.024)	(1.776)		
Observations	$230,\!256$	$230,\!256$	$230,\!256$	30,595		
	D.	Only prima	ry age childre	en		
Share of primary FTS	0.002	-1.367^{***}	-0.058^{***}	-2.642		
- 0	(0.010)	(0.477)	(0.019)	(1.757)		
Observations	218,964	218,964	218,964	27,628		
	E. 1	Exclude pilot	t municipaliti	es		
Share of FTS	0.003	-2.147^{***}	-0.091^{***}	-3.253		
	(0.014)	(0.644)	(0.026)	(2.160)		
Observations	207,362	$207,\!362$	207,362	$27,\!976$		
	F. Excl	ude top 5% i	implementing	g mun.		
Share of FTS	-0.001	-2.126^{***}	-0.077^{***}	-3.564		
	(0.015)	(0.694)	(0.027)	(2.332)		
Observations	217,434	217,434	217,434	28,333		
	G. Exclude marginalized mun.					
Share of FTS	0.003	-2.008^{***}	-0.073^{***}	-4.209^{**}		
	(0.011)	(0.572)	(0.025)	(1.909)		
Observations	223,949	223,949	223,949	28,940		
	H. Alternative definition					
Share of students in FTS	-0.006	-1.585^{**}	-0.065^{**}	-2.279		
	(0.013)	(0.637)	(0.026)	(2.117)		
Observations	$230,\!256$	$230,\!256$	230,256	30,595		

Table 3.A6: Effect of the Share of FTS on Child Labor: Robustness

Notes: – Results are obtained from OLS regressions. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the municipality level). Except for Panel A, all regressions include the full set of control variables, municipality and state-by-year FE. – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Dependent variable:	Total hours	Ext. margin	Int. margin	
	Ι	II	III	
	A. Any work			
Share of FTS	-1.739^{*}	-0.088^{**}	-0.645	
	(1.018)	(0.044)	(3.713)	
Share of 8 hrs FTS^a	-0.773^{**}	-0.023^{*}	-1.356	
	(0.358)	(0.014)	(1.154)	
Observations	$126,\!913$	126,913	13,946	
	B. Market work			
	D. Warket work			
Share of FTS	-0.755	-0.055	0.411	
	(0.581)	(0.034)	(7.392)	
Share of 8 hrs FTS^a	-0.528^{**}	-0.017^{*}	-3.810	
	(0.256)	(0.009)	(2.340)	
Observations	$126,\!913$	126,913	5,739	
	C. Domestic work			
Share of FTS	-0.984	-0.026	-3.148	
	(0.876)	(0.035)	(3.544)	
Share of 8 hrs FTS^a	-0.244	-0.007	0.604	
	(0.277)	(0.011)	(1.076)	
Observations	126,913	126,913	8,889	

 Table 3.A7: Effect of FTS Program Controlling for the Share of Eight-Hour Schools

Notes: ^a Share of eight hours FTS over total FTS at the municipality level. – Results are obtained from OLS regressions. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the municipality level). The regressions include the full set of control variables, municipality and state-by-year FE. – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Dependent variable:	Ι	II
Share of FTS	0.077***	0.073**
	(0.030)	(0.030)
Grandparent lives in HH	0.005	—
	(0.012)	
Share of FTS X Grandparent	-0.005	_
	(0.053)	
Adult women living in HH	_	0.003
		(0.005)
Share of FTS x Adult women	—	0.018
		(0.025)
Observations	322,752	322,752

 Table 3.A8: Effects of FTS Program on Mothers' LFP: Grandparent Living in HH

Notes: – Results are obtained from fixed-effects regressions. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the individual level). The regressions control for age, age squared, age of youngest hh member, age of youngest hh member squared, individual and state-by-year FE. – **** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Dependent variable:	LFP	Market Work	Domestic Work
	I	II	III
	A. Mothers		
Share of FTS	0.040	1.327	-0.692
	(0.029)	(1.176)	(1.232)
Observations	303,755	303,755	303,755
	B. Fathers		
Share of FTS	0.013	1.273	-0.385
	(0.029)	(1.746)	(0.646)
Observations	211,038	211,038	211,038
	C. Older siblings		
Share of FTS	-0.031	-0.390	1.712
	(0.064)	(2.258)	(1.072)
Observations	$103,\!619$	$103,\!619$	$103,\!619$

Table 3.A9: Effect of FTS Program on Household Members: No Child Aged7-14 Lives in the Household

Notes: – Results are obtained from fixed-effects regressions. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the individual level). The regressions control for age, age squared, age of youngest hh member, age of youngest hh member squared, individual and state-by-year FE. – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

4 The Double Burden: The Impact of School Closure on the Labor Force Participation of Mothers*

Abstract: This paper investigates the effect of school closure on the labor force participation (LFP), hours worked, extensive, and the intensive margin of women in Mexico for the years 2017 to 2021. Using a difference-in-differences approach, I analyze how school closure, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, affects the labor supply of women with school-aged children, 6 to 14 years old, versus women with nursery-aged children, 0 to 5 years old. This approach allows me to isolate the impact of school closure from the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The findings show that mothers with children younger than 14 decrease their LFP by about 2.6 percentage points. Mothers with school-aged children, however, decrease their LFP by an additional 1.7 percentage points and increase their domestic work. The decrease is observed for all women with low or middle education level, formal and informal employment, and income quantiles. However, I find no decrease for single-mothers and mothers with access to informal child care.

^{*}This chapter contains minor revisions of: Kozhaya, M., The Double Burden: The Impact of School Closures on the Labor Force Participation of Mothers. Ruhr Economic Papers No. 956. I thank Christian Bredemeier, Kerstin Schneider, Fernanda Martínez Flores, and Franz Westermaier for their constructive comments. I also thank the participants of the internal research seminar at the University of Wuppertal. All remaining errors are my own.

4.1 Introduction

School closure is often considered as a way to slow down the spread of different diseases such as influenza or the COVID-19 virus (De Luca *et al.*, 2018; Dave *et al.*, 2021; UNICEF, 2021a). According to UNICEF (2021a) report, in the year 2020, 168 million children in 14 countries worldwide were affected by the full school closure due to the COVID-19 pandemic.¹ From March 2020 to February 2021, schools worldwide closed for about 95 days. Latin America and the Caribbean were the regions with the longest school closures, with an average of 158 days. Therefore, school closures in those regions affected women's labor force participation negatively. According to the ILO (2022a) report for Latin America and the Caribbean, the greatest impacts are shown for certain types of sectors that rely intensively on female labor force such as commerce, restaurants and hotels, and many others. Moreover, the loss was mostly observed in micro, small and medium sized enterprises as well as informal employment where women's labor force participation is also predominant. 23.6 million women lost their jobs in the second quarter of 2020, and only 19.3 percent of the jobs were recovered by the end of 2021. Accordingly, more than 4 million women were not able to join or return to their work (ILO, 2022a).

Therefore, in many countries i) schools were closed for months, and ii) we know to what extent the economic crisis related to the pandemic affected employment, but we do not know to what extent school closures had an impact on labor market outcomes. In particular, Mexico has closed its schools for 214 days, in terms of schooling days this accounts to more than 1 year of home-schooling. Therefore, in Mexico alone, out of the 168 million children affected globally by school closure, 33.2 million (20%) students missed almost all classroom instruction time, making Mexico rank as the 3rd out of the 14 most affected countries, proceeded by Bangladesh 36.8 million (22%), and Brazil 44.3 million (26%) (UNICEF,

¹Not to mention also that more than 1 in 7 children globally have been deprived from at least three quarters of their in-person learning with teachers.

2021a). Many classes in Mexico were shifted to online or via television and many students did not have access to internet. Thus, because of the lack of support in child care and the increased need for supervision at home, the reincorporation of women in the labor force has been mitigated (Insituto Nacional De Las Mujeres, 2020b).²

This paper estimates the impact of the school closure in Mexico on a number of labor indicators for women with school-aged children. The studies done in the literature have analyzed i) the effect of schooling on maternal employment and ii) the overall effect of school closures and the COVID-19 pandemic on the gender inequality in the labor force market. The main results in the paper provide new evidence on labor outcome variables for women with school-aged children by i) isolating the economic impact of school closures from the COVID-19 pandemic, and ii) highlighting the importance of schools as a mean of child care.

First, the literature on mothers' labor force participation for developed countries finds mixed results when evaluating the impact of child care subsidies. Some studies have shown that by increasing child care such as investing in public child care or introducing new kindergartens would increase maternal employment (Meyers *et al.*, 2002; Gelbach, 2002; Baker *et al.*, 2008; Cascio, 2009; Nollenberger and Rodríguez-Planas, 2015; Bauernschuster and Schlotter, 2015; Brilli *et al.*, 2016; Bick, 2016). Fitzpatrick (2010); Havnes and Mogstad (2011a); Asai *et al.* (2015) show, however, that since more families are not living anymore with grandparents, families tend to substitute informal child care by child care programs provided by the government. Therefore, child care availability at home is not correlated with mothers' labor force participation. For developing countries, few studies show that the availability of child care such as increasing the enrollment in pre-schools increases maternal employment (Berlinski and Galiani, 2007; Martínez and Perticará, 2017; Dang *et al.*, 2019).

 $^{^{2}}$ By closing schools, many statistics have shown that working parents were obliged to stay home (Baldwin and Weder, 2020; Brynjolfsson *et al.*, 2020).

Second, there is an emerging literature for developed countries on the labor force participation of mothers related to COVID-19 school closures. These studies estimate the gender inequality of COVID-19 and school closures on labor force participation and the total hours worked of men and women in the labor market (Adams-Prassl *et al.*, 2020; Amuedo-Dorantes *et al.*, 2020; Landivar *et al.*, 2020; Rojas *et al.*, 2020; Collins *et al.*, 2021; Couch *et al.*, 2021; Hanzl and Rehm, 2021; Yamamura and Tsustsui, 2021). The latter studies find out that mothers with young children are the ones that are more likely to suffer and carry the burden of reducing hours worked and taking care of children at home.³

However, the empirical evidence for school closures for developing countries is scarce and the evidence from developed countries can not be translated to developing countries because i) sector of employment differs, ii) role of the mothers is still traditional, and iii) the lack of government financing for stay-home policies. Very few studies have looked at the general impact related COVID-19 pandemic on working conditions of households. Bundervoet *et al.* (2022) focus on 34 developing countries to evaluate the short-run impact of COVID-19 on the labor force participation of different household members. They find that 36% of the individuals stopped working just after COVID-19. The most affected were women, youth, and lower educated workers that were already considered a disadvantaged group before the COVID-19 pandemic. Egger *et al.* (2021) evaluate nine developing countries by using 16 survey samples and document that the COVID-19 pandemic caused income decreases ranging from 8% to 87% and food insecurities that lasted almost 3 months after the pandemic.

Hoehn-Velasco and Penglase (2021) explore the effect of the pandemic on formal employment in Mexico. The study shows that formal employment decreases by 5%. The authors

³Other studies have also checked the impact of school-closures on other outcomes such as the spread of viral diseases (see e.g. Cauchemez *et al.*, 2008; Adda, 2016; Nafisah *et al.*, 2018), stay-at home behaviors (Castillo *et al.*, 2020; Gostin and Wiley, 2020), on working remotely in different sectors (Espitia *et al.*, 2022), on productivity, work engagement, stress (Galanti *et al.*, 2021), on marital relationships (Chasson *et al.*, 2021; Shah *et al.*, 2021), and on children's obesity (Tester *et al.*, 2020; Tripathi *et al.*, 2021).

also show that men recover their jobs faster relative to women.⁴ Only the study done by Alon et al. (2022) shows how the COVID-19 pandemic has affected women vs. men's employment and the type of employment sector that was mostly affected, using a DiD approach. The study shows that the recession caused by the COVID-19 in Nigeria causes women with school aged children to experience the largest drops in employment rates. Furthermore, by looking at the sector of employment the authors show that those mothers that had to go to the workplace and could not work remotely are the ones that suffer the most. Yet no study for developing countries has aimed so far to analyze the direct impact of school closure, independently from COVID-19, on women's labor force participation. This paper aims at filling in this gap.

In March 20, 2020, Mexico closes its schools for almost 15 months. This serves as a natural experiment to be able to disentangle the real effect of school closure on women with school-aged children 6 to 14 that were directly affected by school closure vs. women that had children in the age range 0 to 5 years that were not directly affected by school closure. To estimate the effect of school closure, this paper makes use of the Mexican Labor Force Survey (ENOE) for the years 2017 to 2021. The data is a rotating panel that interviews households for 5 quarters and is collected on a quarterly basis. It provides rich information on employment and many socio- and demographic characteristics for the households. My empirical strategy exploits school closure as a natural experiment. I look at the group of women with school-aged children that were directly affected by school closure. I implement a DiD approach that exploits school closure in the second quarter of 2020 as the natural cutoff to assign individuals to treatment or to the control group and evaluate the short-run impact of school closure on labor outcomes of women with school-aged children. In addition, due

⁴Previous literature (see e.g., Goldin and Mitchell, 2017; Juhn and McCue, 2017; Kleven *et al.*, 2019; Sieppi and Pehkonen, 2019) has shown that women with children suffer long-term effect of a child penalty which is associated to their employment participation by those women preferring family over their career.

to the panel structure of the data, I estimate within mother effects by including individual effects in the estimation to observe them only right before and after the school closure.

I assign women with school-aged children (6 to 14) in the treatment group and women with nursery-aged children (0 to 5) in the control group. Those women with school-aged children were already working more and benefiting from child care provided by the schools, and therefore they were directly affected by school closure. Women with nursery-aged children were not directly affected by school closure because i) their children are too young to attend pre-school and ii) pre-school enrollment rates are low.⁵ To test the robustness of my estimations and to show that the control group is not affected by school closure, I provide the results of a placebo test, the results focusing on a control group restricted to women that have no children.

Accordingly, this paper contributes to the literature in three different ways. First, this is the first paper for developing countries that evaluates the direct impact of an exogenous shock, i.e, the school closure in Mexico, caused by the COVID-19 pandemic on the extensive and the intensive margin of employment for women with school-aged children (6 to 14 years old) relative to women with nursery-aged children (0 to 5 years old) that were not affected by the school closure. Mexico serves as an ideal example because children aged 0 to 5 had low pre-school enrollment rates, giving rise to a new control group that enables to isolate the effect of school closure from the COVID-19 pandemic. I further show, using a dynamic DiD estimation, that the decrease in the labor force participation of women with school-aged children is observed almost 1 year after schools closed. This shows that women did not anticipate that school closures will last long, but since schools remained closed for more than 1 year in terms of instruction time, women were not able to adjust and started dropping out

⁵Pre-school education is part of basic education in Mexico as of the school year 2008-2009 and is for children that are aged 3 to 5 years old. Governments also provide other day care subsidies for children younger than 3 years (Yoshikawa *et al.*, 2007).
of the labor force. But, when looking at domestic work the effect is directly shown in the third quarter of 2020 when the schools closed, due to the fact that work at home increases directly due to the increase in child care at home.

Second, since mother's labor force participation relies heavily on the presence of child care, such as the presence of grandparents (Lumsdaine and Vermeer, 2015; Bratti *et al.*, 2018); studies have shown that informal child care increases the labor force participation of the mothers (Hank and Buber, 2009; Bratti *et al.*, 2018; Kanji, 2018). Therefore, I further contribute to the literature by analyzing different channels that could mitigate the effect of school closure such as access to informal child care through the presence of grandparents or adult women in the household.

Third, I expand on the work done by Couch et al. (2021), Yamamura and Tsustsui (2021) and Collins et al. (2021) by not only taking men as a control group but using alternative control groups as follows: i) women with nursery-aged children 0 to 5, ii) women with children aged 0 to 3, iii) women with no children, and iv) men with school-aged children. Couch et al. (2021) use a DiD approach to show that the male-female gap for employment and working hours during the COVID-19 pandemic, in the U.S. labor market, increases for women with school-aged children but not for women with younger children. The study shows that all women were more likely to have higher educational levels and to work remotely which mitigated the effect of COVID-19 in comparison to men. Yamamura and Tsustsui (2021) show how school closures in Japan affect parents work-style by using a simple OLS regression. Their findings are also inline with Couch et al. (2021) showing that women with primary school children increased teleworking in comparison to men and women with children in high school were not affected. Collins et al. (2021) further analyze the U.S. labor market and show that school closure affects women with young children by reducing their working hours up to 5 times relative to fathers. Therefore, I go further to expand my analysis and analyze different heterogeneous effects focusing not only on the labor outcomes

but also on different household characteristics such as income and poverty levels, education level (except for high education), and region of residence that are affecting women differently. I also analyze different employment characteristics such as formal and informal employment, paid vs. unpaid work, and the sector of employment, because women usually work in the informal and tertiary sectors, which were most affected by the pandemic (ECLAC, 2021).

My findings show that school closure decreases the labor force participation of women with school-aged children by 1.7 percentage points and employment decreases by 1.9 percentage points. A back of the envelope calculation shows that 750 thousand women with children aged 6 to 14 have stopped working because schools closed. Those results are mainly driven by a decrease in the informal sector, paid work, and the services sector.⁶ I also find that for women with school-aged children, domestic work increases by almost 1 hour per week, mainly driven by an increase in the time spent taking care of other household members. Although one additional hour of domestic work per week may seem like a small effect, the pre-treatment mean shows that women in the treatment spend 30 hours per week on domestic work and only 20 hours on market work. Furthermore, I show that all women with school-aged children, irrespective of their age, are affected negatively by school closure when looking at income levels, poverty level, education level, and rural vs. urban areas. Then, when looking at how different channels of school closure work, I find that the labor outcomes of single women or of women having a grandparent or adult women in the household are not affected by school closures. This highlights the importance of informal child care support at home after experiencing a shock like the school closure.

This paper is structured as follows: Section 4.2 presents the background and provides additional information on the school closure in Mexico. Sections 4.3 and 4.4 present my data and identification strategy, Section 4.5 shows the results, and Section 4.6 concludes.

⁶Paid work is a dummy variable whether the individual gets paid conditional on working.

4.2 Background

4.2.1 Composition of the Labor Market and Statistics

The ILO (2022c) reports that over 2 million moms globally left the labor force participation in 2020 because of job-losses and school closures. Specifically, in Latin America and the Caribbean the labor force participation of mothers with small children decreased from 56.4% in 2019 to 51.5% in 2020 (a 4.9 percentage-point decrease compared to 2.7 percentage points for men). Furthermore, the COVID-19 pandemic had negative impacts on the female labor force participation and employment conditions for female population 15 years and older. The latter decreased from 52% in 2019 to 46% in 2020. Not to mention that also 56.9% of the women are employed in sectors that were mostly affected by the pandemic.

Now by looking at Mexico in particular, in 2018, 78% of men and only 44% of women in Mexico participated in economic activities. This is one of the largest gender gaps among the OECD countries (OECD, 2021d; Insituto Nacional De Las Mujeres, 2018). Female labor force participation in Mexico also differs from the labor markets in other countries because it relies mostly on the informal sector (53.4% of the population) with 58.8% of women being more likely to work in the informal sector than men (50.1%) (ILO, 2018). Looking at the sector of employment in Mexico, the ILO report shows that 72.8% (52.3%) of women (men) work in agriculture, 46.1% (51.9%) in industry, and 60.8% (48.2%) in services. According to INEGI (2021) for the last 10 years, the economic participation of women has grown by 15.7 percentage points, from 33.3% in 2010 to 49% in 2020. However, due to the pandemic, in the months of April and May of the year 2020 female labor force participation fell to almost 35%.

Therefore, Mexico witnessed a decrease in the economically active population by 12 million, being 7 million men and 5 million women. In relative terms, this resembles a decrease by

20% of the male labor force and 22% of the female labor force (Insituto Nacional De Las Mujeres, 2020a). The statistics provided by the Insituto Nacional De Las Mujeres (2020b) show that men recover at a faster rate than women reaching a rate of 72.5%, which is only 5.5% lower than the pre-pandemic level. The rate of recovery for women seems to be at a slower rate 39%, being 12.7% lower than the pre-pandemic period.

Despite the major improvement in labor force participation only 4 out of 10 women in Mexico participate in the labor market. Therefore women's participation in paid work still lies behind that of men, due to lack of child care, inappropriate distribution of work at home, inflexible working conditions, and many others (Insituto Nacional De Las Mujeres, 2018). Moreover, women still hold the traditional role in Mexico by taking care of children, therefore, the participation rate of women in domestic work is still very high (96.1%) compared to men (65.4%) (Insituto Nacional De Las Mujeres, 2018). In 2019, the majority of women in Mexico worked part-time 36.62%, and only 19.15% of men had a part-time job (ILO, 2019).

Looking at partnered parents, estimates in 2019 show that women with children in Mexico had, in general, a labor force participation rate by about 36.5% relative to 87.6% for fathers (ILO, 2019). Therefore, the establishment of women into the labor force requires proper access to child care and to establish provisions for maternity care. According to INEGI (2018c) 77.4% of working women do not have child care or maternity services in Mexico.⁷ In addition, more than half of the population of women already working (12.4 out of 21.6 million) have at least one school-aged child (Insituto Nacional De Las Mujeres, 2020a).⁸ Therefore, school closures may increase the burden of domestic work of women and lead to a disproportionate impact in terms of the labor force participation, in particular, for women with school-aged children.

⁷According to article 170 of the Federal Labor Law *(Ley Federal del Trabajo)*, women have the right for a rest period of one and a half months before and after birth of the child. For an extensive overview of the maternity services provided in Mexico see (Ley Federal del Trabajo, 2012).

 $^{^{8}6.4}$ million women out of the 12.4 had children under the age of 6 and the other 6 million had children between 7 and 12 years old.

4.2.2 School Closure in Mexico

Taking early childhood education and care into account, since the academic year 2008/2009, all Mexican children aged 3 to 6 years old are required by law to attend three years of early childhood education (Monroy and Trines, 2019). However, preschool enrollment rates are smaller than primary school enrollment rates. In 2015, 98% of children aged 6 to 11 attended school, 93.3% were between 12 and 14 years old, and 77% were between 3 and 5 years old (INEE, 2018a).⁹ In Mexico, preschool or initial education was first established in the education system after the Educational Reform done in 2019, where preschool or initial education has been recognized as part of basic education and therefore compulsory for children aged 3 to 5 years old (Centro de Investigación Económica y Presupuestaria, 2019). Nonetheless, primary school attendance rate was almost universal and pre-school attendance rates are still among the lowest enrollment rates, especially when looking at the 0 to 3 years old children (OECD, 2021c).

The national school closure was implemented on the 20, March 2020. Due to the pandemic, primary and lower secondary schools were closed for almost 214 days, and upper secondary schools closed for 264 days (OECD, 2021b).¹⁰ Therefore, almost 33.2 million children and teenagers had to stay home. School started reopening gradually after 15 months of closure (Mexico Daily News, 2021).¹¹ Moreover, Kindergartens had to close as well but few women with nursery-aged children were still able to send their children to daycare unlike women with school-aged children. For example, some child care centers for children younger than 5 remained opened, mostly to allow mothers in "necessary" occupations to continue working.¹² Therefore, to rule out the concern that women with nursery-aged children are also affected

 $^{^9\}mathrm{School}$ enrollment rate is 73% for individuals aged 15 to 17.

¹⁰The number of days closed excludes holidays and weekends.

¹¹School closures happened during the period ranging from January 2020 until May 20, 2021 (OECD, 2021b).

¹²According to the news, the 221 child care centers owned by the institute of security and social services for state workers (ISSSTE) daycare centers have remained opened (ISSSTE, 2021).

by school closure, I provide further analysis with different control groups by taking other control groups that were also not affected by school closure: i) women without children, ii) women with children aged 0 to 3, and iii) men with school-aged children and show that the results remain robust to the alternative definitions of the control groups. A summary of the different definitions used for treatment and control is provided in Table 4.A1 in the Appendix.

In addition, communication between teachers and students took place mostly through digital tools during the pandemic for the school year 2019/2020. The most used tools are smart-phones 65.7%, followed by laptops 18.2%, desktop computers 7.2%, 5.3% digital television, and 3.6% using tablets. According to OECD (2020) only 57% of the students reported having access to a computer, and for students distributed at the bottom quartile only 14% of them reported having a computer.¹³ Home-schooling and online learning was facilitated by teachers and parents, especially mothers. According to Bozkurt *et al.* (2020), mothers of children below the age of 12 were the ones who had the burden of home-schooling, making mothers the ultimate substitute for teachers.

4.3 Data and Descriptive Statistics

4.3.1 Data

The data used for this study comes from the Mexican National Survey on Occupation and Employment (ENOE). Since 2005, this data set collects information on a quarterly basis on households in a rotating panel for 5 quarters.¹⁴ The ENOE survey is representative at

 $^{^{13}}$ In Mexico only 51.2% of the households have a computer and only 70% have access to internet. Those statistics are biased to wealthier families living in urban areas (Covarrubias, 2021).

¹⁴As of the 3rd quarter of 2020, the ENOE also started collecting data on a monthly and quarterly basis. Due to COVID-19 the information was not collected for the 2nd quarter of 2020, however, this does not influence the analysis because I am interested in the yearly trajectory change and not only in the change that happened in 2nd quarter of 2020.

the state level and records rich information on labor force participation¹⁵, employment and weekly hours worked, parental demographic characteristics (education level, marital status, and monthly income) and household characteristics (number of children, household size, household income, and the age of the children), as well as time spent on several household activities, that is domestic work (as weekly hours spent on building the household, renovating, doing household chores, and taking care of the elderly or children or the sick).

For the main analysis, I restrict the period of observation from 2017 to 2021, i.e., three years before school closure and 1 year after. This allows me to i) account for pre-treatment differences between the treatment and the control group, and ii) estimate the causal impact of school closure on mothers with school-aged children. Next, I restrict my sample as follows: first, sample of women between 20 and 55 years old. Then, I compare women with school-aged children (6 to 14 years) who are directly affected by the school closure vs. women with nursery-aged children (0 to 5 years) who were not directly affected by school closure. For this sample I observe a total of 382,322 women. In addition, for the robustness tests I further include i) women with no kids, ii) women with children aged 0 to 3, and iii) men with school-aged children.

4.3.2 Descriptive Statistics

I start my analysis by providing graphical evidence on the development of the labor force participation and hours worked of (i) women with no children, (ii) women with school-aged children, and (iii) women with nursery-aged children.

Figure 4.1 shows that before school closure, both the labor force participation and hours worked have a level difference between the different groups of women. However, after the school closure we see that both women with no children and women with nursery-aged

 $^{^{15}\}mathrm{Labor}$ force participation comprises of those who are employed and unemployed individuals searching for a job.



Figure 4.1: LABOR FORCE PARTICIPATION AND HOURS WORKED OF WOMEN ACCORDING TO SURVEY YEAR Source: ENOE, authors' analysis.

Notes: – The figure illustrates labor force participation and hours worked of women with no kids vs. women with school kids who are aged 6 to 14 years old and vs. women who have nursery-aged kids 0 to 5 years old. School closures happened in the second quarter of 2020. Schools started reopening in the third quarter of 2021.

children rebound fast and go back to levels similar to those before the school closure. However, when looking at women with school-aged children we see that the decrease persists causing the labor force participation and hours worked to still lie behind the levels of what they had before the school closure.¹⁶ This preliminary descriptive inspection shows that indeed the labor force participation of women with school-aged children is more affected than that of women with younger children (or without children).

¹⁶As of the third quarter of 2021 we see a small drop in the labor force participation of mothers with nursery-aged children, this is can be explained because the president of Mexico started canceling some child care programs. However, this does not affect my results since I provide other definitions for control group to show that my estimation is robust.

Next, I show in Table 4.1 the descriptive statistics for all women with school-aged children (treatment group) and for all women with nursery-aged children (control group). The final column provides the difference between means for the two groups to test if the difference in means is significant. The table shows that 57% of women in treatment group participate in the labor force, 56% of them are employed, and work almost 20 hours per week in market work and 32 hours per week in domestic work. Now, conditional on working those women work on average 36 hours per week and 46% of them work in the formal sector. Moreover, almost 95% of those women work in paid employment. As for women in the control group, we observe some minor level difference for labor force participation 47%, employment 46%, and conditional on working 54% of women in the control group work in the formal sector. Women in the control group work less in market work (16 hours), and spend more time on domestic work than the treatment (43 hours).

Looking at the sector of employment, on average, 2.5% of treatment and control groups work in the primary sector (agriculture), 17% work in the secondary sector (manufacturing), and 81% in the tertiary sector (services). On average women in the sample are 38 years old and have on average 3 children. 86% of them are married and for 77% of them the spouse is present at home. 5% of them have a grandparent present in the household. As for their education, 2% do not have education, 18% have primary education, 35% have secondary degree, 26% have a high-school degree or vocational training, and almost 20% have a university degree. 58% of the women in treatment and control live in localities with more than 100,000 inhabitants, i.e., highly urbanized areas. Localities are smaller geographical units than municipalities and capture the level of urbanization (high, middle, low, or rural) in the locality the individual resides.

Table 4.1: Descriptive Statistics: Pre-School Closure of Women with Children

	A	A11	Treatme	ent before	Contro	ol before	T-test
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Δ Mean ^a
Dependent variables							
Labor force participation	0.548	0.498	0.572	0.495	0.475	0.499	0.097^{**}
Employed	0.534	0.499	0.559	0.497	0.458	0.498	0.101^{**}
Total hours worked	19.128	22.057	20.074	22.249	16.172	21.176	3.902^{**}
Domestic Work	34.541	17.174	31.998	16.021	42.691	18.179	-10.693^{**}
Conditional dependent variables							
Conditional hours worked	35.810	17.704	35.935	17.780	35.332	17.399	0.602^{**}
Formal work conditional on working	0.479	0.500	0.463	0.499	0.540	0.498	-0.077^{**}
Paid employment	0.949	0.220	0.948	0.222	0.953	0.211	-0.005^{**}
Sector							
Primary	0.025	0.155	0.026	0.160	0.019	0.135	0.008^{**}
Secondary	0.171	0.376	0.171	0.376	0.170	0.375	0.001
Tertiary	0.805	0.396	0.803	0.398	0.812	0.391	-0.009^{**}
Control variables							
Women with school aged kids 6-14	0.758	0.429	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	1.000
School closure	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000
Age	37.793	8.254	40.096	6.804	30.594	8.247	9.502^{**}
Spouse present	0.765	0.424	0.747	0.435	0.821	0.384	-0.074^{**}
Grandparent present	0.054	0.227	0.052	0.223	0.060	0.237	-0.007^{**}
Number of children	2.506	1.389	2.767	1.403	1.689	0.965	1.078^{**}
Marital Status							
Married/Cohabiting	0.863	0.344	0.846	0.361	0.919	0.273	-0.073^{**}
Separated/Divorced	0.068	0.252	0.080	0.271	0.032	0.175	0.048**
Widowed	0.016	0.126	0.019	0.138	0.006	0.077	0.013^{**}
Single	0.052	0.223	0.055	0.228	0.044	0.204	0.012^{**}
Mother's education level							
No education	0.019	0.138	0.022	0.148	0.010	0.098	0.013^{**}
Primary education	0.175	0.380	0.197	0.398	0.106	0.308	0.090^{**}
Secondary education	0.349	0.477	0.364	0.481	0.302	0.459	0.062^{**}
High-school	0.206	0.404	0.184	0.387	0.274	0.446	-0.090^{**}
Vocational training	0.057	0.231	0.063	0.244	0.036	0.187	0.027^{**}
University degree	0.195	0.396	0.170	0.375	0.272	0.445	-0.102^{**}
Locality size							
More than 100,000 inhabitants	0.577	0.494	0.575	0.494	0.585	0.493	-0.010^{**}
15,000-99,999 inhabitants	0.136	0.342	0.136	0.343	0.134	0.341	0.002
2,500-14,999 inhabitants	0.129	0.335	0.130	0.337	0.123	0.329	0.007^{**}
Less than 2,500 inhabitants	0.158	0.365	0.159	0.365	0.158	0.364	0.001
Observations	382,322		289,647		92,675		

Notes: – The table presents descriptive statistics for pre-program trends of women with children before the COVID-19 pandemic for the years 2017-2021. The treatment group includes women who have school-aged kids (6 to 14 years) and control group includes women who have nursery age children (0 to 5 years). ^a This column represents the difference between treatment and control and the respective t-test.

Now comparing the pre-treatment mean of the treatment and control, for some variables, larger differences can be observed. For example, women in the treatment group spend 4 hours more per week in market work and 8 hours less per week in domestic work. In addition, women in the treatment are on average 7.4 years older than women in the control group. However, these level differences are accounted for by the DiD strategy. For the other dependent variables and demographic characteristics the differences are significant, however, they are small in value.

4.4 Identification Strategy

To evaluate the effect of the school closure caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and better control for pre-COVID trends, I estimate a DiD model exploiting the difference between women with school-aged children (6 to 14 years old) vs. women with nursery-aged children (0 to 5 years old). The model estimated is:

$$Y_{ist} = \alpha_0 + \beta_0 (Treated_i \times School - closure_t) + \theta' \mathbf{X}_{ist} + \alpha_{st} + \epsilon_{ist}$$
(4.1)

where Y_{ist} , denotes labor market outcomes of woman *i*, residing in state *s*, at survey time *t* taking into account the quarter and the year of the survey. The labor market outcomes are (i) labor force participation, (ii) weekly hours worked¹⁷, (ii) employment (extensive margin), and (iv) conditional hours worked (intensive margin). I further differentiate between women who work in the formal and informal sectors, paid and unpaid work, and the type of employment sector (primary, secondary, and tertiary sectors). Moreover, I analyze the effect of school closure on hours spent on domestic work. For domestic work I aggregate the

¹⁷Hours worked includes also the zeros for those women who are not employed.

reported weekly hours spent on (i) taking care of children or elderly people in the household, (ii) doing household chores, and (iii) renovating the house and fixing household appliances.

 $Treated_i$ is a dummy variable that takes the value one for women with school-aged children (6 to 14 years) and zero for women with nursery-aged children (0 to 5 years).¹⁸ March 2020 is the period when schools closed, therefore $School-closure_t$ is a dummy variable that takes the value one for the period after the second quarter of 2020 and zero otherwise. β_0 is the coefficient of interest as it captures the change in labor force participation (or other employment outcomes) of the treatment group relative to the control group.

 X_{ist} is a vector of women demographic characteristics that are likely to affect the labor market outcomes of women, such as age, age squared, marital status, number of children in the household, household size or if the spouse is present. I also control for the presence of a grandparent in the household to account for the access of informal child care. I also add a categorical variable controlling for the education level of the mother¹⁹, and a dummy variable for localities to take into account whether women were residing in urban areas since they might be more affected by the school closure.²⁰

I also include state-by-quarter-by-year fixed effects, α_{st} , to capture state specific shocks at the quarterly level, such as reopening of schools and the different state mandates regarding the COVID-19 pandemic, which are more likely to change at the state level. I run another specification for the robustness check, to also account for state linear time trends to capture diverging trends at the state level such as the evolution of the labor force participation of mothers at the state level. In addition, I also provide the results including treatment group specific time trends. The results for both remain robust. Finally, ϵ_{ist} is the error term, and standard errors are clustered at the state-survey year level.

¹⁸For the treatment group women with children younger than 6 and older than 14 are not part of the sample. Same holds true for the control group, women with children older than 5 years are not considered. ¹⁹None, primary, secondary, high-school, vocational training, or university degree.

²⁰Localities capture the level of urbanization in the regions where women live, whether high, middle, low, or rural. Localities are smaller geographical regions than municipalities.

The main identifying assumption of the DiD approach is that in the absence of school closure, both groups of women would have followed the same trend. Therefore, the first threat to the identification strategy is that women with school-aged children and women with nursery-aged children follow different pre-treatment trends. As mentioned previously, women in the treatment group are older. This, for example, could imply that they have more working experience and could be more attached to the labor force than younger women, and thus respond differently to labor shocks. To show that indeed women in the treatment and control groups follow a parallel trend I start by providing graphical evidence of the parallel trend for labor force participation and hours worked for all women (men) with no children, women (men) with school-aged children, and women (men) with nursery-aged children (see Figure 4.1 (Figure 4.A1 in the Appendix)). Finally, to rule out the existence of pre-trends and to check when the impact of school closure is observed, I follow the same logic as in Eq.(4.1) but now by estimating a dynamic DiD model by interacting the impact of school closure by a quarter-survey-year indicator and present the results of this event study in Figure 4.2.

Second, the previous specification may also lead to biased estimates if unobserved factors that occur simultaneously to the schools closure in March 2020 are systematically correlated with the employment outcomes. For instance, as the COVID-19 pandemic was unknown and uncertain, women may have different risk preferences in terms of exposure to the virus. Some women, for example, may adjust more strongly to the pandemic by e.g., limiting social contacts, dropping out of the labor force, etc.. to decrease the risk of a getting the virus. Therefore, to take into account unobserved characteristics that may be correlated with the treatment, I complement my analysis by implementing individual fixed effects model to exploit the within-mother variation to identify the effect of school closure. Taking into account mother fixed effects allows me to control for unobserved characteristics such as the individual risk assessment of the exposure to the virus. The individual fixed effects model is as follows:

$$Y_{it} = \alpha_1 + \beta_1 (Treated_i \times School - closure_t) + \eta' \mathbf{P}_{it} + \rho_i + \kappa_t + v_{it}$$
(4.2)

where Y_{it} , denotes either labor force participation, hours worked, probability to work, or conditional hours worked of women *i*, at survey time *t*. I further test this specification for the outcome variables formal vs informal employment, paid vs unpaid work, and the type of employment sector (see Table 4.A6 in the Appendix). *Treated_i* is a dummy variable that takes the value one for women with school-aged children (6 to 14) and zero for women with nursery-aged children (0 to 5). *School-closure_t* is a dummy variable that takes the value one after second quarter of 2020, when the schools closed. P_{it} is a vector of women time varying characteristics such as age and aged squared. ρ_i captures individual fixed effects, κ_t captures state by-quarter-by-year fixed effects. v_{it} is the error term and standard errors are clustered at the state-survey year level. This approach allows me to analyze the within individual impact of school closure and account for the time invariant characteristics that happen at the individual level.

However, I refrain from using it as the main specification because women are only followed for five quarters which allows me to observe only a sub-sample of the women I have in the data. This fixed effects approach allows me to restrict the sample to women who are observed at least once before and once after the school closure. This causes the number of observations in my sample to extremely decrease.

Third, the control group chosen may be partially affected by the nation-wide decision to close schools and child care facilities. 77% of children aged 3-5 attend pre-school, although this share is much lower than primary school enrollment it could imply that the control group is affected if mothers sending their children to pre-school are also affected by the

closure. Therefore to rule out this concern, I estimate Eq.(4.1) by using another definition for the control group. For this I compare women with school-aged children versus women with children in the age range of 0 to 3 (and for women with no children). Then I change the treatment and control group to compare women with nursery-aged children to women with no children. Furthermore, I take into account the difference in men's labor force participation for those men with school-aged children vs. those men with nursery-aged children. In addition, I provide a placebo test showing that my estimates are not driven by differences in the labor force participation of those women.

Moreover, I make use of the information available on income level, poverty level, education level, and place of residence to test some heterogeneity effects such as whether women affected come from poor or rich families or whether they live above or below extreme poverty. The results are presented in more detail in Section 4.5.2.²¹

Finally, I control in a separate specification for father's education level and the number of COVID cases per 1,000 inhabitants as a control variable and for both my results remain robust. I refrain from including those controls in the main specification because they might be endogeneous to the labor force participation of the mothers. Results are available upon request.

4.5 Results

4.5.1 Baseline Results

In this section, I start by reporting the results from the baseline specification mentioned in Eq.(4.1), to evaluate the impact of school closure on the labor outcomes of women with school-aged children. The results are presented in Table 4.2.

²¹Another important aspect to look at is what happens to the labor force participation of those women in the treatment when schools re-open. The data is unfortunately now only available for the year 2021.

Dependent variable:	Labor Force Participation I	Hours worked II	Extensive margin III	Intensive margin IV
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure	-0.017^{***}	-0.471^{**}	-0.019^{***}	0.460**
0	(0.005)	(0.209)	(0.005)	(0.213)
Women with school aged kids 6-14	0.055***	2.165***	0.055***	0.387***
-	(0.003)	(0.137)	(0.003)	(0.144)
Age	0.041***	1.606^{***}	0.041^{***}	0.289***
	(0.001)	(0.037)	(0.001)	(0.048)
Age-squared	-0.001^{***}	-0.020^{***}	-0.001^{***}	-0.004^{***}
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.001)
Spouse present	-0.122^{***}	-5.116^{***}	-0.115^{***}	-1.825^{***}
	(0.004)	(0.145)	(0.004)	(0.137)
Grandparent present	0.030^{***}	1.649^{***}	0.030^{***}	0.893^{***}
	(0.004)	(0.184)	(0.004)	(0.180)
Number of children	-0.002^{**}	-0.233^{***}	-0.003^{***}	-0.278^{***}
	(0.001)	(0.041)	(0.001)	(0.052)
Household size	-0.007^{***}	-0.171^{***}	-0.006^{***}	0.097^{**}
	(0.001)	(0.037)	(0.001)	(0.044)
Marital Status: Ref.: Married/Cohabiting				
Separated/Divorced	0.193^{***}	8.268^{***}	0.184^{***}	1.789^{***}
	(0.005)	(0.247)	(0.005)	(0.184)
Widowed	0.159^{***}	6.758^{***}	0.155^{***}	1.615^{***}
	(0.007)	(0.357)	(0.007)	(0.292)
Single	0.215^{***}	9.720^{***}	0.206^{***}	2.462^{***}
	(0.005)	(0.234)	(0.005)	(0.177)
Women's education level: Ref.: None				
Primary education	0.013	0.659^{**}	0.012	0.752^{*}
	(0.008)	(0.319)	(0.008)	(0.392)
Secondary education	0.033^{***}	1.425^{***}	0.030***	1.068^{***}
	(0.008)	(0.325)	(0.008)	(0.382)
High-school	0.072^{***}	3.234^{***}	0.068^{***}	1.932***
	(0.008)	(0.320)	(0.008)	(0.412)
Vocational training	0.099^{***}	3.869^{***}	0.095^{***}	1.317^{***}
	(0.009)	(0.376)	(0.009)	(0.436)
University degree	0.233^{***}	7.146^{***}	0.227^{***}	-0.769^{*}
	(0.009)	(0.349)	(0.008)	(0.410)
Locality size: Ref.: $> 100,000$ inhabitants				
15,000-99,999 inhabitants	-0.012^{***}	-0.362^{**}	-0.010^{***}	-0.041
	(0.003)	(0.168)	(0.003)	(0.180)
2,500-14,999 inhabitants	-0.040^{***}	-2.076^{***}	-0.036^{***}	-1.527^{***}
	(0.004)	(0.182)	(0.004)	(0.194)
Less than 2,500 inhabitants	-0.130^{***}	-5.752^{***}	-0.122^{***}	-3.534^{***}
	(0.006)	(0.209)	(0.005)	(0.246)
Constant	-0.250^{***}	-10.227^{***}	-0.283^{***}	34.127^{***}
	(0.018)	(0.677)	(0.018)	(0.876)
Controls all	VOC	VCC	VOS	TOC
State by quarter by year FF	yes	yes	yes	yes
Juate-by-quarter-by-year FE	yes	yes	yes	усъ
Observations	526,706	526,706	526,706	$281,\!532$
\mathbb{R}^2	0.130	0.099	0.122	0.026

Table 4.2	: Effect of	School	CLOSURE	ON LABOR	Force 2	Particie	PATION,
]	Employment	, HOURS	WORKED,	AND CONE	ITIONAL	Hours	Worked

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. The data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2017 till 2021. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the state-survey year level). The regressions includes the full set of controls and state-by-quarter-by-year fixed effects.– *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Column I reports the results focusing on labor force participation, column II on hours worked, column III on probability to work (extensive margin), and column IV on conditional hours worked (intensive margin). The estimated coefficients indicate that school closure leads to a decrease in the labor force participation by 1.7 percentage points and a decrease in employment by 1.9 percentage points for women in the treatment relative to women in the control group.²² These reductions resemble a 3 percent decrease in the labor force participation and probability of being employed relative to the pre-school closure mean and are in line with the findings from Couch *et al.* (2021) and Yamamura and Tsustsui (2021) that find that the probability to work and engage in the labor force for women with school-aged children decreases relative to other groups.

When looking at the intensive and extensive margins an interesting pattern emerges. The extensive margin confirms that indeed the proportion of women who are employed decreases. However, conditional on being employed, there is a slight increase in the number of hours worked. Therefore, school closures seem to have a direct impact on the decision to participate in the labor force (or to be employed). But if women are still in employment, they tend to adjust the hours worked just by a little. This could be explained by the fact that due to the pandemic more people were working from home and they reported working longer hours (El Heraldo De México, 2021). However, the proportion of individuals that work from home is still small, almost 19% of the workers.

Next, I exploit the impact of school closure on the same labor market outcomes by using within-individual variation in order to account for unobservables at the individual level; that is, the individual fixed effects approach. For this, I restrict the sample to women who are observed at least once before and once after the school closure. Nonetheless, since women are only observed for five quarters, this limits the time frame used to shortly before and

²²Table 4.A4 shows that the impact of school closure on the labor force participation remains stable across different specifications, that is by providing in column I only controls, in column II adding time fixed effects, and in column III the state specific linear time trend.

after the school closure. The results for the individual fixed effects are presented in Table 4.3 showing similar findings as the baseline specification, however, the coefficients are bigger in magnitude because the effect is only measured for the sub-sample of women, that is, for the same individuals observed twice in the sample and therefore provide the immediate effect on those individuals directly after school closure. The results from the DiD take into account all women in the sample and already account for some of the recovery in 2021.

Table 4.3: Effect of School Closure on Labor Outcomes: The IndividualFixed Effects Approach

Dependent variable:	Labor Force	Hours	Extensive	Intensive
	Participation	worked	margin	margin
	I	II	III	IV
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure	-0.092^{***}	-3.439^{**}	-0.087^{**}	-2.234
	(0.034)	(1.530)	(0.034)	(2.391)
Women with school aged kids 6-14	0.047^{*}	2.124^{*}	0.030	2.017
	(0.026)	(1.168)	(0.026)	(1.823)
Individual FE	all	all	all	all
State-by-quarter-by-year FE	yes	yes	yes	yes
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Observations} \\ \text{R}^2 \end{array}$	$9,783 \\ 0.107$	9,783 0.104	9,783 0.105	$5,358 \\ 0.323$

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. The data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2017 till 2021. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the state-survey year level). The regressions includes the controls such as age and age squared, state-by-quarter-by-year-fixed effects.– *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Then, I evaluate if the school closure lead to an increase in the domestic burden of women, in this case, the outcome variable represents the number of hours per week women spend in unpaid domestic activities.

Domestic work is defined as weekly hours spent on building the household, renovating, doing household chores, and taking care of other household members. The results are presented in Table 4.4. Column I shows that because of school closure, women with schoolaged children increase domestic work by 1 hour, this effect might seem small, however, looking at the pre-treatment mean we already see that women are on average working 30 hours in domestic work and spend only 20 hours on market work. This supports the fact that school closures increase the burden of child care at home. When I split the variable to hours spent doing household chores or taking care of children or the elderly, the results show that the increase is driven by taking care of other family members.

Table 4.4:	Effect (OF	School	Closure	ON	Domestic	WORK,	Hours	CARING	FOR
			H	ІН Мемві	ERS	, or on HE	I CHORI	ES		

	Domestic work	Hours caring	Hours HH chores
	I	II	III
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure	1.021***	0.545^{**}	-0.110
Women with school aged kids 6-14	$(0.272) \\ -7.276^{***} \\ (0.167)$	$(0.271) \\ -6.085^{***} \\ (0.146)$	$\begin{array}{c} (0.112) \\ 0.788^{***} \\ (0.055) \end{array}$
Controls	all	all	all
State-by-quarter-by-year FE	yes	yes	yes
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Observations} \\ \text{R}^2 \end{array}$	$508,236 \\ 0.161$	$267,704 \\ 0.147$	$500,762 \\ 0.115$

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD analysis. Treatment are women with school-aged children 6 to 14 years old. Control are women with nursery-aged children 0 to 5 years. The data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2017 till 2021. The sample differs here because of the missing values reported for those variables. The regressions include the full set of controls and state-by-quarter-by-year fixed effects. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the state-survey year level). – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Furthermore, to check whether working or non-working women are driving this increase in domestic work, I estimate the same outcome variable as in Table 4.4 but now splitting the sample to women that work and women that do not work. That is, conditional on working how much time do working women spend on domestic work and the opposite is true, if women are not working how much time do they spend on domestic work. Table 4.A5 in the Appendix shows that women who are not working are the ones who are driving this effect, that is, they increase domestic work at home and increase their time in taking care of other household members. Women who continue to work seem to lower their time spent on doing other household chores because children are now home. This will be explored more in Section 4.5.3 by analyzing the informal child care support systems such as the presence of a grandparent.

Finally, to rule out the existence of pre-trends and to check when the impact of school closure starts to affect women in the treatment, I follow the same logic as in Eq.(4.1) but

now by implementing a dynamic DiD design and estimating the impact of school closure by quarter-survey-year for an event study design to observe when the impact of school closure is observed. For this estimation, I define time zero as of the third quarter of 2021 when schools closed. The first quarter of 2017 is denoted by time -13 and the forth quarter of 2021 is denoted by time 5, respectively. The reference year is 2018. In this event study I focus on the labor force participation, employment, hours worked, and domestic work as outcome variables because they are the most affected when schools closed. Figure 4.2 shows the point estimates and the confidence interval at the 95% level by quarter-survey-year.

For the pre-treatment period, the graphs show no significant differences between women with school-aged children vs. women with nursery-aged children.²³ However, for the post-treatment period, we observe a significant difference between the treatment and control resulting in a decrease in the labor force participation, employment, and hours worked, and an increase in domestic work for women in the treatment group. More specifically, we can see that both labor force participation and employment drop in the second quarter of 2021. A plausible explanation is that at first school closure was announced to be temporary, but because it lasted about 15 months, women started dropping out of the labor force. The graphs below, show that hours worked in the market decrease directly after school closure and that the increase in domestic work also kicks-in directly after schools closed and remains positive and significant for the forth quarter of 2021.²⁴

This indicates that women with school-aged children were sacrificing working hours in the market to be able to work at home and take care of other household members. These results are in line with the main specification, indicating that school closure affects the decision

²³Here there might be a concern that the trend is already decreasing before school closure, however, the same estimation is also presented in Figure 4.A2 in the Appendix according to the survey-year and shows that the effect is observed after schools close. Moreover, I include group specific time trends to show that my results are not driven by pre-existing trends.

 $^{^{24}\}mathrm{Schools}$ started opening in August 2021 which is the third quarter of 2021.

of women to either drop or remain in the labor market. However, they also highlight the extreme length of school closures is what finally forced women to drop out of the labor force.



Figure 4.2: EVENT STUDY: IMPACT OF SCHOOL CLOSURE ON LABOR OUTCOMES OF WOMEN WITH CHILDREN BY QUARTER SURVEY YEAR Source: ENOE, authors' analysis.

Notes: - The set up of the event study design sets the time at zero since the 3rd quarter of 2020 when schools closed. The regression includes the full set of controls and state-by-quarter-by-year fixed effects. The grey area represents the confidence interval at a 95% level. time -2 is missing because no data was collected in the 2nd quarter of 2020 due to the pandemic. The year of reference is 2018, this is why the time -7 till -10 are omitted. Standard errors are clustered at the state-year level.

4.5.2 Heterogeneous Results

Now, to further analyze the main effects of the reduction in labor outcomes, I present in this section different heterogeneous analysis that take into account i) employment characteristics, and ii) household characteristics.

4.5.2.1 Employment Characteristics

First, I start by analyzing the impact of school closure on the type of employment, by testing how school closure affected formal vs. informal work, paid vs. unpaid work, and the sector of employment. The results are reported in Table 4.5.²⁵ When looking at formal vs. informal work (columns I and II) we observe a strong negative effect for informal work. The results for formal work are almost zero and insignificant. This highlights the fact, that during a crisis, such as COVID-19 pandemic or the school closures, the informal sector is the one that is hit the most because in countries like Latin America, labor regulations are not perfectly enforced and salaried workers can be hired formally or informally. In particular, in Mexico salaried workers, in the formal sector, are protected against firing and layoffs, and firms face a high penalty for firing those employers, in contrast to the informal sector where no regulations or penalties apply (Levy, 2010; Busso *et al.*, 2012). Moreover, statistics from the ILO (2022a) show that most of the women in Latin America self-select themselves in the informal sector by working either in restaurants, hotels, or commerce where most of the job losses occurred because of the crisis.

When looking at paid and unpaid work (columns III and IV), the results indicate that school closure had a stronger negative impact on paid work, and that unpaid work is slightly significant but the coefficient is close to zero. Furthermore, the impact of school closure on the sector of employment (columns V-VII) shows no effect on both agriculture (primary) and manufacturing (secondary), but a decrease by 2 percentage points in the services (tertiary) sector. Those findings are in line with previous literature indicating that women are more likely to work in the informal sector (Busso *et al.*, 2012; Piras *et al.*, 2014) which is mostly hit by the crisis and more specifically in the services where workers can not work remotely.

²⁵The sample used here is the same sample used in the baseline results. However, the number of observations differs because the variables are set to missing for some groups. For example, for informal work the variable is set to one if women work in the informal sector, zero if the individual does not work, and missing if the individual works in the formal sector. The same logic applies for the formal, paid and unpaid employment and the type of sector.

Moreover, the results for informal and services sector remain robust when running individual fixed effects model presented in Table 4.A6 in the Appendix.

 Table 4.5: Effect of School Closure on Formal, Paid Employment, and Sector

Dependent variable:	Formal	Informal	Paid	Unpaid	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary
	Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI	VII
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure	0.001 (0.005)	-0.033^{***} (0.005)	-0.019^{***} (0.005)	-0.006^{*} (0.003)	-0.002 (0.003)	-0.005 (0.005)	-0.018^{***} (0.005)
Women with school aged kids 6-14	0.033^{***} (0.003)	0.065^{***} (0.003)	0.054^{***} (0.003)	0.013 ^{***} (0.002)	0.008 ^{***} (0.001)	0.023^{***} (0.003)	0.053^{***} (0.003)
Mean	.484	.516	.522	.054	.027	.166	.478
Observations \mathbb{R}^2	381,434 0.251	$390,446 \\ 0.085$	513,072 0.135	259,044 0.022	$252,106 \\ 0.069$	293,949 0.096	$469,880 \\ 0.148$

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. The data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2017 till 2021. The regressions includes the full set of controls and state-by-quarter-by-year fixed effects. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the state-survey year level). – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

4.5.2.2 Household Characteristics

Afterwards, I further explore the effect of school closure on different definitions such as income level, poverty level, education level, and locality size to proxy the poverty level of the household. The results are presented in Figure 4.3. They show the point estimates and the confidence interval of the effect of school closure on women with school-aged children. The figure shows marginal effects of the variable which is interacted with the respective income, poverty level, education level, or regional classification.

In panels A and B of Figure 4.3, I construct two indicators to measure the impact by poverty level. For the first definition, I interact school closure with a categorical variable indicating the household income per person per quantile (panel A). The first quantile represents households with the lowest income and the forth quantile families with high incomes respectively. Second, panel B, shows the effect of school closure interacted with the level of poverty, that is above poverty, below poverty, or below extreme poverty line.²⁶

²⁶For the classification of the poverty variable I rely on the information provided by the CONEVAL (2022) which uses information of the yearly average costs of the baskets of goods for rural and urban regions.



Figure 4.3: LABOR FORCE PARTICIPATION OF WOMEN WITH CHILDREN BY INCOME QUANTILE, POVERTY LEVEL, EDUCATION LEVEL, AND LOCALITY SIZE Source: ENOE, authors' analysis.

Notes: - The figure illustrates labor force participation of women with school-aged children (6 to 14 years) versus women with nursery-aged children (0 to 5 years).

The results in panel A indicate a general decline in labor force participation of women across all income quantiles, however, the coefficients are slightly more significant for women coming from the lowest income quantile. When focusing on the more precise definition for poverty measure, the results in Panel B confirm the findings in panel A, that all women with school-aged children irrespective of their poverty or income level are mostly affected by school closure, eventhough the difference is slightly higher for women living below extreme poverty.

Third in panel C, I check the level of education of the mother because it is correlated to the labor force participation. The variable is categorized to whether the mother has low education (none, primary, and secondary), medium education (high-school and vocational training), and higher education (university degree).²⁷ Finally, panel D shows the interaction of school closure with the locality size to capture also the level of urbanization and the poverty of the region: >100,000 inhabitants means highly urbanized where as <2,500 means rural area. The results in panel C show that women with low and medium education levels are the ones that are affected by the school closure. When focusing on the region of residence, the estimates show that women residing in all areas whether urban or rural are affected, yet for urban areas we see more negative and significant results.²⁸

As a conclusion, Figure 4.3 is important because it shows that all women were affected by school closure, and that only women who have higher education are the ones that are not affected by school closure. This could be explained by the fact that those women have probably the opportunity to work remotely or organize some type of informal child care to be able to work. Furthermore, the slightly more negative and significant effects observed for poor women residing in urban areas can be explained by the fact that poor women, coming from rural areas, have moved to the city to work without their relatives or other family members, and were therefore the most affected by school closure due to the lack of informal child care at home.

Afterwards, to estimate who is affected the most among women with school-aged children by school closure, that is, if younger or older women had to carry the burden more. I interact the impact of school closure with a categorical variable for women with different ages: (i) young women (20-29), (ii) middle-aged women (30-39), and (iii) older women (40 to 55). Figure 4.4 shows that school closure had a negative and significant impact on the labor force participation and hours worked for all women irrespective of their age.²⁹

 ²⁷This variable is categorized according to the definition of education level provided by the OECD (2021a).
 ²⁸The results are also reported for the hours worked in Figure 4.A3 in the Appendix and show a similar

pattern as Figure 4.3.

²⁹Figure 4.A4 in the Appendix shows further the labor force participation of mother according to the education level.



Figure 4.4: LABOR FORCE PARTICIPATION AND HOURS WORKED OF WOMEN WITH CHILDREN BY AGE DIFFERENCES OF THOSE WOMEN Source: ENOE, authors' analysis.

Notes: – The figure illustrates labor force participation and hours worked of women with school-aged children versus women with nursery-aged children. Here women with school-aged children are split into young (20-29) to middle-age(30-39) and the older ones (40-55). School-aged children are children aged 6 to 14 years old and nursery children are children aged 0 to 5 years old.

I can conclude from the results in Figure 4.3 and Figure 4.4 that I observe negative impacts on all women with school-aged children living in urban areas irrespective of the income quantile, poverty level (slightly larger for poor women, but negative and significant for all of them), and even age. The results, indicate further that all women with school-aged children were affected by school closure and that their age does not play a role because all women had to stay home and home-school their children. This is a shock that affected all mothers, irrespective of the income quantile, poverty level, and level of urbanization. The only group that seems not to respond are highly educated mothers who are probably more attached to the labor force, could work from home, and could afford child care at home, but these women represent a small group of the sample (17%).

4.5.3 Mechanisms for Single Mothers and Informal Child Care

Another important channel to look at is access to informal child care systems such as grandparents or other relatives who live in the same area who support mothers in child care because if mothers have support like a grandparent or another adult women the probability of going to work increases (Aparicio-Fenoll and Vidal-Fernandez, 2015; Bratti *et al.*, 2018; Yamamura and Tsustsui, 2021). In fact, informal child care by grandparents is very common in Mexico and 55% of children are cared for by their grandparents while the parents are working (Villegas Raya, 2019). To do this, I construct an indicator that takes the value 1 if a grandparent lives in the household and an additional indicator that takes the value 1 if women over the age of 18 live in the household (excluding the grandparent). I exploit this information to estimate heterogeneous impacts in households with and without access to informal child care.³⁰

Therefore, to test this hypothesis, I start by examining the effect of the presence of grandparent (panel A) and adult women (panel B), conditional on not having a grandparent present, in the household presented in Table 4.6. Columns I to IV (panel A and B), show that there is a level difference if grandparents or adult women are present in the household. However, the interaction term shows that mothers of school-aged children do not adjust their participation in the labor force after schools close if grandparents or adult women are likely to continue working because they have informal systems at home that can alleviate child care needs.

³⁰Unfortunately, the ENOE only indicates that a grandparent is present if they reside in the same household. The presence of a grandparent residing in a different household but same area is not available. The estimates provided in this framework may not be precisely estimated given that sources of informal child care outside the household are not accounted, however they provide valuable information on informal child care within the household.

Dependent variable:	Labor force participation	Hours worked	Extensive margin	Intensive margin
	I	II	III	IV
		A. Grandpa	rent in HH	
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure	-0.017^{***} (0.005)	-0.466^{**} (0.207)	-0.019^{***} (0.005)	0.482^{**} (0.222)
Grandparent lives in HH	0.039^{***} (0.008)	2.328^{***} (0.381)	0.040*** (0.008)	(0.379)
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure x Grandparent	0.001 (0.014)	-0.263 (0.685)	-0.000 (0.014)	-0.599 (0.957)
Observations	526,706	526,706	526,706	281,532
	I	3. Adult Wo	men in HH	
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure	-0.017^{***}	-0.413^{*}	-0.018^{***}	0.547^{**}
Adult women living in HH	0.057***	3.030***	0.056***	2.035^{***}
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure x Adultwomen	(0.007) 0.011 (0.012)	(0.302) 0.403 (0.515)	(0.007) 0.009 (0.012)	(0.274) 0.067 (0.479)
Observations	498,774	498,774	498,774	264,883
		C. Single	Mother	
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure	-0.018^{***}	-0.491^{**} (0.212)	-0.020^{***}	0.524^{**} (0.220)
Single mother	0.059***	1.157**	0.047***	-0.678
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure x Single mother	(0.009) 0.021^* (0.011)	(0.525) 1.003^{*} (0.580)	(0.010) 0.022^{*} (0.012)	(0.447) 0.061 (0.530)
Observations	526,706	526,706	526,706	281,532

Table 4.6: HETEROGENEOUS: EFFECT OF SCHOOL CLOSURE ON LABOR OUTCOMES

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. The data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2017 till 2021. Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the state-survey year level). The regressions includes the full set of controls and state-by-quarter-by-year fixed effects.– *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Panel C, presents the results interacted for single women. These group of women are usually highly attached to the labor market because they are the main (and most of the time only) breadwinner of their households. For them, the labor supply is generally very inelastic to shocks. The results in Panel C, confirm this by showing that school closure has almost zero impact on single women, because those women have to go to work to support their children, and therefore have already organized other means for child care.

4.5.4 Robustness Check

A potential concern is that the differences observed are driven by the differences in the labor outcomes of women in the treatment and control because women in the control group work already less and participate less in the labor force. To rule out this concern, and to show that the effects are mainly driven by school closure, I estimate the same logic in Eq.(4.1) by introducing i) a placebo school closure for the year 2018, ii) taking only men as treatment group, and iii) taking women with nursery-aged children (0 to 5) as the treatment group.

The results for the placebo test in Table 4.7 panel A show that the effect of the placebo school closure is almost zero and insignificant for labor force participation, hours worked, the extensive and intensive margins.³¹

Second, to show that only women are affected by school closure, I estimate the same baseline specification, but by taking men with school-aged children as the treatment vs. men with nursery-aged children as control presented in panel B. The interaction term in panel B shows that school closure has no impact on the labor outcomes of men (columns I to IV). This supports the results of the baseline specification, indicating that only women are affected by school closure, and more precisely those who have school-aged children.

Third, I further redefine the definition of treatment and control, to define now the treatment as the women who have nursery-aged children vs. women with no children (panel C). By this estimation I want to further emphasize that the decrease in labor force participation of women with school-aged kids is solely driven by the school closure. Therefore, I would expect to see no effect for women with very young children and women with no children. Results in panel C show indeed that school closure has no impact on those women, indicating that women who had school-aged children are affected directly and women with very young

 $^{^{31}}$ I also introduce a placebo year in 2019 to show that the effect is only driven by school closure and the results in Table 4.A7 panel A in the Appendix remain robust.

	10011110				
Dependent variable:	Labor force participation	Hours worked	Extensive margin	Intensive margin	
	Ι	II	III	IV	
		A. Placebo	year 2018		
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x Placebo school-closure in 2018 Observations	$\begin{array}{c} 0.000 \\ (0.005) \\ 352,356 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} -0.009 \\ (0.228) \\ 352,356 \end{array}$	-0.001 (0.005) 352,356	0.027 (0.233) 187,627	
	B. Men with nursery-aged children				
Men with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure Observations	-0.002 (0.002) 438,919	$-0.223 \\ (0.171) \\ 438,919$	-0.004 (0.002) 438,919	-0.067 (0.157) 414,884	
	C.	Women wit	h no childrer	1	
Women with nursery kids 0-5 x School closure Observations	-0.007 (0.008) 208,921	-0.005 (0.008) 208,921	0.053 (0.366) 208,921	0.257 (0.286) 116,660	

 Table 4.7: ROBUSTNESS: PLACEBO FOR THE EFFECT OF SCHOOL CLOSURE ON LABOR

 OUTCOMES

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. In panel A, school closure is now introduced in the second quarter of year 2018 as a placebo year and the data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2017 till 2019. In panel B, the treatment group is now defined as men with school-aged children (6 to 14) and control group men with nursery-aged children (0 to 5). In Panel C, the treatment is defined as women with nursery-aged children (0 to 5) and the control group is defined as women with no children. For both panels B and C the data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2017 to 2021. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the state-survey year level). The regressions includes the full set of controls and state-by-quarter-by-year fixed effects. – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

children are not. Those findings are also in line with the findings of Couch *et al.* (2021) and Petts *et al.* (2021) that show women with very young children are not as affected as women with school-aged children.³²

Furthermore, to explore if the results are robust using alternative control groups and that they are not driven by different trends, I redefine the control group as i) women with children aged 0 to 3, ii) women with no children, and iii) men with school-aged children 6 to 14. The results are presented in Table 4.8 in panels A, B, and C respectively.

The estimates in Table 4.8, panel A show that by redefining the control group to women with children aged 0 to 3, the results yield similar coefficients as the baseline specification,

 $^{^{32}}$ The results remain also robust when I further refine treatment as women with children in the age range of 0 to 3 vs. women with no children as the control group in Table 4.A7 panel B in the Appendix.

Dependent variable:	Labor force participation	Hours worked	Extensive margin	Intensive margin	
	Ι	II	III	IV	
	A. Contr	rol-women v	vith children	0 to 3	
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure Observations	-0.014^{**} (0.006) 467,157	-0.339 (0.272) 467,157	-0.017^{***} (0.006) 467,157	0.587^{**} (0.275) 253,639	
	B. Control-women without children				
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School Closure Observations	-0.026^{***} (0.008) 482,834	-0.699^{*} (0.387) 482,834	-0.026^{***} (0.008) 482,834	$0.424 \\ (0.274) \\ 279,187$	
	C. Contro	l-men with	school-aged o	hildren	
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure	-0.037^{***} (0.007)	-1.650^{***} (0.326)	-0.040^{***} (0.007)	-0.398 (0.295)	
Observations	712,041	712,041	712,041	$516,\!669$	

Table 4.8: ROBUST	NESS: ALTERNATIVI	e Control	GROUPS
-------------------	-------------------	-----------	--------

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. The data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2017 to 2021. Treatment group is defined as women with school-aged children (6 to 14). Control groups are defined as women with children aged 0 to 3 (panel A), as women without children (panel B), and men with school-aged children (6 to 14, in panel C) – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the state-survey year level). The regressions includes the full set of controls and state-by-quarter-by-year fixed effects.– *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

that is a decrease in the labor force participation and employment of women with school-aged children. Panel B shows the results by changing the control group to women without children, the results also remain robust. That is, the decrease for women with school-aged children is still observed and the coefficients are slightly higher in magnitude.³³

Next, by analyzing the gender gap (panel C) for women and men with school-aged children to evaluate the impact of school closures, a similar approach like Couch *et al.* (2021), my treatment group is now defined as women with school-aged children vs. control group, men with school-aged children. The findings in Table 4.8 panel C, show a decrease in the labor force participation of women in the treatment by 3.7 percentage points in comparison

 $^{^{33}}$ I further change the age range of children to test the results for women with children 6 to 17 years old and the results still hold. Results are available upon request.

to men and that employment decreases by almost 4 percentage points. Those findings are in line with the results presented by Couch *et al.* (2021) that show that only women with school-aged children vs. men with school-aged children decrease their employment to population ratio by 4.3 percentage points, and the results by Yamamura and Tsustsui (2021) show a similar pattern, that women with school-aged children are the ones that carry the burden of child care.

Dependent variable:	Labor force participation	Hours worked	Extensive margin	Intensive margin
	I	II	III	IV
	A. (Group speci	fic time tren	d
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure Observations	-0.034^{***} (0.004) 526.706	-1.557^{***} (0.188) 526.706	-0.038^{***} (0.004) 526.706	-0.392^{**} (0.177) 281.532
	в. у	Vomen in th	ne age 18 to 5	55
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure Observations	-0.017^{***} (0.005) 526,706	-0.441^{**} (0.208) 526,706	-0.019^{***} (0.005) 526,706	0.494^{**} (0.213) 281,532
		C. Year 2	018-2021	
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure Observations	-0.016^{***} (0.005) 407,952	-0.413^{*} (0.218) 407,952	-0.018^{***} (0.005) 407,952	0.510^{**} (0.226) 219,597

Table 4.9: ROBUSTNESS: GROUP TRENDS AND DIFFERENT AGE GROUPS

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the state-survey year level). The regressions includes the full set of controls, state fixed effects and group specific time trend for panel A. The regressions includes the full set of controls and state-by-quarter-by-year fixed effects for panels B and C.- *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Next, to better take into account the pre-existing trends between the group of women with school-aged children relative to women with nursery-aged children that might be driving the results. I show in Table 4.9 panel A, the baseline estimates by adding a group specific time trend. The coefficients in Table 4.9 show that the labor outcome variables are negative and significant for all labor variables. This shows that the results estimated are not driven by those pre-existing time trends between groups.

Finally, since the teen fertility rate in Mexico is high, I alter the age range of women from 20 to 55, to include now women with school-aged children aged 18 to 55 (Table 4.9 panel B), and the results remain robust.³⁴ That is a decrease in labor force participation, hours worked and the extensive margin of women in the treatment in comparison to the control group. Moreover, I also change the time period to 2018-2021 (Table 4.9 panel C) and the results remain robust to the changes in the time frame.³⁵

4.6 Conclusion

This paper contributes to the literature by providing the first empirical evidence on the direct impact of school closure on the employment of women with school-aged children in developing countries. It also adds to the literature focusing on developed countries (see e.g., Adams-Prassl *et al.*, 2020; Amuedo-Dorantes *et al.*, 2020; Landivar *et al.*, 2020; Collins *et al.*, 2021; Couch *et al.*, 2021) by deviating from previous work that focuses on the gap between men and women, to focus instead on women with children in different age groups and women without children. To estimate the causal impact of school closure due to the COVID-19 pandemic, I compare women with school-aged children to women with nursery-aged children. While both groups of women were exposed to the economic shock of the COVID-19 pandemic, women with children in school age faced a sudden increase in the time children spend at home. In contrast, women with younger children were not as affected by school closures given that their children are too young to be enrolled in the schooling system.

 $^{^{34}{\}rm The}$ results remain robust also when including women in the age range 20 to 60. Results are presented in Table 4.A8 panel A in the Appendix.

³⁵limiting the time frame from 2019 to 2021 also does not affect the estimates, results are presented in Table 4.A8 panel B in the Appendix.

Focusing on women with nursery-aged children to build the control group instead of men, reassures that the parallel trend assumption is not violated. Visual inspection of pre-treatment evolution of treatment and control groups shows that women with children in different age groups (and even without children) despite having level difference in terms of their probability to work, follow very similar trends. In contrast, the path of men and women is hardly comparable because men usually have a much more inelastic labor supply than women due to persisting cultural attitudes (Jaumotte, 2003).

Using data from the Mexican Labor Force Survey (ENOE), I implement a DiD approach that exploits school closure in March 20, 2020 as a natural cutoff to assign women with school-aged children in the treatment group and women with nursery-aged children in the control group. My results show, in line with Couch *et al.* (2021) and Yamamura and Tsustsui (2021), that women with school-aged children are the ones that are mostly affected by school closure. The labor force participation of those women decreases by 1.7 percentage points, and their employment by 1.9 percentage points. This effect translates to a decrease in labor force participation and employment by 3%. However, I also deviate from their work to further show that my results remain robust also when accounting for unobservables by using the individual effects model.

Bundervoet *et al.* (2022) show that the vulnerable groups, like women and the low educated, in the society are most likely to be affected by such recessions. My results show indeed that school closure affects women with low and medium education level, however, this study is the first to deviate from other studies in the literature to show that not only vulnerable groups in the society are affected by the crisis in the economy. I find that school closure affects all women with school-aged children across all income quantiles, poverty levels, urbanization level, and even age. Only women that are highly educated seem not to be affected by this crisis because they can work remotely or they have arranged some type of child care. I further go beyond those studies done to show that women with access to informal child care, such as presence of a grandmother or adult women in the household, are not affected by school closure. My results, also show that single women who are the main breadwinner depend also on other sources of child care and therefore were also not affected by this shock. This points out the importance of other sources of child care for women to be able to stay or join the labor market.

Moreover, since a high proportion of the women work in the informal sector in Mexico, the decrease in the labor force participation is mostly concentrated in that sector. By looking at the type of sector, I observe that agriculture and manufacturing sectors are not affected but the services sector is the mostly affected one because this type of work has to be done in the workplace and can not be done remotely.

The results provided in this paper are highly important because they provide the direct effect of the school closure independently from COVID-19. This sheds the light on the importance of schools as child care provider and that other solutions should be thought of before closing schools. This also shows that schools are a powerful instrument for women with children to enter the labor force. The COVID-19 pandemic had negative effects on the labor force participation of women and by closing schools this negative effect was made stronger, many women were forced to stay home and care for their children. This might have a long term negative impact on the employment of those women, causing many of them to stay home and not go back to the labor market, or even be penalized for dropping out of the labor force.

My results have important policy implications not only for Mexico, but also for other Latin American countries, where school closures lasted the most, and labor force participation of women is still small. First, school closures have been shown to affect negatively student achievement and attainment (Larsen, 2020; Grewenig *et al.*, 2021; Jack *et al.*, 2022), but also affected the labor force participation of women with school-aged children. Second, schooling is an important form of child care that enables women to join the labor force (Bick, 2016; Brilli *et al.*, 2016). Third, systems are needed in place to deal with shocks that allow for children to continue to attend school in a safe way, such as opening schools for two-shifts, students wearing masks, or regular COVID-19 testing for students and staff (Di Domenico *et al.*, 2021). Fourth, the quality of jobs for women has to increase (mostly informal in the services sectors). Women need to diversify their employment in other industries and have access to decent work. Decent work is a key element for better productivity and in fighting poverty (ILO, 2022b).

Finally, both women and men need to have access to less rigid employment systems because working remotely in Mexico is rather an exception to the employment rules. Due to school closures, this paper has shown that women held the double burden of home-schooling and working in the market. Therefore, gender norms in developing countries should also change so that both men and women will be able to arrange household work and market work ensuring gender equality between both.
Appendix Chapter 4



Figure 4.A1: LABOR FORCE PARTICIPATION OF MEN BY SURVEY YEAR Source: ENOE, authors' analysis. Notes: – The figure illustrates labor force participation of men with no children versus men with children in the age range from 0 to 14.



Figure 4.A2: EVENT STUDY: IMPACT OF SCHOOL CLOSURE BY SURVEY YEAR Source: ENOE, authors' analysis.

Notes: – The set up of the event study design sets the time at zero since survey year 2020 when schools closed. The regression includes the full set of controls and state-by-quarter-by-year fixed effects. The grey area represents the confidence interval at a 95% level. Standard errors are clustered at the state-year level and the year of reference is the 2018.



Figure 4.A3: WEEKLY HOURS WORKED OF WOMEN WITH CHILDREN BY INCOME QUANTILE, POVERTY LEVEL, EDUCATION LEVEL, AND LOCALITY SIZE Source: ENOE, authors' analysis.

Notes: - The figure illustrates marginal effects of weekly hours worked of women with school-aged children (6 to 14 years) versus women with nursery-aged children (0 to 5 years old).



Figure 4.A4: Labor Force Participation of Women According to Education Level

Source: ENOE, authors' analysis.

Notes: - The figure illustrates labor force participation of women according to the level of education. Low educated women have either no, primary education, or secondary education. Medium educated women have high-school or vocational training. High educated women have University degree.

Table 4.A1: SUMMARY OF TREATMENT AND CONTROL GROUPS

Estimates	Treatment	Control
Baseline Results:	Women with school-aged children 6 to 14	Women with nursery-aged children 0 to 5
Heterogenoues Analysis:	Women with school-aged children 6 to 14	Men with school-aged children 6 to 14
Robustness Checks:	Women with school-aged children 6 to 14 Women with school-aged children 6 to 14 Women with children aged 6 to 17 Women with nursery-aged children 0 to 5 Women with children aged children 0 to 3 Men with school-aged children 6 to 14	Women with no children Women with children 0 to 3 Women with nursery-aged children 0 to 5 Women with no children Women with no children Men with nursery-aged children 0 to 5

Notes: – The table presents a summary of all the definitions used for treatment and control groups through out the baseline, heterogeneous, and robustness estimations.

Table 4.A2: Descriptive Statistics: Post-School Closure Women with Children

	1	A11	Treatme	ent before	Contro	T-test	
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Δ Mean ^a
Dependent variables							
Labor force participation	0.552	0.497	0.567	0.496	0.500	0.500	0.067^{***}
Employed	0.535	0.499	0.550	0.497	0.483	0.500	0.068^{***}
Total hours worked	19.096	22.415	19.736	22.613	16.819	21.540	2.917^{***}
Domestic Work	32.343	18.172	30.504	17.215	39.202	19.919	-8.697^{***}
Conditional dependent variables							
Conditional hours worked	35.663	18.640	35.865	18.730	34.844	18.252	1.021***
Formal work conditional on working	0.498	0.500	0.490	0.500	0.530	0.499	-0.040^{***}
Paid employment	0.955	0.207	0.954	0.209	0.960	0.197	-0.005^{***}
Sector							
Primary	0.025	0.156	0.026	0.161	0.019	0.135	0.008***
Secondary	0.183	0.386	0.184	0.387	0.179	0.383	0.005
Tertiary	0.793	0.406	0.790	0.407	0.803	0.398	-0.013^{**}
Control variables							
Women with school aged kids 6-14	0.781	0.414	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	1.000
School closure	1.000	0.000	1.000	0.000	1.000	0.000	0.000
Age	39.258	8.395	40.886	7.163	33.467	9.785	7.419***
Spouse present	0.731	0.444	0.719	0.450	0.775	0.418	-0.056^{***}
Grandparent present	0.050	0.217	0.049	0.216	0.052	0.222	-0.003^{**}
Number of children	2.496	1.316	2.685	1.315	1.823	1.081	0.862^{**}
Marital Status							
Married/Cohabiting	0.842	0.365	0.829	0.377	0.887	0.316	-0.059^{***}
Separated/Divorced	0.079	0.269	0.087	0.282	0.050	0.218	0.037^{***}
Widowed	0.020	0.139	0.022	0.147	0.012	0.109	0.010^{**}
Single	0.060	0.237	0.062	0.241	0.051	0.219	0.011^{***}
Mother's education level							
No education	0.018	0.134	0.020	0.140	0.012	0.109	0.008^{***}
Primary education	0.160	0.367	0.174	0.379	0.110	0.312	0.064^{***}
Secondary education	0.346	0.476	0.361	0.480	0.294	0.456	0.067^{***}
High-school	0.215	0.411	0.203	0.402	0.261	0.439	-0.058^{***}
Vocational training	0.048	0.213	0.051	0.221	0.036	0.186	0.016^{**}
University degree	0.212	0.409	0.191	0.393	0.287	0.453	-0.096^{**}
Locality size							
More than 100,000 inhabitants	0.600	0.490	0.594	0.491	0.621	0.485	-0.027^{**}
15,000-99,999 inhabitants	0.131	0.337	0.132	0.338	0.128	0.334	0.004^{*}
2,500-14,999 inhabitants	0.123	0.328	0.125	0.331	0.113	0.317	0.012^{**}
Less than 2,500 inhabitants	0.147	0.354	0.149	0.357	0.138	0.345	0.011^{***}
Observations	144,384		112,709		31,675		

Notes: – The table presents descriptive statistics for post-school closure trends of women with children before the COVID-19 pandemic for the years 2017-2021. Treatment group is defined as women who have school-aged children (6 to 14 years) and control group as women who have nursery age children (0 to 5 years). ^a This column represents the difference between treatment and control and the respective t-test.

Table 4.A3: Descriptive Statistics: Pre-School Closure for Women with Children vs. Women with No Children

	А	.11	Treatme	ent before	Control before		T-test	
	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Mean	S.D.	Δ Mean ^a	
Dependent variables								
Labor force participation	0.732	0.443	0.538	0.499	0.706	0.456	-0.167^{***}	
Employed	0.706	0.456	0.526	0.499	0.681	0.466	-0.156^{***}	
Total hours worked	29.921	24.367	18.921	22.203	26.576	22.666	-7.655^{***}	
Domestic Work	17.835	18.194	33.231	17.412	18.855	13.072	14.376^{***}	
Conditional dependent variables								
Conditional hours worked	42.412	17.659	36.007	17.971	39.025	16.389	-3.018^{***}	
Formal work conditional on working	0.524	0.499	0.466	0.499	0.659	0.474	-0.193^{***}	
Paid employment	0.963	0.188	0.947	0.224	0.970	0.170	-0.023^{***}	
Sector								
Primary	0.070	0.254	0.024	0.154	0.012	0.109	0.012^{***}	
Secondary	0.269	0.443	0.166	0.372	0.162	0.368	0.004^{**}	
Tertiary	0.662	0.473	0.810	0.392	0.826	0.379	-0.016^{***}	
Women with children	0.925	0.263	1.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	1.000	
School closure	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	
Age	36.275	10.335	40.342	9.036	34.012	9.742	6.330^{***}	
Spouse present	0.719	0.450	0.744	0.436	0.560	0.496	0.184^{***}	
Grand parent present	0.053	0.224	0.050	0.219	0.062	0.242	-0.012^{***}	
Number of chilldren	1.937	1.599	2.698	1.380	0.000	0.000	2.698^{***}	
Marital Status								
Married/Cohabiting	0.637	0.481	0.843	0.364	0.666	0.472	0.178^{***}	
Separated/Divorced	0.063	0.243	0.078	0.268	0.012	0.110	0.066^{***}	
Widowed	0.012	0.110	0.024	0.154	0.005	0.069	0.019***	
Single	0.287	0.453	0.055	0.227	0.317	0.465	-0.263^{***}	
Mother's education level								
No education	0.043	0.204	0.025	0.155	0.013	0.112	0.012^{***}	
Primary education	0.253	0.435	0.206	0.404	0.085	0.279	0.121***	
Secondary education	0.310	0.462	0.349	0.477	0.176	0.381	0.173^{***}	
High-school	0.161	0.368	0.188	0.391	0.196	0.397	-0.008***	
Vocational training	0.071	0.256	0.064	0.244	0.046	0.211	0.017***	
University degree	0.162	0.369	0.169	0.374	0.484	0.500	-0.315^{***}	
Locality size	0.2.02		0.200	0.01-	0.000	0.000	0.020	
More than 100,000 inhabitants	0.604	0.489	0.579	0.494	0.709	0.454	-0.130^{***}	
15.000-99.999 inhabitants	0.133	0.340	0.136	0.342	0.116	0.320	0.020***	
2.500-14.999 inhabitants	0.123	0.328	0.129	0.335	0.088	0.283	0.041***	
Less than 2,500 inhabitants	0.140	0.347	0.156	0.363	0.087	0.282	0.069***	
Observations	2,538,763		818,769		66,353			

Notes: – The table presents descriptive statistics for post-school closure trends of women with children before the COVID-19 pandemic for the years 2017-2021. Treatment are women with children vs. women with no children. ^a This column represents the difference between treatment and control and the respective t-test.

	Ι	II	III
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure	-0.016^{**}	-0.017***	-0.017^{***}
	(0.008)	(0.005)	(0.005)
Women with school aged kids 6-14	0.055***	0.055***	0.055***
	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)
Age	0.041^{***}	0.041^{***}	0.041^{***}
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Age-squared	-0.001^{***}	-0.001^{***}	-0.001^{***}
	(0.000)	(0.000)	(0.000)
Spouse present	-0.124^{***}	-0.122^{***}	-0.122^{***}
	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Grandparent present	0.028^{***}	0.030^{***}	0.030^{***}
	(0.004)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Number of children	-0.001	-0.002^{**}	-0.002^{**}
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Household size	-0.008^{***}	-0.007^{***}	-0.007^{***}
	(0.001)	(0.001)	(0.001)
Marital Status: Ref.: Married/Cohabiting			
Separated/Divorced	0.193^{***}	0.193^{***}	0.193^{***}
	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)
Widowed	0.158^{***}	0.159^{***}	0.159^{***}
	(0.007)	(0.007)	(0.007)
Single	0.215^{***}	0.215^{***}	0.215^{***}
	(0.005)	(0.005)	(0.005)
Women's education level: Ref.: None			
Primary education	0.018*	0.013	0.013
a	(0.010)	(0.008)	(0.008)
Secondary education	0.042***	0.033***	0.033***
TT· 1 1 1	(0.011)	(0.008)	(0.008)
High-school	0.084^{+++}	0.072^{***}	0.072^{+++}
N 7 (* 1) * *	(0.010)	(0.008)	(0.008)
vocational training	(0.019)	(0.099)	(0.099)
TT	(0.012)	(0.009)	(0.009)
University degree	(0.247)	(0.233)	(0.233)
L_{obs}	(0.011)	(0.009)	(0.009)
$15\ 000\ 00\ 000\ inhabitants$	_0.011***	_0.019***	_0.019***
19,000- <i>59,555</i> milabitantis	(0.001)	(0.012)	(0.012)
2 500-14 999 inhabitants	-0.042^{***}	-0.040^{***}	-0.040^{***}
2,000 11,000 1111001001105	(0.012)	(0.004)	(0.004)
Less than 2.500 inhabitants	-0.134^{***}	-0.130^{***}	-0.130^{***}
	(0.006)	(0.006)	(0.006)
Constant	-0.219^{***}	-0.245^{***}	-0.243^{***}
	(0.020)	(0.018)	(0.018)
	(0.020)	(0.010)	(0.010)
Controls	yes	yes	yes
Time fixed effects	no	yes	no
State specific trend	no	no	yes
Observations	526 706	526 706	526 706
R^2	0.121	0.129	0.129

Table 4.A4:	Effect	OF	School	$\operatorname{Closure}$	ON	THE	LABOR	Force	PARTICIPA	ATION	OF
				Wome	N W	ITH	Childri	EN			

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD analysis. Treatment group are women with children aged 6 to 14 years old. Control group are women with children aged 0 to 5 years. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the state-survey year level). – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

		onning	
	Domestic work	Hours caring	Hours HH chores
	Ι	II	III
	A. Con	ditional on no	ot working
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure	1.192^{***}	0.954^{***}	-0.194
	(0.316)	(0.302)	(0.166)
Women with school aged kids 6-14	-7.442^{***}	-6.672^{***}	1.526***
	(0.205)	(0.188)	(0.087)
Observations	234,729	136,188	232,283
	В. С	onditional on	working
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure	0.451	-0.098	-0.275^{**}
	(0.298)	(0.299)	(0.119)
Women with school aged kids 6-14	-6.123^{***}	-5.124^{***}	0.778***
J	(0.176)	(0.142)	(0.058)
Observations	273.507	131.516	268.479
	,	- ,	

Table 4.A5:	Effect	\mathbf{OF}	School	Closure	ON	Domestic	Work	CONDITIONAL	ON
				WORKING	OR	NOT WOR	KING		

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD analysis. Treatment are women with school-aged children 6 to 14 years old. Control are women with nursery-aged children 0 to 5 years. The data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2017 till 2021. The sample differs here because of the missing values reported for those variables. The regressions include the full set of controls and state-by-quarter-by-year fixed effects. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the state-survey year level). – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Table	4.A6:	Effect	OF	School	CLOSURE A	According to	SECTOR:	INDIVIDUAL	F.E
-------	-------	--------	----	--------	-----------	--------------	---------	------------	-----

Dependent variable:	Formal	Informal	Paid	Unpaid	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary
	Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI	VII
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x School closure	-0.031	-0.137^{***}	-0.071^{**}	-0.082^{**}	-0.016	-0.031	-0.112^{***}
	(0.044)	(0.047)	(0.035)	(0.036)	(0.025)	(0.050)	(0.038)
Women with school aged kids 6-14	-0.088^{***}	0.121^{***}	0.018	0.058^{**}	0.004	0.020	0.031
	(0.034)	(0.036)	(0.027)	(0.028)	(0.019)	(0.038)	(0.030)
Individual FE	all	all	all	all	all	all	all
State-by-quarter-by-year FE	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes	yes
Observations	7,213	6,995	9,546	4,665	4,528	5,421	8,664
\mathbb{R}^2	0.192	0.209	0.110	0.363	0.338	0.292	0.132

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. The data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2017 till 2021. The regressions includes age and age squared as controls as well individual fixed effects.– Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the state-survey year level). – *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

Table 4.A7:	ROBUSTNESS:	Placebo	FOR 7	гне	Effect	\mathbf{OF}	School	CLOSURE	ON
			LABO	r O	UTCOME	\mathbf{S}			

Dependent variable:	Labor force participation	Hours worked	Extensive margin	Intensive margin
	I	II	III	IV
		A. Placebo	year 2019	
Women with school aged kids 6-14 x Placebo school-closure in 2019	-0.007	-0.101	-0.007	0.336
Women with school aged kids 6-14	(0.006) 0.054^{***}	(0.231) 2.023***	(0.006) 0.053^{***}	(0.275) 0.201
Observations	(0.004) 234,202	(0.189) 234,202	(0.004) 234,202	(0.219) 127,130
	B. W	Vomen with	children 0 to	3
Women with children 0-3 x School closure	-0.012	-0.009	-0.325	-0.084
Women with children 0-3	-0.109^{***}	(0.000) -0.102^{***} (0.007)	(0.336) -5.864^{***} (0.318)	(0.310) -3.444^{***} (0.281)
Observations	159,413	159,413	159,413	94,962

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. For panel A the data is taken from the ENOE for the years starting the second quarter of 2018 until the first quarter of 2020. School closure is now introduced in the second quarter of year 2019 as a placebo year. For Panel B the data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2017 till 2021. The age range of treatment and control is now changed from 20 to 55 years old women. For panel B the treatment are defined as women with 0 to 3 aged children. Control group is defined as women with no children. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the state-survey year level). The regressions includes the full set of controls and state-by-quarter-by-year fixed effects.– *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

	danii iida ida		S 0101 21 21	
Dependent variable:	Labor force participation	Hours worked	Extensive margin	Intensive margin
	I	II	III	IV
	A. V	0		
Warran with school and hids 6 14 y Cabaal alayura	0.017***	0 471**	0.010***	0.460**
women with school aged kids 0-14 x School closure	(0.005)	(0.209)	(0.005)	(0.213)
Women with school aged kids 6-14	0.055^{***}	2.165^{***}	0.055^{***}	0.387^{***}
	(0.003)	(0.137)	(0.003)	(0.144)
Observations	526,706	526,706	526,706	$281,\!532$
		B. Year 2	019-2021	
Women with school aged kids $6-14 \ge 100$ school closure	-0.015^{***}	-0.409^{*}	-0.017^{***}	0.396
	(0.006)	(0.238)	(0.006)	(0.258)
Women with school aged kids 6-14	0.055^{***}	2.154^{***}	0.054^{***}	0.422^{**}
	(0.004)	(0.175)	(0.004)	(0.193)
Observations	291,747	291,747	291,747	158,311

Table 4.A8: ROBUSTNESS: DIFFERENT AGE RANGE AND SURVEY YEARS

Notes: – Results are obtained from DiD models. For Panel A the data is taken from the ENOE for the years 2019 till 2021, for Panel B the data ranges for the years 2017 until 2021. – Standard errors in parentheses (clustered at the state-survey year level). The regressions includes the full set of controls and state-by-quarter-by-year fixed effects.- *** p < 0.01; ** p < 0.05; * p < 0.1.

5 Conclusion

This dissertation is motivated by i) the high number of working children and by ii) the low labor force participation rates of women in comparison to men in Latin America. Improvements have been made throughout the last 4 years such that child labor rates dropped from 10% in 2008 to 6% in 2020 (ILO, 2020a), and women's labor force participation has been increasing from 39% to 42% for the years 1990 to 2019 (The World Bank, 2022c).

This progress made in Latin America, has been unfortunately disrupted by the COVID-19 pandemic, because of school closures, job losses, and rising poverty. On the one hand, around 100,000 to 326,000 children are expected to work again because of the income losses families have faced (UNICEF, 2021b). On the other hand, the COVID-19 pandemic has affected mostly sectors where women work. Therefore, the unemployment rate for women increased to 12.4% for the years 2020 and 2021 compared to 9.7% in 2019. The pandemic caused the employment rate of women to decrease by 3.6% in 2021 compared to 2019 (ILO, 2021). Therefore, in my dissertation, I evaluate how reform and education policies help improve the welfare of those vulnerable groups in the society by focusing on the region of Latin America, in particular looking at Mexico.

The first reform discussed in **Chapter 2** is the amendment of the minimum working age in Mexico from 14 to 15 in 2015. I analyze the impact on child labor due to the change in minimum working age. The Labor Law not only increases the minimum working age by one year, but also sets regulations and certain requirements for the work of individuals under the age of 18. To be able to analyze the effect, I look at the simple reform done in the Constitutional Amendment in 2014 where the government only announced the change in the minimum working age and compare it to the 2015 Labor Law change that sets penalties on employers. My findings show that only when the change of the law is coupled with regulations to make sure that the law is enforced, child labor decreases and school enrollment increases for the affected cohort. This is a very important policy implication, because it shows that only a mere shift in the minimum working age which is not coupled with regulations to ensure enforcement of the law and punish employers, does not reduce child labor.

The second reform discussed in **Chapter 3** is the extension of the instruction time at school from 20 to either 30 or 40 hours for the years 2009 until 2018. I analyze what happens to child labor and school enrollment since students have to stay longer in school. My findings show that due to longer instruction time, child labor decreases for children aged 5 to 17 years old and school enrollment is not affected. The insignificant effect in school enrollment alleviates the concern that parents might remove children from school to go to work. The findings further show that by increasing the instruction time, the labor force participation of the mother's of the affected group increase their labor force participation. This reform is also very important for policy makers, because it shows that by increasing the time spent in school not only child labor decreases but the labor force participation of the mothers increase as well. This show also that education or schooling drives children away from child labor.

So far, we have seen that education is important to keep children away from child labor. Moreover, my findings have also shown that because children spend more time at school, women's labor force participation increases. But what happens with women's labor force participation when policy makers shut down the schooling system due to a sanitary emergency like the COVID-19 pandemic. In **Chapter 4** I evaluate the effect of school closures caused by the COVID-19 pandemic on the labor force participation of women with school-aged children 6 to 14 for the years 2017 until 2021. My findings indicate that due to school closures women with school-aged children decrease their labor force participation and their employment rate. The decrease is mostly observed for the informal and services sector. My analysis shows further that women who had access to informal child care such as having a grandparent at home are not affected by the school closure. This reform is highly important because it highlights the significance of schools in acting as a child care substitute for women, and therefore allowing women to enter the labor market. By closing schools women will tend to reduce their labor force participation or even stop working. Policy makers should acknowledge that and implement other policies to fight the pandemic such as having two shifts at schools or regular testing for students instead of complete shut-down. Policy makers should also realize the importance of flexible working hours and working remotely for women when they want to close schools, because in developing countries like Mexico, the normal working day is rather the rigid 8 hours and working from home is the exception.

In general, this dissertation has three key messages in the context of economic development for Latin American countries. First, a steady decrease in child labor rates can be further encouraged through regulation establishing a minimum working age coupled with i) restrictions to hire underage individuals who did not complete basic education, ii) to put regulations on the hours worked, type of activities, and working schedule of individuals above 15 and younger than 18, and iii) put penalties on employers that violate those regulations. Second, a shift in the schooling day from part-time to full-time will not only increase academic outcomes of children, but also has the potential to decrease child labor rates while encouraging the labor force participation of mothers of young children. Finally, the need of security systems to cope with sudden events such as sanitary emergencies is of utmost relevance to avoid disproportionate impacts on different vulnerable groups.

Bibliography

- ACEMOGLU, D. and ANGRIST, J. (2000). How large are Human-Capital Externalities? Evidence from Compulsory Schooling Laws. *NBER Macroeconomics Annual*, **15**, 9–59.
- ADAMS-PRASSL, A., BONEVA, T., GOLIN, M. and RAUH, C. (2020). Inequality in the Impact of the Coronavirus Shock: Evidence from Real Time Surveys. *Journal of Public Economics*, 189, 104245.
- ADDA, J. (2016). Economic Activity and the Spread of Viral Diseases: Evidence from High Frequency Data. The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 131 (2), 891–941.
- AGÜERO, J. M. (2016). Evaluación de Impacto De La Jornada Escolar Completa. Available at:https://www.oas.org/juridico/mla/en/mex/en_mex-int-text-const.pdf.
- ALMEIDA, R. and CARNEIRO, P. (2012). Enforcement of Labor Regulation and Informality. American Economic Journal: Applied Economics, 4 (3), 64–89.
- ALON, T., DOEPKE, M., MANYSHEVA, K., TERTILT, M. et al. (2022). Gendered Impacts of COVID-19 in Developing Countries. *IZA Discussion Paper No. 15013*.
- AMUEDO-DORANTES, C., KAUSHAL, N. and MUCHOW, A. N. (2020). Is the Cure Worse than the Disease? County-level Evidence from the COVID-19 Pandemic in the United States. National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER) Working Paper No. 27759.
- ANGRIST, J. D. and KRUEGER, A. B. (1991). Does Compulsory School Attendance Affect Schooling and Earnings? The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 106 (4), 979–1014.
- APARICIO-FENOLL, A. and VIDAL-FERNANDEZ, M. (2015). Working Women and Fertility: The Role of Grandmothers' Labor Force Participation. *CESifo Economic Studies*, **61** (1), 123–147.
- ARIAS, J., AZUARA, O., BERNAL, P., HECKMAN, J. J. and VILLARREAL, C. (2010). Policies to Promote Growth and Economic Efficiency in Mexico. National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER) Working Paper No. 16554.
- ASAI, Y., KAMBAYASHI, R. and YAMAGUCHI, S. (2015). Childcare Availability, Household Structure, and Maternal Employment. *Journal of the Japanese and International Economies*, 38, 172–192.

- ACC ASSOCIATE OF CORPORATE COUNSEL (2015). Mexico: Labor Inspections and General Compliance on Labor Matters. Available at:https://www.acc.com/resource-libra ry/mexico-labor-inspections-and-general-compliance-labor-matters#.
- ATTANASIO, O., FITZSIMONS, E., GOMEZ, A., GUTIERREZ, M. I., MEGHIR, C. and MESNARD, A. (2010). Children's Schooling and Work in the Presence of a Conditional Cash Transfer Program in Rural Colombia. *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 58 (2), 181–210.
- BAKER, M., GRUBER, J. and MILLIGAN, K. (2008). Universal Child Care, Maternal Labor Supply, and Family Well-Being. *Journal of Political Economy*, **116** (4), 709–745.
- BALAND, J.-M. and ROBINSON, J. A. (2000). Is Child Labor Inefficient? Journal of Political Economy, 108 (4), 663–679.
- BALDWIN, R. E. and WEDER, B. (2020). *Mitigating the COVID Economic Crisis: Act Fast and do Whatever it Takes.* Centre for Economic Policy Research (CEPR) press.
- BARGAIN, O. and BOUTIN, D. (2021). Minimum Age Regulation and Child Labor: New Evidence from Brazil. *The World Bank Economic Review*, **35** (1), 234–260.
- BASU, K. (1999). Child labor: Cause, Consequence, and Cure, with Remarks on International Labor Standards. *Journal of Economic Literature*, **37** (3), 1083–1119.
- —, DAS, S. and DUTTA, B. (2010). Child Labor and Household Wealth: Theory and Empirical Evidence of an Inverted-U. *Journal of Development Economics*, **91** (1), 8–14.
- and VAN, P. H. (1998). The Economics of Child Labor. American Economic Review, 88 (3), 412–427.
- and ZARGHAMEE, H. (2009). Is Product Boycott a Good Idea for Controlling Child Labor? A Theoretical Investigation. *Journal of Development Economics*, 88 (2), 217–220.
- BAUERNSCHUSTER, S. and SCHLOTTER, M. (2015). Public Child Care and Mothers' Labor Supply—Evidence from Two Quasi-Experiments. *Journal of Public Economics*, **123**, 1–16.
- BEEGLE, K., DEHEJIA, R. and GATTI, R. (2009). Why Should We Care about Child Labor? The Education, Labor Market, and Health Consequences of Child Labor. *Journal of Human Resources*, 44 (4), 871–889.
- BEHRMAN, J. R., PARKER, S. W. and TODD, P. E. (2011). Do Conditional Cash Transfers for Schooling Generate Lasting Benefits? A Five-Year Followup of PRO-GRESA/Oportunidades. *Journal of Human Resources*, 46 (1), 93–122.
- BELLEI, C. (2009). Does Lengthening the School Day Increase Students' Academic Achievement? Results from a Natural Experiment in Chile. *Economics of Education Review*, 28 (5), 629–640.

- BERLINSKI, S. and GALIANI, S. (2007). The Effect of a Large Expansion of Pre-primary School Facilities on Preschool Attendance and Maternal Employment. *Labour Economics*, **14** (3), 665–680.
- BERTHELON, M. E. and KRUGER, D. I. (2011). Risky Behavior Among Youth: Incapacitation Effects of School on Adolescent Motherhood and Crime in Chile. *Journal of Public Economics*, 95 (1-2), 41–53.
- BHALOTRA, S. and HEADY, C. (2003). Child Farm Labor: The Wealth Paradox. The World Bank Economic Review, 17 (2), 197–227.
- BHARADWAJ, P., LAKDAWALA, L. K. and LI, N. (2020). Perverse Consequences of Well Intentioned Regulation: Evidence from India's Child Labor Ban. Journal of the European Economic Association, 18 (3), 1158–1195.
- BHATTACHARYA, J., CURRIE, J. and HAIDER, S. J. (2006). Breakfast of Champions? The School Breakfast Program and the Nutrition of Children and Families. *Journal of Human Resources*, 41 (3), 445–466.
- BICK, A. (2016). The Quantitative Role of Child Care for Female Labor Force Participation and Fertility. *Journal of the European Economic Association*, **14** (3), 639–668.
- BLANDEN, J., DEL BONO, E., MCNALLY, S. and RABE, B. (2016). Universal Pre-School Education: The Case of Public Funding with Private Provision. *The Economic Journal*, **126** (592), 682–723.
- BOZKURT, A., JUNG, I., XIAO, J., VLADIMIRSCHI, V., SCHUWER, R., EGOROV, G., LAMBERT, S., AL-FREIH, M., PETE, J., OLCOTT JR, D. et al. (2020). A Global Outlook to the Interruption of Education due to COVID-19 Pandemic: Navigating in a Time of Uncertainty and Crisis. Asian Journal of Distance Education, 15 (1), 1–126.
- BRATTI, M., FRATTINI, T. and SCERVINI, F. (2018). Grandparental Availability for Child Care and Maternal Labor Force Participation: Pension Reform Evidence from Italy. *Journal of Population Economics*, **31** (4), 1239–1277.
- BRILLI, Y., DEL BOCA, D. and PRONZATO, C. D. (2016). Does Child Care Availability Play a Role in Maternal Employment and Children's Development? Evidence from Italy. *Review of Economics of the Household*, 14 (1), 27–51.
- BRYNJOLFSSON, E., HORTON, J. J., OZIMEK, A., ROCK, D., SHARMA, G. and TUYE, H.-Y. (2020). COVID-19 and Remote Work: An Early Look at US Data. *National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER) Working Paper No. 27344.*
- BUNDERVOET, T., DÁVALOS, M. E. and GARCIA, N. (2022). The Short-Term Impacts of COVID-19 on Households in Developing Countries: An Overview based on a Harmonized Dataset of High-Frequency Surveys. World development, p. 105844.

- U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR BUREAU OF INTERNATIONAL LABOR AFFAIRS (2020). 2020 Findings on the Worst forms of Child Labor. Available at: https://www.dol.gov/ag encies/ilab/resources/reports/child-labor/findings.
- BUSSO, M., FAZIO, M. V. and LEVY, S. (2012). The Productivity Costs of Excessive Informality in Mexico. Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) Working Paper No. IDB-WP-341.
- CABRERA-HERNÁNDEZ, F. (2020). Does Lengthening the School Day Increase School Value-Added? Evidence from a Mid-Income Country. The Journal of Development Studies, 56 (2), 314–335.
- CALLAWAY, B. and SANT'ANNA, P. H. (2021). Difference-in-Differences with Multiple Time Periods. *Journal of Econometrics*, **225** (2), 200–230.
- CANTÚ, C. (2022). Legisladores y Empresarios Alistan Cambios a Ley De Trabajo De Menores En El Campo. *El Financiero*.
- CASCIO, E. U. (2009). Maternal Labor Supply and the Introduction of Kindergartens into American Public Schools. *Journal of Human resources*, **44** (1), 140–170.
- CASTILLO, R. C., STAGUHN, E. D. and WESTON-FARBER, E. (2020). The Effect of State-Level Stay-at-Home Orders on COVID-19 Infection Rates. American Journal of Infection Control, 48 (8), 958–960.
- CAUCHEMEZ, S., VALLERON, A.-J., BOELLE, P.-Y., FLAHAULT, A. and FERGUSON, N. M. (2008). Estimating the Impact of School Closure on Influenza Transmission from Sentinel Data. *Nature*, **452** (7188), 750–754.
- CENTRO DE INVESTIGACIÓN ECONÓMICA Y PRESUPUESTARIA (2019). Educación inicial. Incorporación a La Educación Básica y Obligatoria. Available at: https://ciep.mx/educac ion-inicial-incorpacion-a-la-educacion-basica-y-obligatoria/.
- CHASSON, M., BEN-YAAKOV, O. and TAUBMAN-BEN-ARI, O. (2021). Meaning in Life Among New Mothers Before and During the COVID-19 Pandemic: The Role of Mothers' Marital Satisfaction and Perception of the Infant. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, **22** (8), 3499–3512.
- CIGNO, A., ROSATI, F. C. and GUARCELLO, L. (2002). Does Globalization Increase Child Labor? World Development, **30** (9), 1579–1589.
- COLLINS, C., LANDIVAR, L. C., RUPPANNER, L. and SCARBOROUGH, W. J. (2021). COVID-19 and the Gender Gap in Work Hours. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 28, 101–112.

- CEPAL COMISIÓN ECONÓMICA PARA AMÉRICA LATINA Y EL CARIBE (2019). Informe de Avance Cuatrienal Sobre el Progreso y Los Desafíos Regionales de la Agenda 2030 Para el Desarrollo Sostenible en América Latina y el Caribe. Available at:https://www.cepal.or g/es/publicaciones/44551-informe-avance-cuatrienal-progreso-desafios-regionales-la-age nda-2030-desarrollo.
- CONEVAL CONSEJO NACIONAL DE LA EVALUACIÓN DE LA POLÍTICA DE DESARROLLO SOCIAL (2018a). Ficha de Monitoreo 2017-2018: Escuelas de Tiempo Completo. Available at: https://www.gob.mx/cms/uploads/attachment/file/390912/S221_Ficha_de_monit oreo_y_evaluacio_n_2017_-_2018.pdf.
- CONEVAL CONSEJO NACIONAL DE LA EVALUACIÓN DE LA POLÍTICA DE DESARROLLO SOCIAL (2018b). Impacto del Programa Escuelas Tiemp Completo 2018: Estudio exploratorio. Available at: https://www.coneval.org.mx/Evaluacion/IEPSM/Documents/Ex ploratorio_Impacto_PETC.pdf.
- CONEVAL CONSEJO NACIONAL DE LA EVALUACIÓN DE LA POLÍTICA DE DESARROLLO SOCIAL (2019). Evolucion de las Lineas de Pobreza por Ingresos. Available at: https://ww w.coneval.org.mx/Medicion/MP/Paginas/Lineas-de-bienestar-y-canasta-basica.aspx.
- CONEVAL CONSEJO NACIONAL DE LA EVALUACIÓN DE LA POLÍTICA DE DESAR-ROLLO SOCIAL (2020). Evolucion De Las Lineas De Pobreza Por Ingresos. Available at: https://www.coneval.org.mx.
- CONEVAL CONSEJO NACIONAL DE LA EVALUACIÓN DE LA POLÍTICA DE DESARROLLO SOCIAL (2022). Evolucion De Las Lineas De Pobreza Por Ingresos. Available at: https: //www.coneval.org.mx.
- CONAPO CONSEJO NACIONAL DE POBLACIÓN (2019). Índice Absoluto de Marginación 2000-2010. Available at:http://www.conapo.gob.mx/es/CONAPO/Indice_Absoluto_de __Marginacion_2000_2010.
- CONTRERAS, D. and SEPÚLVEDA, P. (2016). Effect of Lengthening the School Day on Mother's Labor Supply. *The World Bank Economic Review*, **31** (3), 747–766.
- CORONA, M. E. O. and GAMMAGE, S. (2017). Cash Transfer Programmes, Poverty Reduction and Women's Economic Empowerment: Experience from Mexico. *ILO Working Paper No. 1/2017.*
- COUCH, K. A., FAIRLIE, R. W. and XU, H. (2021). The Evolving Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Gender Inequality in the US Labor Market: The COVID Motherhood Penalty. *Economic Inquiry*.
- COVARRUBIAS, K., DAVIS, B. and WINTERS, P. (2012). From Protection to Production: Productive Impacts of the Malawi Social Cash Transfer Scheme. *Journal of Development Effectiveness*, 4 (1), 50–77.

- COVARRUBIAS, M. (2021). Covid-19 Widens the Digital Divide in Mexico. Available at: https://www.hertie-school.org/en/news/detail/content/covid-19-widens-the-digital-div ide-in-mexico.
- DAMMERT, A. C. (2010). Siblings, Child Labor, and Schooling in Nicaragua and Guatemala. Journal of Population Economics, 23 (1), 199–224.
- —, DE HOOP, J., MVUKIYEHE, E. and ROSATI, F. C. (2018). Effects of Public Policy on Child Labor: Current Knowledge, Gaps, and Implications for Program Design. World Development, 110, 104–123.
- DANG, H.-A., HIRAGA, M. and NGUYEN, C. V. (2019). Childcare and Maternal Employment: Evidence from Vietnam. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper, (8856).
- DAVE, D., FRIEDSON, A. I., MATSUZAWA, K. and SABIA, J. J. (2021). When do Shelterin-Place Orders Fight COVID-19 Best? Policy Heterogeneity Across States and Adoption Time. *Economic Inquiry*, **59** (1), 29–52.
- DE HOOP, J. and ROSATI, F. C. (2014). Cash Transfers and Child Labor. The World Bank Research Observer, 29 (2), 202–234.
- DE LUCA, G., VAN KERCKHOVE, K., COLETTI, P., POLETTO, C., BOSSUYT, N., HENS, N. and COLIZZA, V. (2018). The Impact of Regular School Closure on Seasonal Influenza Epidemics: a Data-Driven Spatial Transmission Model for Belgium. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, 18 (1), 1–16.
- DEL REY, E., JIMENEZ-MARTIN, S. and CASTELLO, J. V. (2018). Improving Educational and Labor Outcomes Through Child Labor Regulation. *Economics of Education Review*, 66, 51–66.
- DI DOMENICO, L., PULLANO, G., SABBATINI, C. E., BOËLLE, P.-Y. and COLIZZA, V. (2021). Modelling Safe Protocols for Reopening Schools During the COVID-19 Pandemic in France. *Nature Communications*, **12** (1), 1–10.
- DOF DIARIO OFICIAL DE LA FEDERACIÓN (2013). Acuerdo Número 704 Por El Que Se Emiten Las Reglas De Operación Del Programa Escuelas De Tiempo Completo. Available at:http://www.dof.gob.mx/nota_detalle.php?codigo=5328365&fecha=28/12/2013.
- DOF DIARIO OFICIAL DE LA FEDERACIÓN (2014). Decreto Por El Que Se Reforma La Fracción III Del Apartado A Del Artículo 123 De La Constitución Política De Los Estados Unidos Mexicanos. Available at: http://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/pro ceso/docleg/62/219_DOF_17jun14.pdf.
- DOF DIARIO OFICIAL DE LA FEDERACIÓN (2015). Decreto Por El Que Se Reforman y Derogan Diversas Disposiciones De La Ley Federal Del Trabajo, En Materia De Trabajo De Menores. Available at: http://www.diputados.gob.mx/LeyesBiblio/ref/lft/LFT_ref27 _12jun15.pdf.

- DOEPKE, M. and ZILIBOTTI, F. (2009). International Labor Standards and the Political Economy of Child-Labor Regulation. *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 7 (2-3), 508–518.
- ECLAC ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN (2021). The COVID-19 Pandemic has Caused a Setback of Over a Decade in Labor Market Participation for Women in the Region. *ECLAC*, available at: https://www.cepal.org/en /pressreleases/covid-19-pandemic-has-caused-setback-over-decade-labor-market-partici pation-women/.
- ECLAC ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR LATIN AMERICA AND THE CARIBBEAN AND INTERNATIONAL LABOR ORGANIZATION ILO (2019). Employment Situation in Latin America and the Carribean. *ECLAC*, available at: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/pu blic/---americas/---ro-lima/---sro-santiago/documents/publication/wcms_725442.pdf.
- EDMONDS, E. V. (2005). Does Child Labor Decline with Improving Economic Status? Journal of Human Resources, 40 (1), 77–99.
- (2007). Child Labor. Handbook of Development Economics, 4, 3607–3709.
- (2014). Does Minimum Age of Employment Regulation Reduce Child Labor? *IZA World of Labor*.
- and PAVCNIK, N. (2005). Child Labor in the Global Economy. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 19 (1), 199–220.
- and SHRESTHA, M. (2012). The Impact of Minimum Age of Employment Regulation on Child Labor and Schooling. *IZA Journal of Labor Policy*, **1** (1), 14.
- EDWARDS, L. N. (1978). An Ampirical Analysis of Compulsory Schooling Legislation, 1940-1960. The Journal of Law and Economics, **21** (1), 203–222.
- EGGER, D., MIGUEL, E., WARREN, S. S., SHENOY, A., COLLINS, E., KARLAN, D., PARKERSON, D., MOBARAK, A. M., FINK, G., UDRY, C. et al. (2021). Falling Living Standards During the COVID-19 Crisis: Quantitative Evidence from Nine Developing Countries. Science Advances, 7 (6), eabe0997.
- EL HERALDO DE MÉXICO (2021). En México, Trabajan Más Desde La Casa, Según La OIT. Available at: https://heraldodemexico.com.mx/economia/2021/11/22/en-mexico-t rabajan-mas-desde-la-casa-segun-la-oit-355926.html.
- EMERSON, P. M. and SOUZA, A. P. (2011a). Is Child Labor Harmful? The Impact of Working Earlier in Life on Adult Earnings. *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, 59 (2), 345–385.
- and (2011b). Is Child Labor Harmful? The Impact of Working Earlier in Life on Adult Earnings. *Economic Development and Cultural Change*, **59** (2), 345–385.

- ESPITIA, A., MATTOO, A., ROCHA, N., RUTA, M. and WINKLER, D. (2022). Pandemic Trade: COVID-19, Remote Work and Global Value Chains. *The World Economy*, 45 (2), 561–589.
- FERREIRA, F. H., FILMER, D. and SCHADY, N. (2009). Own and Sibling Effects of Conditional Cash Transfer Programs: Theory and Evidence from Cambodia. *The World Bank*.
- FERRO, A. R., KASSOUF, A. L., LEVISON, D. et al. (2010). The Impact of Conditional Cash Transfer Programs on Household Work Decisions in Brazil. Research in Labor Economics, 31, 193–218.
- FIGLIO, D., HOLDEN, K. L. and OZEK, U. (2018). Do Students Benefit from Longer School Days? Regression Discontinuity Evidence from Florida's Additional Hour of Literacy Instruction. *Economics of Education Review*, 67, 171–183.
- FISCHER, S. and ARGYLE, D. (2018). Juvenile Crime and the Four-Day School Week. *Economics of education Review*, **64**, 31–39.
- FITZPATRICK, M. D. (2010). Preschoolers Enrolled and Mothers at Work? The Effects of Universal Prekindergarten. Journal of Labor Economics, 28 (1), 51–85.
- FREDRIKSSON, P. and ÖCKERT, B. (2014). Life-Cycle Effects of Age at School Start. The Economic Journal, 124 (579), 977–1004.
- GALANTI, T., GUIDETTI, G., MAZZEI, E., ZAPPALÀ, S. and TOSCANO, F. (2021). Work from Home during the COVID-19 Outbreak: The Impact on Employees' Remote Work Productivity, Engagement, and Stress. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 63 (7), e426.
- GALIANI, S. and MCEWAN, P. J. (2013). The Heterogeneous Impact of Conditional Cash Transfers. *Journal of Public Economics*, **103**, 85–96.
- GARCÍA, S., FERNÁNDEZ, C. and WEISS, C. (2013). Does Lengthening the School Day Reduce the Likelihood of Early School Dropout and Grade Repetition: Evidence from Colombia. Working Paper SSRN No. 2356438.
- GATHMANN, C., JÜRGES, H. and REINHOLD, S. (2015). Compulsory Schooling Reforms, Education and Mortality in Twentieth Century Europe. *Social Science & Medicine*, **127**, 74–82.
- GELBACH, J. B. (2002). Public Schooling for Young Children and Maternal Labor Supply. American Economic Review, **92** (1), 307–322.
- GLEWWE, P. and OLINTO, P. (2004). Evaluation of the Impact of Conditional Cash Transfers on Schooling: An Experimental Analysis of Honduras' PRAF Program.

- GOLDIN, C. and MITCHELL, J. (2017). The New Life Cycle of Women's Employment: Disappearing Humps, Sagging Middles, Expanding Tops. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, **31** (1), 161–82.
- GOODMAN-BACON, A. (2021). Difference-in-Differences with Variation in Treatment Timing. Journal of Econometrics, 225 (2), 254–277.
- GOSTIN, L. O. and WILEY, L. F. (2020). Governmental Public Health Powers During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Stay-at-Home Orders, Business Closures, and Travel Restrictions. Jama, 323 (21), 2137–2138.
- GREWENIG, E., LERGETPORER, P., WERNER, K., WOESSMANN, L. and ZIEROW, L. (2021). COVID-19 and Educational Inequality: How School Closures Affect Low-and High-Achieving Students. *European Economic Review*, 140, 103920.
- GUNNARSSON, V., ORAZEM, P. F. and SÁNCHEZ, M. A. (2006). Child Labor and School Achievement in Latin America. *The World Bank Economic Review*, **20** (1), 31–54.
- HANK, K. and BUBER, I. (2009). Grandparents Caring for their Grandchildren: Findings from the 2004 Survey of Health, Ageing, and Retirement in Europe. *Journal of Family Issues*, **30** (1), 53–73.
- HANUSHEK, E. A. and WOESSMANN, L. (2010). Education and Economic Growth. *Economics of education*, **60**, 67.
- HANZL, L. and REHM, M. (2021). Less Work, More Labor: School Closures and Work Jours During the COVID-19 Pandemic in Austria. Institute for Socio-Economics (ifso) Working Paper No. 12.
- HAVNES, T. and MOGSTAD, M. (2011a). Money for Mothing? Universal Child Care and Maternal Employment. *Journal of Public Economics*, **95** (11-12), 1455–1465.
- and (2011b). No Child Left Behind: Subsidized Child Care and Children's Long-Run Outcomes. American Economic Journal: Economic Policy, 3 (2), 97–129.
- HINCAPIE, D. (2016). Do Longer School Days Improve Student Achievement? Evidence from Colombia. *IDB Working Paper Series No. 679*.
- HOEHN-VELASCO, L. and PENGLASE, J. (2021). Does Unilateral Divorce Impact Women's Labor Supply? Evidence from Mexico. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, 187, 315–347.
- HOLGADO, D., MAYA-JARIEGO, I., RAMOS, I., PALACIO, J., OVIEDO-TRESPALACIOS, O., ROMERO-MENDOZA, V. and AMAR, J. (2014). Impact of Child Labor on Academic Performance: Evidence from the Program "Edúcame Primero Colombia". International Journal of Educational Development, 34, 58–66.

- HOROWITZ, A. W. and WANG, J. (2004). Favorite Son? Specialized Child Laborers and Students in Poor LDC Households. *Journal of Development Economics*, **73** (2), 631–642.
- INSITUTO NACIONAL DE LAS MUJERES (2018). Indicadores Básicos. Available at: http://estadistica.inmujeres.gob.mx/formas/panorama_general.php?IDTema=6&pag=1.
- INSITUTO NACIONAL DE LAS MUJERES (2020a). La Participación De Las Mujeres En El Mercado Laboral Mexicano: Efectos En El Corto Plazo De La Pandemia COVID-19. Available at: http://cedoc.inmujeres.gob.mx/documentos_download/Folleto_Covid_19_ Mercado laboral VoBo 171120.pdf.
- INSITUTO NACIONAL DE LAS MUJERES (2020b). Las Mujeres y El Trabajo En El Contexto De La Pandemia En México. Available at: http://cedoc.inmujeres.gob.mx/documentos_download/BA6N12.pdf.
- ISSSTE INSTITUTO DE SEGURIDAD Y SERVICIOS SOCIALES DE LOS TRABAJADORES DEL ESTADO (2021). Desde El Inicio De La Pandemia, Las Estancias Infantiles Del ISSSTE Permanecen En Operación. Available at:https://www.gob.mx/issste/.
- INEGI INSTITUTO NACIONAL DE ESTADÍSTICA Y GEOGRAFÍA (2018a). Comunicado de Prensa No. 269/18. INEGI, México.
- INEGI INSTITUTO NACIONAL DE ESTADÍSTICA Y GEOGRAFÍA (2018b). Módulo de Trabajo Infantil (MTI) 2017: Encuesta Nacional de Ocupación y Empleo - Diseño muestral. INEGI, México.
- INEGI INSTITUTO NACIONAL DE ESTADÍSTICA Y GEOGRAFÍA (2018c). *Mujeres y Hombres En México*. INEGI, México.
- INEGI INSTITUTO NACIONAL DE ESTADÍSTICA Y GEOGRAFÍA (2021). Estadísticas a Propósito Del día Internacional De La Mujer. INEGI, México.
- INEE INSTITUTO NACIONAL PARA LA EVALUACIÓN DE LE EDUCACIÓN EN MÉXICO (2018a). La Educación Obligatoria en México Informe 2018. INEE, México.
- INEE INSTITUTO NACIONAL PARA LA EVALUACIÓN DE LE EDUCACIÓN EN MÉXICO (2018b). Principales Cifras: Educación Básica y Media Superior 2017-2018. INEE, México.
- INEE INSTITUTO NACIONAL PARA LA EVALUACIÓN DE LE EDUCACIÓN EN MÉXICO (2018c). *Reforma Eductiva: Marco Normativo*. INEE, México.
- ILO INTERNATIONAL LABOR ORGANIZATION (2018). Women and Men in the Informal Economy: A Statistical Picture, vol. 3. International Labor Office.
- ILO INTERNATIONAL LABOR ORGANIZATION (2019). ILOSTAT Database. Available at: https://ilostat.ilo.org/data/.

- ILO INTERNATIONAL LABOR ORGANIZATION (2022a). América Latina y Caribe: Políticas De Igualdad De Género y Mercado De Trabajo Durante La Pandemia. Available at: https://www.ilo.org/americas/publicaciones/WCMS_838520/lang--es/index.htm.
- ILO INTERNATIONAL LABOR ORGANIZATION (2022b). Decent Work. Available at: https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/decent-work/lang--en/index.htm.
- ILO INTERNATIONAL LABOR ORGANIZATION (2022c). Over 2 Million Moms Left the Labour Force in 2020 According to New Global Estimates. Available at: https://ilostat.il o.org/over-2-million-moms-left-the-labour-force-in-2020-according-to-new-global-estim ates/?utm_source=rss&utm_medium=rss&utm_campaign=over-2-million-moms-left-the-labour-force-in-2020-according-to-new-global-estimates.
- ILO INTERNATIONAL LABOUR OFFICE (2017). Global Estimates of Child Labour: Results and Trends, 2012-2016. Available at: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/@dgre ports/@dcomm/documents/publication/wcms_575499.pdf.
- ILO INTERNATIONAL LABOUR OFFICE (2018). Report from the Minimum Age Convention, 1973 (N.138). Available at: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEX PUB:12100:0::NO::P12100_ILO_CODE:C138.
- ILO INTERNATIONAL LABOUR OFFICE (2019a). Direct Request (CEACR) Adopted 2018, Published 108th ILC Session (2019). Available at: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normle x/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:13100:0::NO:13100:P13100_COMMENT_ID:3960161:NO.
- ILO INTERNATIONAL LABOUR OFFICE (2019b). Ending Child Labor by 2025: A Review of Policies and Programmes. Available at: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public /---ed_norm/---ipec/documents/publication/wcms_653987.pdf.
- ILO INTERNATIONAL LABOUR OFFICE (2020a). Child Labor: Global Estimates 2020, Trends and the Road Forward. Available at: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public /---ed_norm/---ipec/documents/publication/wcms_797515.pdf.
- ILO INTERNATIONAL LABOUR OFFICE (2020b). ILO Child Labour Convention Achieves Universal Ratification. Available at: https://www.ilo.org/global/about-the-ilo/newsroom/ news/WCMS_749858/lang--en/index.htm.
- ILO INTERNATIONAL LABOUR OFFICE (2021). 2021 Labour Overview: Latin America and the Carribean. Available at: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---america s/---ro-lima/---sro-port_of_spain/documents/publication/wcms_836158.pdf.
- ILO INTERNATIONAL LABOUR OFFICE (2022). What is Child Labor? Available at: https://www.ilo.org/ipec/facts/lang--en/index.htm.
- JACK, R., HALLORAN, C., OKUN, J. and OSTER, E. (2022). Pandemic schooling mode and student test scores: evidence from us school districts. *American Economic Review: Insights.*

- JAFAREY, S. and LAHIRI, S. (2002). Will Trade Sanctions Reduce Child Labour?: The Role of Credit Markets. *Journal of Development Economics*, **68** (1), 137–156.
- JAUMOTTE, F. (2003). Female Labour Force Participation: Past Trends and Main Determinants in OECD Countries. *OECD Working Paper No. 376*.
- JAYARAMAN, R. and SIMROTH, D. (2015). The Impact of School Lunches on Primary School Enrollment: Evidence from India's Midday Meal Scheme. The Scandinavian Journal of Economics, 117 (4), 1176–1203.
- JUHN, C. and MCCUE, K. (2017). Specialization then and now: Marriage, Children, and the Gender Earnings Gap Across Cohorts. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, **31** (1), 183–204.
- KANJI, S. (2018). Grandparent Care: A Key Factor in Mothers' Labour Force Participation in the UK. *Journal of Social Policy*, **47** (3), 523–542.
- KLEVEN, H., LANDAIS, C. and SØGAARD, J. E. (2019). Children and Gender Inequality: Evidence from Denmark. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, **11** (4), 181–209.
- KONDYLIS, F. and MANACORDA, M. (2012). School Proximity and Child Labor Evidence from Rural Tanzania. *Journal of Human Resources*, **47** (1), 32–63.
- LANDES, W. M. and SOLMON, L. C. (1972). Compulsory Schooling Legislation: An Economic Analysis of Law and Social Change in the Nineteenth Century. *The Journal of Economic History*, **32** (1), 54–91.
- LANDIVAR, L. C., RUPPANNER, L., SCARBOROUGH, W. J. and COLLINS, C. (2020). Early Signs Indicate that COVID-19 is Exacerbating Gender Inequality in the Labor Force. *Socius*, 6, 2378023120947997.
- LARSEN, M. F. (2020). Does Closing Schools Close Doors? The Effect of High School Closings on Achievement and Attainment. *Economics of Education Review*, 76, 101980.
- LEVY, S. (2010). Good Intentions, Bad Outcomes: Social Policy, Informality, and Economic Growth in Mexico. Brookings Institution Press.
- LEY FEDERAL DEL TRABAJO (2012). Nueva Ley Publicada En El Diario Oficial De La Federación El 1º De Abril De 1970. Available at: https://www.senado.gob.mx/comisiones /desarrollo_social/docs/marco/Ley_FT.pdf.
- LLERAS-MUNEY, A. (2002). Were Compulsory Attendance and Child Labor Laws Effective? An Analysis from 1915 to 1939. The Journal of Law and Economics, 45 (2), 401–435.
- LUMSDAINE, R. L. and VERMEER, S. J. (2015). Retirement Timing of Women and the Role of Care Responsibilities for Grandchildren. *Demography*, **52** (2), 433–454.

- LUNDBORG, P., NORDIN, M. and ROOTH, D. O. (2018). The Intergenerational Transmission of Human Capital: The Role of Skills and Health. *Journal of Population Economics*, **31** (4), 1035–1065.
- MALUCCIO, J. and FLORES, R. (2005). Impact Evaluation of a Conditional Cash Transfer Program: The Nicaraguan Red De Protección Social. Research Report 141. International Food Policy Research Institute, Washington, D.C.
- MALUCCIO, J. A. (2009). Education and Child Labor: Experimental Evidence from a Nicaraguan Conditional Cash Transfer Program. In *Child Labor and Education in Latin America*, Springer, pp. 187–204.
- MANACORDA, M. (2006). Child Labor and the Labor Supply of Other Household Members: Evidence from 1920 America. *American Economic Review*, **96** (5), 1788–1801.
- MARGO, R. A. and FINEGAN, T. A. (1996). Compulsory Schooling Legislation and School Attendance in Turn-of-the Century America: A 'Natural Experiment' Approach. *Economics Letters*, 53 (1), 103–110.
- MARTÍNEZ, C. and PERTICARÁ, M. (2017). Childcare Effects on Maternal Employment: Evidence from Chile. *Journal of Development Economics*, **126**, 127–137.
- MARTÍNEZ, M. D. P. (2015). La Edad Mínima para Trabajar En México Es De 18 Años: Canacintra. *El Economista*.
- MEXICO DAILY NEWS (2021). After 17 months, Schools Reopen for In-Person Classes. Available at: https://mexiconewsdaily.com/news/after-17-months-schools-reopen-for-in-person-classes/.
- MEYERS, M. K., HEINTZE, T. and WOLF, D. A. (2002). Child Care Subsidies and the Employment of Welfare Recipients. *Demography*, **39** (1), 165–179.
- MTI M'ODULO DE TRABAJO INFANTIL (2013). Resultados Del M'odulo de Trabajo Infantil 2013. Available at: http://internet.contenidos.inegi.org.mx/contenidos/Producto s/prod_serv/contenidos/espanol/bvinegi/productos/estudios/sociodemografico/infantil /2013/702825063672.pdf.
- MOEHLING, C. M. (1999). State Child Labor Laws and the Decline of Child Labor. *Explorations in Economic History*, **36** (1), 72–106.
- MONROY, C. and TRINES, S. (2019). Education in Mexico. World Education News+Reviews (WES), available at: https://wenr.wes.org/2019/05/education-in-mexico-2.
- NAFISAH, S. B., ALAMERY, A. H., AL NAFESA, A., ALEID, B. and BRAZANJI, N. A. (2018). School Closure During Novel Influenza: a Systematic Review. *Journal of Infection* and Public Health, **11** (5), 657–661.

- NOLLENBERGER, N. and RODRÍGUEZ-PLANAS, N. (2015). Full-Time Universal Childcare in a Context of Low Maternal Employment: Quasi-Experimental Evidence from Spain. *Labour Economics*, **36**, 124–136.
- O'DONNELL, O., ROSATI, F. C. and VAN DOORSLAER, E. (2005). Health Effects of Child Work: Evidence from Rural Vietnam. *Journal of Population Economics*, **18** (3), 437–467.
- OECD (2013). Reading, Mathematics, and Science Performance (PISA). Available at: doi:10.1787/79913c69-en.
- OECD (2018). Education Policy Outlook Mexico. Available at: https://www.oecd.org/education/Education-Policy-Outlook-Country-Profile-Mexico-2018.pdf.
- OECD (2020). Education Spending. Available at: doi:10.1787/ca274bac-en.
- OREOPOULOS, P. (2007). Do Dropouts Drop out too soon? Wealth, Health and Happiness from Compulsory Schooling. *Journal of Public Economics*, **91** (11-12), 2213–2229.
- PADILLA-ROMO, M. (2022). Full-time schools, policy-induced school switching, and academic performance. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, 196, 79–103.
- and CABRERA-HERNÁNDEZ, F. (2019). Easing the Constaints of Motherhood: The Effects of All-Day Schools on Mother's Labor Supply. *Economic Inquiry*, **57** (2), 890–909.
- and CABRERA-HERNÁNDEZ, F. (2020). Women as Caregivers: Full-Time Schools and Grandmothers' Labor Supply. *Mimeo*.
- PERUFFO, M. and FERREIRA, P. C. (2017). The Long-Term Effects of Conditional Cash Transfers on Child Labor and School Enrollment. *Economic Inquiry*, **55** (4), 2008–2030.
- PETTS, R. J., CARLSON, D. L. and PEPIN, J. R. (2021). A Gendered Pandemic: Childcare, Homeschooling, and Parents' Employment During COVID-19. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 28, 515–534.
- PIRAS, C., MORRISON, N. et al. (2014). The Gender Dividend: Capitalizing on Women's Work. Inter-American Development Bank.
- PIZA, C. and SOUZA, A. P. (2016). Short-and Long-Term Effects of a Child-Labor Ban. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper, (7796).
- and (2017). The Causal Impacts of Child Labor Law in Brazil: Some Preliminary Findings. *The World Bank Economic Review*, **30**, 137–144.
- PRONZATO, C. (2012). An Examination of Paternal and Maternal Intergenerational Transmission of Schooling. *Journal of Population Economics*, 25 (2), 591–608.
- RANJAN, P. (2001). Credit Constraints and the Phenomenon of Child Labor. Journal of Development Economics, 64 (1), 81–102.

- ROJAS, F. L., JIANG, X., MONTENOVO, L., SIMON, K. I., WEINBERG, B. A. and WING, C. (2020). Is the Cure Worse than the Problem Itself? Immediate Labor Market Effects of COVID-19 Case Rates and School Closures in the US. *National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER) Working Paper No. 27127.*
- STPS SECRETARÍA DEL TRABAJO Y PREVISIÓN SOCIAL (2014). El Trabajo Infantil en México: Avances y Desafíos.
- SENADO DE LA REPÚBLICA (2014). Boletín: Aprueba Senado Reforma Que Eleva Edad mínima Para Trabajar. Available at: http://comunicacion.senado.gob.mx/index.php/inf ormacion/boletines/12192-aprueba-senado-reforma-que-eleva-edad-minima-para-traba jar.html.
- SHAH, S. M. A., MOHAMMAD, D., QURESHI, M. F. H., ABBAS, M. Z. and ALEEM, S. (2021). Prevalence, Psychological Responses and Associated Correlates of Depression, Anxiety and Stress in a Global Population, during the Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Pandemic. Community Mental Health Journal, 57 (1), 101–110.
- SIEPPI, A. and PEHKONEN, J. (2019). Parenthood and Gender Inequality: Population-Based Evidence on the Child Penalty in Finland. *Economics letters*, **182**, 5–9.
- SKOUFIAS, E., PARKER, S. W., BEHRMAN, J. R. and PESSINO, C. (2001). Conditional Cash Transfers and their Impact on Child Work and Schooling: Evidence from the PROGRESA Program in Mexico. *Economia*, 2 (1), 45–96.
- TANG, C., ZHAO, L. and ZHAO, Z. (2020). Does Free Education Help Combat Child Labor? The Effect of a Free Compulsory Education Reform in Rural China. *Journal of Population Economics*, **33** (2), 601–631.
- TESTER, J. M., ROSAS, L. G. and LEUNG, C. W. (2020). Food Insecurity and Pediatric Obesity: a Double Whammy in the Era of COVID-19. *Current Obesity Reports*, 9 (4), 442–450.
- THE WORLD BANK (2019). Regional Aggregation Using 2011 PPP and 1.9 Dollar a Day Poverty Line. http://iresearch.worldbank.org/PovcalNet/povDuplicateWB.aspx, accessed: 2022-05-19.
- THE WORLD BANK (2022a). Labor Participation Rate, Female (% of Female Population Ages 15+) (Modeled ILO Estimates) . https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.TLF.CA CT.FE.ZS, accessed: 2022-05-19.
- THE WORLD BANK (2022b). Labor Participation Rate, Female (% of Female Population Ages 15+) (Modeled ILO Estimates Mexico) . https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL. TLF.CACT.FE.ZS?locations=MX, accessed: 2022-05-19.

- THE WORLD BANK (2022c). Regional Aggregation Using 2011 PPP and 1.9 Dollar a Day Poverty Line. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.TLF.TOTL.FE.ZS?locations=ZJ, accessed: 2022-05-20.
- OECD THE ORGANISATION FOR ECONOMIC CO-OPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT (2020). School Education During COVID-19: Were Teachers and Stundents Ready? Available at: https://www.oecd.org/education/Mexico-coronavirus-education-country-note.pdf.
- OECD THE ORGANISATION FOR ECONOMIC CO-OPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT (2021a). Adult Education Level. Available at: https://data.oecd.org/eduatt/adult -education-level.htm.
- OECD THE ORGANISATION FOR ECONOMIC CO-OPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT (2021b). Education at a Glance 2021: OECD Indicators. Available at: https://www.oecd -ilibrary.org/sites/2a39f90d-en/index.html?itemId=/content/component/2a39f90d-en.
- OECD THE ORGANISATION FOR ECONOMIC CO-OPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT (2021c). Education GPS. Available at: https://gpseducation.oecd.org/CountryPro file?primaryCountry=MEX&treshold=10&topic=EO.
- OECD THE ORGANISATION FOR ECONOMIC CO-OPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT (2021d). The Pursuit of Gender Equality: An Uphill Battel. Available at: https://www.oecd.org/mexico/Gender2017-MEX-en.pdf.
- UNICEF THE UNITED NATIONS CHILDREN'S FUND (2019). Child Labour. Available at: https://data.unicef.org/topic/child-protection/child-labour/.
- UNICEF THE UNITED NATIONS CHILDREN'S FUND (2021a). COVID-19 and School Closures. *New York*, available at: https://data.unicef.org/resources/one-year-of-covid-1 9-and-school-closures/.
- UNICEF THE UNITED NATIONS CHILDREN'S FUND (2021b). Pandemic is Pushing Latin America and the Caribbean more off Track in Ending Child Labour. Available at: https://www.unicef.org/lac/en/press-releases/pandemic-pushing-latin-america-and-car ibbean-more-off-track-in-ending-child-labour.
- THOMPSON, P. N. (2021). Is Four Less than Five? Effects of Four-Day School Weeks on Student Achievement in Oregon. *Journal of Public Economics*, **193**, 104308.
- TORIBIO, L. (2019). Tijeretazo a Escuelas de Tiempo Completo; Prevén Quitar 52 por Ciento de Gasto. *Excelsior*, available at: https://www.excelsior.com.mx/nacional/tijereta zo-a-escuelas-de-tiempo-completo-preven-quitar-52-de-gasto/1345890.
- TRIPATHI, S., CHRISTISON, A. L., LEVY, E., MCGRAVERY, J., TEKIN, A., BOLLIGER, D., KUMAR, V. K., BANSAL, V., CHIOTOS, K., GIST, K. M. et al. (2021). The Impact of Obesity on Disease Severity and Outcomes Among Hospitalized Children with COVID-19. Hospital Pediatrics, 11 (11), e297–e316.

- UNESCO (2015). Education for All 2000-2015 Achievements and Challenges. Available at: https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/232205e.pdf.
- U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR (2019). Youth and Labor. Available at: https://www.dol.go v/general/topic/youthlabor.
- VILLEGAS RAYA, D. (2019). Los Abuelos Cuidan a 55% De Los Ninos De Madres Que Trabajan: Inegi. Forbes Mexico, available at: https://www.forbes.com.mx/los-abuelos-cui dan-a-55-de-los-ninos-de-madres-que-trabajan-inegi/.
- YAMAMURA, E. and TSUSTSUI, Y. (2021). The Impact of Closing Schools on Working from Home during the COVID-19 Pandemic: Evidence Using Panel Data from Japan. *Review* of Economics of the Household, **19** (1), 41–60.
- YOSHIKAWA, H., MCCARTNEY, K., MYERS, R., BUB, K. L., LUGO-GIL, J., RAMOS, M. A., KNAUL, F., GAYTAN, F. X., BUITRAGO, C., RINCÓN, C. et al. (2007). Early Childhood Education in Mexico: Expansion, Quality Improvement and Curricular Reform. Innocenti Working Paper IWP-2007-03.